
City of Capitola
Council Meeting Agenda
Mayor: Yvette Brooks

Vice Mayor: Sam Storey

Council Members: Jacques Bertrand 

Margaux Keiser

Kristen Petersen 

TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 23, 2021

REGULAR MEETING - 7 PM

CLOSED SESSION – 6 PM
An announcement regarding the items to be discussed in Closed Session will be made in 
the City Hall Council Chambers prior to the Closed Session.  Members of the public may, at 
this time, address the City Council on closed session items only.  There will be a report of 
any final decisions in City Council Chambers during the Open Session Meeting.

CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – ANTICIPATED LITIGATION 

Initiation of litigation pursuant to Gov’t Code § 54956.9(d)(4).
Two potential cases

REGULAR MEETING OF THE CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL - 7 PM
All correspondences received prior to 5:00 p.m. on the Wednesday preceding a Council 
Meeting will be distributed to Councilmembers to review prior to the meeting.  Information 
submitted after 5 p.m. on that Wednesday may not have time to reach Councilmembers, nor 
be read by them prior to consideration of an item.  All matters listed on the Regular Meeting 
of the Capitola City Council Agenda shall be considered as Public Hearings.

1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
Council Members Kristen Petersen, Jacques Bertrand, Margaux Keiser, Sam Storey, and 
Mayor Yvette Brooks

2. PRESENTATIONS

Presentations are limited to eight minutes.

A. Police Policy Review Presentation

3. REPORT ON CLOSED SESSION

4. ADDITIONAL MATERIALS

Additional information submitted to the City after distribution of the agenda packet.



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA
November 23, 2021

City of Capitola Page 2 Updated 11/19/2021 3:02 PM

5. ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS TO AGENDA

6. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS

Please review the Notice of Remote Access for instructions.
Oral Communications allows time for members of the Public to address the City Council on 
any “Consent Item” on tonight’s agenda, or on any topic within the jurisdiction of the City that 
is not on the “General Government/Public Hearings” section of the Agenda. Members of the 
public may speak for up to three minutes, unless otherwise specified by the Mayor.
Individuals may not speak more than once during Oral Communications. All speakers must 
address the entire legislative body and will not be permitted to engage in dialogue. A 
MAXIMUM of 30 MINUTES is set aside for Oral Communications.

7. STAFF / CITY COUNCIL COMMENTS

City Council Members/Staff may comment on matters of a general nature or identify issues 
for staff response or future council consideration. No individual shall speak for more than 
two minutes.

8. CONSENT ITEMS

All items listed as “Consent Items” will be enacted by one motion in the form listed below.  
There will be no separate discussion on these items prior to the time the Council votes on 
the action unless members of the City Council request specific items to be discussed for 
separate review. Items pulled for separate discussion will be considered following General 
Government. Note that all Ordinances which appear on the public agenda shall be 
determined to have been read by title and further reading waived.

A. Consider the November 10 and November 18 City Council Meeting Minutes
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve minutes.

B. Approval of City Check Registers Dated October 15, October 22, October 29, 
November 5 and November 12.
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve check registers.

C. Settlement Agreement with Noll and Tam Architects and Pacific Gas and Electric
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Direct the City Manager to sign a settlement agreement 
between the City of Capitola, Noll and Tam Architects, and Pacific Gas and Electric 
Company (PG&E).

D. Consider an Ordinance Adding Chapter 9.62 Film Permits to Capitola Municipal 
Code
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Consider adoption, by title only, waiving further reading 
of the text, an ordinance adding Chapter 9.62: Film Permits. 

E. Consider Side Letter to Existing Memoranda of Understanding with Association of 
Capitola Employees Regarding Vacation Cash-Out Provisions
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Authorize the City Manager to execute a side letter 
agreement to existing Memoranda of Understanding (MOU) with the Association of 
Capitola Employees (ACE).

F. Receive Update on Pandemic Response
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Make the determination that all hazards related to the 



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA
November 23, 2021

City of Capitola Page 3 Updated 11/19/2021 3:02 PM

worldwide spread of the coronavirus (COVID-19) as detailed in Resolution No. 4168 
adopted by the City Council on March 12, 2020, still exist and that there is a need to 
continue action.

9. GENERAL GOVERNMENT / PUBLIC HEARINGS

All items listed in “General Government” are intended to provide an opportunity for public 
discussion of each item listed. The following procedure pertains to each General 
Government item:  1) Staff explanation; 2) Council questions; 3) Public comment; 4) Council 
deliberation; 5) Decision.

A. Outdoor Dining Ordinance
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

1. Consider Planning Commission recommendations regarding the draft outdoor dining 
ordinance and either: 

a. Provide direction on the draft ordinance and consider schedule for a first 
reading and adoption, or

b. Introduce by title only, waiving further reading of the text, an ordinance of the 
City Council of the City of Capitola repealing and replacing Municipal Code 
Sections 17.96.170 and amending Municipal Code Section 17.120.030, 
related to outdoor dining in the public right of way

2. Consider options to extend, terminate, or modify the temporary outdoor dining 
program, currently scheduled to end on January 3, 2022. 

B. Mandatory Organics Waste Disposal Reduction Ordinance
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Introduce for first reading, by title only, waiving further 
reading of the text, an ordinance repealing Capitola Municipal Code Chapter 8.04: 
Garbage and enacting Chapter 8.04: Solid Waste and Edible Food Recovery.

C. New State of California Housing Legislation and Community Development 
Department Housing Workplan
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Accept staff presentation on recent housing legislation 
and the Community Development Department’s workplan. 

10. ADJOURNMENT

NOTICE OF REMOTE ACCESS
In accordance with California Senate Bill 361, the City Council meeting is not physically open to 
the public and in person attendance cannot be accommodated. 

To watch:
• Online http://capitolaca.iqm2.com/Citizens/Default.aspx
• Spectrum Cable Television channel 8

To join Zoom:
• Join the Zoom Meeting by clicking the following link: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82745313264?pwd=UDNzblU2cFA4aVZudTRCOW5ieGdvQT09
If prompted for a passcode, enter 654418

• -OR- With a landline or mobile phone, call one of the following numbers:
o 1 669 900 6833

1 408 638 0968
1 346 248 7799

• Enter the meeting ID number: 827 4531 3264



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA
November 23, 2021

City of Capitola Page 4 Updated 11/19/2021 3:02 PM

• When prompted for a Participant ID, press #

To submit public comment: 
When submitting public comment, one comment (via phone or email, not both), per person, per 
item is allowed. If you send more than one email about the same item, the last received will be 
read. 

• Zoom Meeting (Via Computer or Phone) Link:
o IF USING COMPUTER: 

§ Use participant option to “raise hand” during the public comment period 
for the item you wish to speak on. Once unmuted, you will have up to 3 
minutes to speak

o IF CALLED IN OVER THE PHONE: 
§ Press *9 on your phone to “raise your hand” when the mayor calls for 

public comment. Once unmuted, you will have up to 3 minutes to speak
• Send Email: 

o During the meeting, send comments via email to 
publiccomment@ci.capitola.ca.us  
§ Emailed comments on items will be accepted after the start of the 

meeting until the Mayor announces that public comment for that item is 
closed.

§ Emailed comments should be a maximum of 450 words, which 
corresponds to approximately 3 minutes of speaking time.

§ Each emailed comment will be read aloud for up to three minutes and/or 
displayed on a screen.

§ Emails received by publiccomment@ci.capitola.ca.us outside of the 
comment period outlined above will not be included in the record.

Note: Any person seeking to challenge a City Council decision made as a result of a proceeding in 
which, by law, a hearing is required to be given, evidence is required to be taken, and the discretion in 
the determination of facts is vested in the City Council, shall be required to commence that court action 
within ninety (90) days following the date on which the decision becomes final as provided in Code of 
Civil Procedure §1094.6. Please refer to code of Civil Procedure §1094.6 to determine how to calculate 
when a decision becomes “final.” Please be advised that in most instances the decision become “final” 
upon the City Council’s announcement of its decision at the completion of the public hearing. Failure to 
comply with this 90-day rule will preclude any person from challenging the City Council decision in 
court.

Notice regarding City Council: The City Council meets on the 2nd and 4th Thursday of each month 
at 7:00 p.m. (or in no event earlier than 6:00 p.m.), in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 420 
Capitola Avenue, Capitola.

Agenda and Agenda Packet Materials: The City Council Agenda and the complete Agenda Packet 
are available for review on the City’s website: www.cityofcapitola.org and at Capitola City Hall prior to 
the meeting. Agendas are also available at the Capitola Post Office located at 826 Bay Avenue, 
Capitola. Need more information? Contact the City Clerk’s office at 831-475-7300.

Agenda Materials Distributed after Distribution of the Agenda Packet: Pursuant to Government 
Code §54957.5, materials related to an agenda item submitted after distribution of the agenda packet 
are available for public inspection at the Reception Office at City Hall, 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola, 
California, during normal business hours.

Americans with Disabilities Act: Disability-related aids or services are available to enable persons 
with a disability to participate in this meeting consistent with the Federal Americans with Disabilities Act 



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA
November 23, 2021

City of Capitola Page 5 Updated 11/19/2021 3:02 PM

of 1990. Assisted listening devices are available for individuals with hearing impairments at the meeting 
in the City Council Chambers. Should you require special accommodations to participate in the meeting 
due to a disability, please contact the City Clerk’s office at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting at 
831-475-7300. In an effort to accommodate individuals with environmental sensitivities, attendees are 
requested to refrain from wearing perfumes and other scented products.

Televised Meetings: City Council meetings are cablecast “Live” on Charter Communications Cable TV 
Channel 8 and are recorded to be rebroadcasted at 8:00 a.m. on the Wednesday following the 
meetings and at 1:00 p.m. on Saturday following the first rebroadcast on Community Television of 
Santa Cruz County (Charter Channel 71 and Comcast Channel 25). Meetings are streamed “Live” on 
the City’s website at www.cityofcapitola.org by clicking on the Home Page link “Meeting 
Agendas/Videos.” Archived meetings can be viewed from the website at any time.



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
AGENDA REPORT

MEETING OF NOVEMBER 23, 2021

FROM: Capitola Police Department

SUBJECT: Police Policy Review Presentation

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: Chief of Police Andrew Dally will present the 2021 Criminal 
Justice Council’s Santa Cruz County Regional Public Safety Agency Policy Review and 
Analysis report (Attachment 1). He will also introduce the formation of the Chief’s Advisory 
Board, a committee established to enhance communication between the community and the 
Capitola Police Department. 

ATTACHMENTS:

1. CJC_FINAL_111821

Report Prepared By:  Andrew Dally
Police Captain

Reviewed and Forwarded by:

2.A

Packet Pg. 6



Criminal Justice 
Council Report 
2021
SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL 
PUBLIC SAFETY AGENCY POLICY 
REVIEW AND ANALYSIS

2.A.a

Packet Pg. 7

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

JC
_F

IN
A

L
_1

11
82

1 
 (

C
JC

 R
ep

o
rt

)



Law enforcement policies provide the 
foundation – the rules and standards - by which 
agencies operate. Good policies go beyond this 
foundation and provide a framework for officer 
decision making in critical situations and build 
transparency and trust within the community.  
This report provides a comparative snapshot 
of key policies and procedures in Santa Cruz 
County law enforcement agencies. 

The purpose is to see where there is alignment, 
where there are gaps and where there are 
opportunities to improve. It is not a comprehensive 
look at local agency policies but provides a 
transparent overview of the policies that work to 
ensure officers respond safely and responsibly in 
key situations. While the purpose was to evaluate 
alignment of policies, the goal is not to necessarily 
have a standardized set of policies across 
jurisdictions. Local agencies and the communities 
they serve may have reasons why they have 
specific policies, don’t have specific policies or 
have policies that differ from other agencies within 
the county. This analysis is to provide a transparent 
look at those policies and provide a starting point 
for evaluation by local law enforcement, elected 
leaders and the communities they serve. All local 
agencies participated voluntarily, openly, and 
transparently with the Criminal Justice Council  
to provide this information.

  There is widespread policy 
alignment between law 
enforcement jurisdictions in 
Santa Cruz County. 

  On nearly every policy issue 
regarding use of force, 
technological deployment and 
release of information to the 
public, local law enforcement 
agencies had updated and 
modern policies 

  Among the jurisdictions that 
don’t already have a dedicated 
unit with sworn officers 
responding to behavioral/
mental health calls, 100% are 
supportive of the creation of an 
independent agency that would 
respond to these calls. 

   Santa Cruz County is believed 
to be the first to conduct this 
type of public and transparent 
regional law enforcement policy 
review in the United States.

CJC REPORT 2021

KEY TAKEAWAYS

SURVEY DEVELOPMENT AND METHODOLOGY
In light of national discussions regarding police policies and procedures, the Criminal 
Justice Council (CJC) embarked on an effort to review the policies pertaining to use of force, 
technology, independent oversight, behavioral health response and community transparency. 
The effort was led by CJC Chair, and Santa Cruz County Supervisor, Zach Friend and Santa Cruz 
City Council member Justin Cummings. The CJC created an ad hoc working group from within 
the general membership to oversee the creation of a survey that was sent in the Spring of 2021 
to the Chiefs of Santa Cruz, Scotts Valley, Capitola, Watsonville and the SC Santa Cruz County 
Sheriff. In Summer of 2021, the CJC engaged Applied Survey Research (ASR) to assist with data 
analysis, compiling findings and data visualization. Every local law enforcement agency openly 
and transparently participated in the process and worked actively with the CJC and ASR to 
provide policies relevant to the analysis and answer any questions necessary. This report is the 
result of these efforts.

2.A.a

Packet Pg. 8

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

JC
_F

IN
A

L
_1

11
82

1 
 (

C
JC

 R
ep

o
rt

)



Of the law enforcement agencies 
surveyed have a policy that:

100%

Law enforcement policies provide the foundation – the rules and standards - by which agencies 
operate. Good policies go beyond this foundation and provide a framework for officer decision 
making in critical situations and build transparency and trust within the community. The following 
provides a comparative snapshot of key policies and procedures in Santa Cruz County law 
enforcement agencies.

3 | 2021 SCC Regional Public Safety Agency Policy Review and Analysis

Policy that requires 
less lethal force 
options prior 
to resorting to 
deadly force when 
reasonable or safe 
to do so

Policy requiring 
a warning before 
deploying lethal 
force when 
reasonable  
or safe to do so

Does your 
policy identify 
the display of 
a weapon as a  
use of force

100% 100% 80%

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY REGIONAL PUBLIC SAFETY  
AGENCY POLICY REVIEW AND ANALYSIS

Bans choke 
holds, neck 
restraints, and/or 
carotid restraints

Bans shooting at 
or from a moving 
vehicle under most 
circumstances

Requires duty 
to intervene

Requires their  
officers to use  
DE-ESCALATION Does your department 

report out on complaints 
against police personnel 
to elected officials,  
to the community,  
or both?

BOTH ELECTED OFFICIALS 
AND THE COMMUNITY

NONE OF THE ABOVE

80%

20%

Of the law enforcement 
agencies surveyed use 

“Preponderance of Evidence” 
as the level of evidence needed 

to sustain a complaint  
against an officer.

100%

YES

NO

80%

20%

Does your 
department 
report out  
on use of 
force?

n=represents 5 jurisdictions (Capitola PC, Santa Cruz PD, Watsonville PD, Scotts Valley PD, Sheriff’s Department)

2.A.a

Packet Pg. 9

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

JC
_F

IN
A

L
_1

11
82

1 
 (

C
JC

 R
ep

o
rt

)



Does your agency 
publish public records 

act requests?

Does your agency release 
officer involved shooting 

body camera footage?

Does your agency require 
implicit bias training?

100% 100%60%
YES YESYES

Does your agency 
recieve equipment 
through the federal 
1033 program?

Does your 
department 
currently use 
predictive 
policing 
technology?

Does your 
department 
currently 
use facial 
recognition 
technology?

Does your 
department 
currently have 
policy related to the 
acquisition and 
use of technology 
for the purposes of 
surveillance and/or 
law enforcement?

100%

100%

100%

NO

NO

NO

80%
YES

NO
20%

Does your agency 
have an independent 
auditor? The 
independent 
auditor is defined 
as someone outside 
of your agency 
who reviews all 
complaints against 
officers/deputies

If your agency 
does not have 
an independent 
auditor, does it 
have any other type 
of independent 
oversight? (*Note: if 
this question does 
not apply please 
select N/A)

INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR

OTHER
INDEPENDENT

OVERSIGHT

YES

YES

NO

NO

60%

80%

40%

20%

Do not do  
no-knock warrants

Policy that limits 
dynamic entry

100% 100%

n=represents 5 jurisdictions (Capitola PC, Santa Cruz PD, Watsonville PD, Scotts Valley PD, Sheriff’s Department)

4 | 2021 SCC Regional Public Safety Agency Policy Review and Analysis

2.A.a

Packet Pg. 10

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

JC
_F

IN
A

L
_1

11
82

1 
 (

C
JC

 R
ep

o
rt

)



DOES YOUR JURISDICTION 
HAVE A POLICY ABOUT... CPD SHERIFF SCPD SVPD WPD

DE-ESCALATION

BAN OF CHOKE HOLDS, NECK RESTRAINTS, 
AND/OR CAROTID RESTRAINTS

BAN OF NO-KNOCK WARRANTS

LIMIT TO DYNAMIC ENTRY

BAN SHOOTING AT OR FROM A MOVING 
VEHICLE UNDER MOST CIRCUMSTANCES

DUTY TO INTERVENE

REQUIRE LESS LETHAL FORCE OPTION PRIOR 
TO RESORTING TO DEADLY FORCE WHEN 
REASONABLE OR SAFE TO DO SO

WARNING BEFORE DEPLOYING LETHAL FORCE 
WHEN REASONABLE OR SAFE TO DO SO

DISPLAY OF WEAPON AS A USE OF FORCE

ACQUISITION AND USE OF TECHNOLOGY FOR 
THE PURPOSES OF SURVEILLANCE AND/OR LE

UNLAWFUL FOR MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC TO 
MAKE DISCRIMINATORY CALLS OR REPORTS 
BASED ON A PROTECTED STATUS*

Would your jurisdiction be willing to consider 
developing and adopting such policies? yes MAyBe MAyBe

*race, color, ancestry, ethnicity, national origin, place of birth, sex. age, religion, creed, disability, sexual orientation, gender idenitity, weight or height.

yes no

Policy language has strong similarity 
to  at least one other jurisdiction

May be some agreement/similarity  
but language is different or unknown

No similarity to  
other jurisdictions

COLOR
KEY

POLICY ALIGNMENT ACROSS JURISDICTIONS

5 | 2021 SCC Regional Public Safety Agency Policy Review and Analysis

2.A.a

Packet Pg. 11

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

JC
_F

IN
A

L
_1

11
82

1 
 (

C
JC

 R
ep

o
rt

)



DOES YOUR JURISDICTION... CPD SHERIFF SCPD SVPD WPD

USE A USE OF FORCE MATRIX OR CONTINUUM?

PUBLISH PUBLIC RECORDS ACT REQUESTS?

RELEASE OFFICER INVOLVED SHOOTING BODY 
CAM FOOTAGE?

HAVE AN INDEPENDENT AUDITOR?

HAVE ANY TYPE OF  
INDEPENDENT OVERSIGHT?

REQUIRE/PROVIDE IMPLICIT BIAS TRAINING?

USE “PREPONDERANCE OF EVIDENCE” AS THE 
LEVEL OF EVIDENCE NEEDED TO SUSTAIN A 
COMPLAINT AGAINST AN OFFICER

REPORT OUT COMPLAINTS AGAINST POLICE 
PERSONNEL TO ELECTED AND/OR COMMUNITY

RECEIVE EQUIPMENT THROUGH 1033 PROGRAM?

REPORT ON USE OF FORCE?

USE PREDICTIVE POLICING TECHNOLOGY?

USE FACIAL RECOGNITION TECHNOLOGY?

ADOPT OBAMA’S 21ST CENTURY POLICING?

MENTAL HEALTH CRISIS UNIT CPD SHERIFF SCPD SVPD WPD

DOES YOUR AGENCY HAVE A DEDICATED UNIT  
OR STAFF THAT RESPONDS TO BH/MH CALLS?

IF YES ARE THESE INDIVIDUALS SWORN  
OR NON-SWORN

WOULD YOUR AGENCY BENEFIT FROM THE 
CREATION OF AN INDEPENDENT AGENCY THAT 
RESPONDS TO BH/MH CALLS?

WOULD YOUR AGENCY BE SUPPORTIVE OF THE 
CREATION OF THIS NEW UNIT

N/A

yes yes yes yesNeUTRAL

N/ABOTH
NON-

sWORN
NON-

sWORN

yes no

6 | 2021 SCC Regional Public Safety Agency Policy Review and Analysis

2.A.a

Packet Pg. 12

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

JC
_F

IN
A

L
_1

11
82

1 
 (

C
JC

 R
ep

o
rt

)



The Criminal Justice Council 
of Santa Cruz County (CJC) 

was created over thirty years 
ago in an effort to provide a 

more effective criminal justice 
system for the residents of Santa 

Cruz County. The all-volunteer 
membership works to:

  increase coordination and cooperation 
between criminal justice partners - 
government, non-profit, educational  
and others

 to reduce youth involvement in gangs

  to provide a forum for discussion and 
development of recommendations for 
strategies related to solutions to crime  
and violence locally

   provide long-range planning for the 
criminal justice system – with a focus on 
addressing countywide gang prevention 
and intervention

    provide timeline information on criminal 
justice matters and act as an advisory body 
to public entities in Santa Cruz County

MEMBERSHIP AND PROCEDURES
The CJC has a diverse membership that includes community leaders and subject matter 
experts from throughout the county.  The membership includes local elected leaders 
from the Board of Supervisors and local City Councils, all of the Chiefs of Police and 
the Sheriff, the District Attorney and Chief Probation Officer, the Public Defender, the 
County Superintendent of Schools, the President of Cabrillo College, the Superior Court, 
the County Behavioral Health Director and local non-profit leaders. The CJC meets 
quarterly and these meetings are open to the public. More information about meetings 
and the CJC can be found on the CJC’s website.
www.santacruzcjc.org

2.A.a

Packet Pg. 13

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

JC
_F

IN
A

L
_1

11
82

1 
 (

C
JC

 R
ep

o
rt

)



CRIMINAL JUSTICE COUNCIL 
OF SANTA CRUZ
www.santacruzcjc.org

2.A.a

Packet Pg. 14

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

JC
_F

IN
A

L
_1

11
82

1 
 (

C
JC

 R
ep

o
rt

)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
AGENDA REPORT

MEETING OF NOVEMBER 23, 2021

FROM: City Manager Department

SUBJECT: Consider the November 10 and November 18 City Council Meeting Minutes

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve minutes.

DISCUSSION: Attached for Council review and approval are the minutes from the regular City 
Council meeting held on November 10 and the special City Council meeting held on November 
18, 2021.

ATTACHMENTS:

1. 11-10-21 draft
2. 11-18-21 special draft

Report Prepared By:  Chloe Woodmansee
City Clerk

Reviewed and Forwarded by:

8.A

Packet Pg. 15



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
WEDNESDAY, NOVEMBER 10, 2021 - 7 PM 

 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL - 7 PM 

 1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
Council Member Jacques Bertrand: Remote, Council Member Kristen Petersen: Remote, Vice Mayor 
Sam Storey: Remote, Mayor Yvette Brooks: Remote, Council Member Margaux Keiser: Remote. 

 2. PRESENTATIONS 

A. Proclamation Honoring Retiring Police Chief Terry McManus 
 
Mayor Brooks, Vice Mayor Storey, and City Manager Goldstein presented a proclamation 
honoring retiring Police Chief McManus. Council thanked Chief McManus for his excellent work 
the past five years.  

B. Presentation Regarding the Cabrillo College Local Government Fellows Program 
 
Arne Croce, Gail Pellerin, Eileen Hill, and Matt Lipstien thanked Council for the recent 
contribution the Local Government Fellows Program. They explained that the program is 
designed to encourage young adult involvement in local government.   

 3. ADDITIONAL MATERIALS 

A. Item 8.A – one public comment email  

B. Item 8.C - five staff provided supporting documents 

 4. ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS TO AGENDA – none  

 5. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS – none  

 6. STAFF / CITY COUNCIL COMMENTS 

 
City Manager Goldstein announced that previously scheduled implicit bias training was moved to late 
2021 and early 2022 due to a cancellation from the training company.  

 7. CONSENT ITEMS 

MOTION: APPROVE, AUTHORIZE, DETERMINE, AND ADOPT AS RECOMMENDED 

RESULT: ADOPTED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Jacques Bertrand 

SECONDER: Kristen Petersen 

AYES: Bertrand, Petersen, Storey, Brooks, Keiser 

A. Consider the October 28, 2021, City Council Meeting Minutes 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve minutes. 

8.A.1

Packet Pg. 16

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

1-
10

-2
1 

d
ra

ft
  (

A
p

p
ro

ve
 C

o
u

n
ci

l M
in

u
te

s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
November 10, 2021 

City of Capitola Page 2 Updated 11/16/2021 10:37 AM 

B. Consider Contracts for a Planning Consultant and Economic Consultant for Review 
of a Hill St. Hotel Project 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Authorize the City Manager to award a $25,000 contract 
to JHS Consulting and a $49,600 contract to Dudek/Kimley Horn to establish the 

City’s technical team to review the application for a new hotel at 720 Hill Street.  

C. Holiday Suspension of Village Parking Fees 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Authorize suspending parking meter and pay station 
operation to allow free three-hour parking in the Village Parking Meter Zone A (1) 
from November 24, 2021, through December 25, 2021. 

D. Receive Update on Pandemic Response and Adopt Resolution Regarding 
Continuing Teleconferencing 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 1) Make the determination that all hazards related to the 
worldwide spread of the coronavirus (COVID-19) as detailed in Resolution No. 4168 
adopted by the City Council on March 12, 2020, still exist and that there is a need to 
continue action; and 2) adopt the proposed resolution authorizing the Capitola City 
Council (along with the Planning Commission and all advisory bodies) to continue to 
conduct teleconferencing meetings.    

 8. GENERAL GOVERNMENT / PUBLIC HEARINGS 

A. Receive Status Report on Temporary Outdoor Dining Program 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Receive report.  

 
Council Member Keiser was recused due to financial interest.  
 
Public Works Director Jesberg gave a brief status report on the temporary outdoor dining 
program.  
 
Council Member Bertrand commented that there is not much use of the outdoor dining areas. 
Director Jesberg responded that several restaurants along the Esplanade have their own decks 
facing the ocean and explained that there are no longer social-distancing or capacity limitations 
on restaurant use.   
 
In public comment, one email supported continuing the outdoor dining program. Three emails 
were against a permanent outdoor dining program. Linda Smith spoke in favor of a permanent 
outdoor dining program.  
 
In response to a question from Council Member Bertrand, Director Jesberg said that the City will 
receive proposals for prototype designs next week. He also commented that music is prohibited 
in the temporary outdoor dining spaces.   
 
Vice Mayor Storey asked that when staff reports on the permanent outdoor dining program on 
November 23, please include information on the impacts of reducing outdoor dining spaces from 
the current 32 to the proposed 25 allowed.  
 
Council Member Bertrand announced concern that the current spaces are not being used and 
said any future fees should reflect that the spaces are not being used for dining and could instead 
be used for parking.  
 
Mayor Brooks emphasized the need to hear directly from business owners to assess what they 
want, if anything, from an outdoor dining program.  

8.A.1

Packet Pg. 17

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

1-
10

-2
1 

d
ra

ft
  (

A
p

p
ro

ve
 C

o
u

n
ci

l M
in

u
te

s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
November 10, 2021 

City of Capitola Page 3 Updated 11/16/2021 10:37 AM 

 
City Manager Goldstein explained that at the hearing on November 23, Council can review the 
proposed permanent outdoor dining program as well as reflect on the temporary program, if they 
so desire.  

 

RESULT: RECEIVED REPORT 

B. Special Event Highlights and Issues for 2021[1050-70] 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Provide direction regarding changes to specific recurring 
special event permit conditions, determine if any additional review should be required 
for any planned 2022 special events, and authorize staff to treat the listed events as 

“recurring” for 2022. 

 
Police Captain Dally went over the 2021 special events.  
 
Vice Mayor Storey confirmed that Capitola Plein Air is not on the list because the event itself does 
not require a special event permit. Council Member Petersen did the same for the Business 
Improvement Area Cookie Walk.  
 
Mayor Brooks confirmed that should a large, Major Special Event be proposed in 2022 it would 
come before Council for review and approval.  
 
There was no public comment.  

 

MOTION:  AUTHORIZE STAFF TO TREAT EVENTS LISTED IN REPORT AS 
RECURRING IN 2022 

RESULT: ADOPTED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Jacques Bertrand 

SECONDER: Margaux Keiser 

AYES: Bertrand, Petersen, Storey, Brooks, Keiser 

C. Consider Approval of Side Letter to Existing Memoranda of Understanding with 
Employee Groups Regarding Vacation Cash-Out Provisions. 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  

1. Authorize the City Manager to execute the side letter agreements to existing Memoranda 
of Understanding (MOU) with changes to the:  

a. Capitola Police Officers Association (CPOA) 
b. Mid-Management Employee Bargaining Unit 
c. Confidential Employee Bargaining Unit 

2. Approve changes to the Management Compensation Plan 
3. Approve changes to City Manager Employee Contract 

 
Assistant to the City Manager Laurent presented a brief staff report.  
 
There was no public comment.  

 

8.A.1

Packet Pg. 18

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

1-
10

-2
1 

d
ra

ft
  (

A
p

p
ro

ve
 C

o
u

n
ci

l M
in

u
te

s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
November 10, 2021 

City of Capitola Page 4 Updated 11/16/2021 10:37 AM 

MOTION: AUTHORIZE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE SIDE LETTER 
AGREEMENTS TO EXISTING MOUs TO 1) CAPITOLA POLICE 
OFFICERS ASSOCIATION 2) MID-MANAGEMENT EMPLOYEE 
BARGAINING UNIT AND 3) CONFIDENTIAL EMPLOYEE BARGAINING 
UNIT 

RESULT: ADOPTED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Margaux Keiser 

SECONDER: Kristen Petersen 

AYES: Bertrand, Petersen, Storey, Brooks, Keiser 

 

MOTION: APPROVE CHANGES TO MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION PLAN 

RESULT: ADOPTED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Kristen Petersen 

SECONDER: Sam Storey  

AYES: Bertrand, Petersen, Storey, Brooks, Keiser 

 

MOTION: APPROVE CHANCES TO CITY MANAGER EMPLOYEE CONTRACT  

RESULT: ADOPTED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Margaux Keiser, Council Member 

SECONDER: Sam Storey  

AYES: Bertrand, Petersen, Storey, Brooks, Keiser 

D. City Council Memberships FY 2021-22 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Provide direction regarding potential changes in City 
memberships to local/regional groups. 

 
Finance Director Malberg presented a staff report.  
 
Vice Mayor Storey asked about benefits of rejoining Monterey Bay Economic Project (MBEP), 
Mayor Brooks said having attended past meetings the group provides well researched reports 
and useful information that has benefited the City.   
 
Council Member Keiser asked the difference between providing grant funding to a group and 
joining a group via membership. City Manager Goldstein explained that membership allows 
networking and conference attendance, as well as a partnership rather than only financial 
support.   
 
There was no public comment. 
 
Council Member Petersen asked that Council join the National League of Cities for a trial period 
of one year, to assess membership benefits.  

 

8.A.1

Packet Pg. 19

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

1-
10

-2
1 

d
ra

ft
  (

A
p

p
ro

ve
 C

o
u

n
ci

l M
in

u
te

s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
November 10, 2021 

City of Capitola Page 5 Updated 11/16/2021 10:37 AM 

MOTION: RENEW MEMBERSHIP WITH MONTEREY BAY ECONOMIC 
PARTNERSHIP AND JOIN NATIONAL LEAGUE OF CITIES FOR A TRIAL 
PERIOD OF ONE YEAR 

RESULT: ADOPTED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Sam Storey 

SECONDER: Kristen Petersen 

AYES: Bertrand, Petersen, Storey, Brooks, Keiser 

 9. ADJOURNMENT 
 
The meeting was closed at 9:47 pm to the next regular City Council meeting on Tuesday, November 
23, 2021. 

 

   _____________________ 
    Yvette Brooks, Mayor 
ATTEST: 

 

 

______________________ 
Chloé Woodmansee, City Clerk 

8.A.1

Packet Pg. 20

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

1-
10

-2
1 

d
ra

ft
  (

A
p

p
ro

ve
 C

o
u

n
ci

l M
in

u
te

s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 

DRAFT SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 
THURSDAY, NOVEMBER 18, 2021 - 7 PM 

  SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 

 1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
Council Member Jacques Bertrand: Remote, Council Member Kristen Petersen: Remote, Vice Mayor 
Sam Storey: Remote, Mayor Yvette Brooks: Remote, Council Member Margaux Keiser: Absent. 

 2. ADDITIONAL MATERIALS – none  

 3. ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS TO THE AGENDA – none  

 4. STAFF / CITY COUNCIL COMMENTS 

 City Manager Goldstein announced that Santa Cruz County Public Health Agency is likely to release 

an additional masking mandate on November 19, 2021.  

 Vice-Mayor Storey encouraged the public to provide feedback to the Santa Cruz County Regional 

Transportation Commission during their Environmental Impact Report preparation regarding Rail 

Segments 10 and 11, with 11 including Capitola.  

 5. GENERAL GOVERNMENT / PUBLIC HEARINGS 

A. Opposition to California Redistricting Commission Proposed Assembly Redistricting 
Map 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Authorize the Mayor to sign a letter to the California 
Redistricting Commission to keep the Monterey Bay region in a single Assembly 
District.  

 
City Manager Goldstein presented a short staff report.  
 
There was no public comment.  

 

MOTION: AUTHORIZE THE MAYOR TO SIGN A LETTER TO THE CALIFORNIA 
REDISTRICTING COMMISSION TO KEEP THE MONTEREY BAY REGION IN 
A SINGLE ASSEMBLY DISTRICT 

RESULT: ADOPTED [4 to 0] 

MOVER: Kristen Petersen 

SECONDER: Jacques Bertrand 

AYES: Bertrand, Petersen, Storey, Brooks 

ABSENT: Keiser  

 6. ADJOURNMENT 
 The meeting was closed at 7:12PM to the next regular City Council meeting on November 23, 2021.  

 

8.A.2

Packet Pg. 21

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

1-
18

-2
1 

sp
ec

ia
l d

ra
ft

  (
A

p
p

ro
ve

 C
o

u
n

ci
l M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 
November 18, 2021 

City of Capitola Page 2 Updated 11/19/2021 11:24 AM 

   _____________________ 
    Yvette Brooks, Mayor 
ATTEST: 

 

 

______________________ 
Chloé Woodmansee, City Clerk 

8.A.2

Packet Pg. 22

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

1-
18

-2
1 

sp
ec

ia
l d

ra
ft

  (
A

p
p

ro
ve

 C
o

u
n

ci
l M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
AGENDA REPORT

MEETING OF NOVEMBER 23, 2021

FROM: Finance Department

SUBJECT: Approval of City Check Registers Dated October 15, October 22, October 29, 
November 5 and November 12.

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve check registers.

Account: City Main

Date Starting Check # Ending Check #
Payment 

Count
Amount

10/15/2021 99023 99090 74 $       374,768.63

10/22/2021 99091 99106 16 $         49,011.97

10/29/2021 99107 99198 98 $       413,288.86

11/5/2021 99199 99238 43 $         96,024.59

11/12/2021 99239 99310 78 $       218,059.17

The main account check register dated October 8, 2021, ended with check #99022.

Account: Library

Date
Starting 

Check/EFT #
Ending 

Check/EFT #
Payment 

Count
Amount

10/29/2021 292 293 2 $       452,633.34

11/5/2021 294 294 1 $           1,140.00

The library account check register dated October 8, 2021, ended with check #291.

Account: Payroll

Date
Starting 

Check/EFT #
Ending 

Check/EFT #
Payment 

Count
Amount

10/22/2021 18062 18146 85 $       168,284.20

11/5/2021 18147 18235 89 $       167,300.99

11/12/2021 5752 5753 2 $         19,249.69

The payroll account check register dated October 8, 2021, ended with EFT #18061. 

Following is a list of payments issued for more than $10,000 and descriptions of the expenditures:

Check/
EFT

Issued to Dept Description Amount

99030 Burke Williams & CM Legal services $   45,024.50

8.B

Packet Pg. 23



Approval of City Check Registers 
November 23, 2021

Sorensen

99067
Santa Cruz County 
Auditor-Controller

PD September citation processing $   13,524.00

99069 Santa Cruz Regional 911 PD
Regional 911 operating costs, 

SCRMS, debt service
$ 156,902.75

1217
CalPERS Member 

Services
CM

PERS contributions PPE 
10/2/21

$   54,367.79

1219 IRS FN
Federal taxes & Medicare PPE 

10/2/21
$   29,092.63

1221 VOYA FN
Employee 457 contributions 

PPE 10/2/21
$   11,571.88

99103 PG&E PW October gas & electricity $   14,158.35

99104
Soquel Creek Water 

District
PW Water service $   12,817.24

99127 City of Santa Cruz PD May – Sept. lifeguard services $   91,119.00

99129 Community Action Board CD
Rental assistance, operating 

costs
$   25,220.06

99131 Donald Alley PW Soquel lagoon monitoring $   12,920.44

99164
Santa Cruz County Anti-

Crime Team
PD Operation costs $   17,993.00

99180 Visit Santa Cruz County FN
Quarterly tourism marketing 

district
$   59,674.03

1223
CalPERS Member 

Services
CM

PERS contributions PPE 
10/16/21

$   55,938.50

1225 IRS FN
Federal tax & Medicare PPE 

10/16/21
$   29,823.06

292 John Otto Inc. Escrow PW Library construction retainer $   13,579.00

293 Otto Construction Inc. PW Library construction $ 439,054.34

1230 CalPERS Health CM November health insurance $   49,893.59

99285
Santa Cruz County 
Auditor-Controller

PD October citation processing $   13,811.00

99286 Santa Cruz County DPW CM
Household hazardous waste 

program
$   17,354.00

99292
Soquel Creek Water 

District
PW Water service $   10,239.74

1231
CalPERS Member 

Services
CM

PERS contributions PPE 
10/30/21

$   55,795.11

1233 IRS CM
Federal taxes & Medicare PPE 

10/30/21
$   29,252.87

ATTACHMENTS:

1. 10-15-21 Check Register
2. 10-22-21 Check Register
3. 10-29-21 Check Register
4. 11-5-21 Check Register
5. 11-12-21 Check Register

8.B

Packet Pg. 24



Approval of City Check Registers 
November 23, 2021

Report Prepared By:  Mark Sullivan
Senior Accountant

Reviewed and Forwarded by:

8.B

Packet Pg. 25



8.B.1

Packet Pg. 26

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

0-
15

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

99023 10/15/2021 $344.93

Invoice Date Amount

11775503 10/07/2021 $344.93

99024 10/15/2021 $9.98

Invoice Date Amount

52961 09/21/2021 $9.98

99025 10/15/2021 $25.67

Invoice Date Amount

1XRJ-PDCP-L6LW 10/07/2021 $37.64

1PX6-TMG1-G4Q4 10/13/2021 ($37.64)

1C79-QFYK-P9YH 10/13/2021 $25.67

99026 10/15/2021 $9.20

Invoice Date Amount

ATT100121 10/01/2021 $9.20

1000 - General Fund             $4.53

2211 - IT Fund                      $4.67

99027 10/15/2021 $1,113.00

Invoice Date Amount

13888 09/28/2021 $466.20

13889 09/28/2021 $646.80

1310 - Gas Tax

99028 10/15/2021 $368.00

Invoice Date Amount

10366781 10/02/2021 $368.00

99029 10/15/2021 $36.00

Invoice Date Amount

85336 09/21/2021 $36.00

99030 10/15/2021 $45,024.50

Invoice Date Amount

274859 09/30/2021 $1,950.50

274860 09/30/2021 $12,168.00

274861 09/30/2021 $442.00

274857 09/30/2021 $2,600.00

274854 09/30/2021 $1,300.00

274855 09/30/2021 $25,480.00

274856 09/30/2021 $286.00

274858 09/30/2021 $798.00

ALLIED UNIVERSAL

Description

City of Capitola

City Checks Issued October 15, 2021

Dish soap, sponges, forks

Returned dish soap, silverware set, sponges

Silverware set, dish soap

Keys

AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES

Description

October Jade St. foot patrol

ALLSAFE LOCK COMPANY

Description

Sept. traffic signal maintenance - routine

BMI

Description

BEAR ELECTRICAL SOLUTIONS INC.

Description

Sept. traffic signal maintenance - response

AT&T

Description

October long distance charges

COVID-19 legal services

August legal services

SB grant money legal services

Locker tags

BURKE WILLIAMS AND SORENSEN LLP

Description

Annual music licensing

BRINKS AWARDS & SIGNS

Description

August code enforcement

Labor negotiations

Planning legal services

Labor and employment legal services

August city attorney services

Pages: 1 of 9 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 27

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

0-
15

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City of Capitola

City Checks Issued October 15, 2021

99031 10/15/2021 $1,829.00

Invoice Date Amount

165915 09/24/2021 $1,829.00

99032 10/15/2021 $427.95

Invoice Date Amount

8914 09/15/2021 $193.00

8802 07/16/2021 $207.75

8915 09/15/2021 $27.20

99033 10/15/2021 $1,329.00

Invoice Date Amount

POA100221 10/08/2021 $1,329.00

1001 - Payroll

99034 10/15/2021 $400.00

Invoice Date Amount

85702 10/01/2021 $400.00

2211 - IT Fund

99035 10/15/2021 $269.50

Invoice Date Amount

CSW093021 09/30/2021 $269.50

99036 10/15/2021 $2,652.54

Invoice Date Amount

284463 09/30/2021 $621.13

284464 09/30/2021 $119.35

284465 09/30/2021 $119.35

284467 09/30/2021 $1,311.98

284466 09/30/2021 $480.73

1000 - General Fund            $1,340.56

1311 - Wharf Fund               $1,311.98

99037 10/15/2021 $30.00

Invoice Date Amount

DSA093021 09/30/2021 $30.00

99038 10/15/2021 $1,487.36

Invoice Date Amount

13052 09/15/2021 $1,487.36

99039 10/15/2021 $177.03

Invoice Date Amount

33146 10/07/2021 $177.03

Description

September active meters

CALIFORNIA COAST UNIFORM COMPANY

CALE AMERICA INC.

POA & gym dues PPE 10/2/21

COPWARE INC.

Description

Hat with cloth badge

CAPITOLA PEACE OFFICERS ASSOCIATION

Description

Description

Add Sgt. stripes, tailoring charges

Shirt, pants, tailoring charges

Skate park hand wash station, portable toilets

Jade St. park hand wash station rental

Cortez park hand wash station

Sept. drinking water

D & G SANITATION

Description

Legal sourcebook site license

CRYSTAL SPRINGS WATER CO.

Description

Description

K-9 vehicle temp. alarm & door opening system

FARWEST NURSERY

Description

July - Sept. disability access & education fee

EMERGENCY VEHICLE SPECIALISTS INC.

Wharf portable toilets

Lower parking lot portable toilet rental

Division of the State Architect

Description

Plants

Pages: 2 of 9 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 28

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

0-
15

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City of Capitola

City Checks Issued October 15, 2021

99040 10/15/2021 $1,146.56

Invoice Date Amount

CAWAT118995 10/05/2021 $336.00

CAWAT119155 10/12/2021 $810.56

99041 10/15/2021 $6.00

Invoice Date Amount

I712161011329 10/05/2021 $6.00

99042 10/15/2021 $239.10

Invoice Date Amount

638152 09/15/2021 $239.10

99043 10/15/2021 $2,924.12

Invoice Date Amount

21-402590 10/08/2021 $2,245.62

21-402591 10/08/2021 $678.50

99044 10/15/2021 $146.13

Invoice Date Amount

019421913 10/01/2021 $87.28

019421926 10/01/2021 $58.85

99045 10/15/2021 $499.57

Invoice Date Amount

2631826 10/07/2021 $315.01

8511257 10/01/2021 $25.05

9613946 09/30/2021 $114.36

8623983 09/21/2021 $45.15

99046 10/15/2021 $157.50

Invoice Date Amount

090637 09/30/2021 $67.50

090591 09/10/2021 $45.00

090560 08/31/2021 $22.50

090528 08/20/2021 $22.50

99047 10/15/2021 $29.18

Invoice Date Amount

55Y1216408 10/07/2021 $24.07

55Y1218394 10/12/2021 $5.11

1000 - General Fund            $14.11

2211 - IT Fund                     $15.07

FASTRAK

Description

Bridge toll

Description

Fleet supplies

Hardware

FASTENAL COMPANY

150 gallons diesel

GALLS LLC

Description

FLYERS ENERGY LLC

Description

487 gallons gasoline

FIRST ALARM

Description

Quarterly intrusion monitoring 

Turbo nozzle, loctite, replacement nozzles

14-pocket electrician's pouch, electrical tape, staples

HUMBOLDT PETROLEUM LLC

Description

4-shelf I-beam

Succulent

Flashlight batteries, shirt

Shirt

HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES

Description

City Hall & Recreation copier usage charges

Recreation copier usage charges

August car washes

August car washes

KBA Document Solutions LLC

Description

Sept. car washes

Sept. car washes

Pages: 3 of 9 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 29

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

0-
15

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City of Capitola

City Checks Issued October 15, 2021

99048 10/15/2021 $190.53

Invoice Date Amount

A0316407 10/12/2021 $190.53

99049 10/15/2021 $3,038.40

Invoice Date Amount

26-151453 10/08/2021 $3,038.40

99050 10/15/2021 $733.63

Invoice Date Amount

LL083121 08/31/2021 $635.07

LL083121-2 08/31/2021 $98.56

99051 10/15/2021 $162.44

Invoice Date Amount

MC083121 08/31/2021 $162.44

99052 10/15/2021 $229.52

Invoice Date Amount

515651680 10/06/2021 $33.42

515651681 10/06/2021 $101.71

515608646 09/29/2021 $94.39

99053 10/15/2021 $941.50

Invoice Date Amount

764107 10/12/2021 $941.50

1200 - CIP

99054 10/15/2021 $381.90

Invoice Date Amount

282916 10/05/2021 $363.26

282868 09/30/2021 $18.64

99055 10/15/2021 $129.00

Invoice Date Amount

2763-238821 10/06/2021 $92.64

2763-238527 10/04/2021 $36.36

99056 10/15/2021 $134.04

Invoice Date Amount

E15259 10/05/2021 $120.97

E14814 10/04/2021 $13.07

LUXLAUNDER

Description

August uniform cleaning

LABORMAX STAFFING

Description

Seasonal labor 10/2 - 10/8

KING'S PAINT AND PAPER INC.

Description

Street paint

Fleet uniform cleaning, towels

Corp. yard uniform cleaning

Corp. yard uniform cleaning

August uniform cleaning

MISSION LINEN SUPPLY

Description

PD rug cleaning

MASTER CLEANERS

Description

2016 Ford Explorer windshield hose

O'REILLY AUTO PARTS

Description

NORTH BAY FORD

Description

Compressor assembly

MOFFATT AND NICHOL

Description

Wharf permitting, bid and construction support

Description

Fasteners

Canning jar

Air flow sensor

Dirt buster, car wash soap, muscle magic

OUTDOOR SUPPLY HARDWARE

Pages: 4 of 9 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 30

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

0-
15

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City of Capitola

City Checks Issued October 15, 2021

99057 10/15/2021 $506.71

Invoice Date Amount

622285-0 09/28/2021 $146.54

624160-0 10/12/2021 $360.17

1000 - General Fund            $146.54

2210 - Stores Fund              $360.17

99058 10/15/2021 $4,433.25

Invoice Date Amount

10122021B 10/12/2021 $4,433.25

2211 - IT Fund

99059 10/15/2021 $43.24

Invoice Date Amount

2538898 10/08/2021 $43.24

99060 10/15/2021 $4,845.02

Invoice Date Amount

082021070 09/16/2021 $4,417.62

000206 09/20/2021 $427.40

99061 10/15/2021 $241.00

Invoice Date Amount

13828 09/30/2021 $241.00

99062 10/15/2021 $400.00

Invoice Date Amount

RMP100121 10/01/2021 $400.00

99063 10/15/2021 $380.98

Invoice Date Amount

7719-1009820 10/06/2021 $380.98

99064 10/15/2021 $384.82

Invoice Date Amount

IN100791776 06/25/2021 $384.82

99065 10/15/2021 $1,571.77

Invoice Date Amount

CH070721CPD 07/07/2021 $1,571.77

PALACE BUSINESS SOLUTIONS

Description

Paper, envelopes, steno books, napkins

K-9 supplies

PHOENIX GROUP INFORMATION SYSTEMS

Description

Police trailer upgrade bridge

PET PALS DISCOUNT PET SUPPLIES

Description

Calendars, tape, pens, folders, paper, supplies

PEAK COMMUNICATIONS

Description

Description

Citation admin. hearings

ROYAL WHOLESALE ELECTRIC

Description

Radar and Lidar unit re-certifications

ROBERT M PATTERSON 

August citation processing

Environmental case with shoulder strap

RADAR SHOP

Description

WRAP restraint, helmet

Description

Craft kits, balls, bracelets, sunglasses, toys

SAFE RESTRAINTS INC.

Description

Low profile lamp holder, pliers, lights

S&S WORLDWIDE INC.

Pages: 5 of 9 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 31

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

0-
15

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City of Capitola

City Checks Issued October 15, 2021

99066 10/15/2021 $395.99

Invoice Date Amount

55-0675914 10/06/2021 $46.40

55-0675977 10/07/2021 $148.29

55-0675709 10/06/2021 $103.20

55-0667247 09/01/2021 $80.01

55-0667559 09/02/2021 $18.09

1000 - General Fund             $246.39

1310 - Gas Tax                    $149.60            

99067 10/15/2021 $13,524.00

Invoice Date Amount

SCC093021 09/30/2021 $13,524.00

99068 10/15/2021 $704.99

Invoice Date Amount

Radio Shop 06/21 07/01/2021 $704.99

99069 10/15/2021 $156,902.75

Invoice Date Amount

SCR091521 09/15/2021 $125,222.25

SCR091521-2 09/15/2021 $31,680.50

99070 10/15/2021 $534.40

Invoice Date Amount

0001309433 09/30/2021 $534.40

99071 10/15/2021 $242.14

Invoice Date Amount

2460 09/27/2021 $242.14

99072 10/15/2021 $154.47

Invoice Date Amount

8063537239 09/11/2021 $154.47

99073 10/15/2021 $101.96

Invoice Date Amount

FTB-00003809 09/22/2021 $101.96

99074 10/15/2021 $76.30

Invoice Date Amount

1520 10/05/2021 $76.30

SAN LORENZO LUMBER

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY AUDITOR-CONTROLLER

Description

Sept. citation processing

Sweeper parts, washers

Supplies

Drywall

Description

Sweeper parts

Sun glasses, hammer, gloves, hex bolts, cutting blade

Regional 911 capital/debt service

SANTA CRUZ SENTINEL

Description

SANTA CRUZ REGIONAL 911

Description

Regional 911 operating contribution and SCRMS

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY INFORMATION SERVICES 

Description

April - June equipment charges

Office supplies

STATE CONTROLLERS OFFICE

Description

Bio remediation of vehicle #162

STAPLES ADVANTAGE

Description

Sept. legal notices

SERVPRO OF SANTA CRUZ

Description

Road closed signs (10)

Offsets

STOP COMPANY

Description

Pages: 6 of 9 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 32

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

0-
15

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City of Capitola

City Checks Issued October 15, 2021

99075 10/15/2021 $1,197.40

Invoice Date Amount

644344590 10/01/2021 $1,197.40

99076 10/15/2021 $2,668.00

Invoice Date Amount

00013 10/01/2021 $2,668.00

1321 - BIA

99077 10/15/2021 $1,743.00

Invoice Date Amount

NBP1557440C-2022 09/21/2021 $1,743.00

1321 - BIA

99078 10/15/2021 $288.83

Invoice Date Amount

454503442 10/01/2021 $288.83

99079 10/15/2021 $103.57

Invoice Date Amount

454503137 10/01/2021 $103.57

99080 10/15/2021 $26.06

Invoice Date Amount

454503327 10/01/2021 $26.06

99081 10/15/2021 $309.40

Invoice Date Amount

PARS100221 10/08/2021 $309.40

1001 - Payroll

99082 10/15/2021 $1,200.00

Invoice Date Amount

28440 09/24/2021 $1,200.00

99083 10/15/2021 $56.91

Invoice Date Amount

102557 10/07/2021 $35.39

102556 10/07/2021 $21.52

Janitorial supplies

TODD HANSON

Description

THE HOME DEPOT PRO

Description

PD copier lease

US BANK EQUIPMENT FINANCE

Description

BIA insurance

US BANK EQUIPMENT FINANCE

Description

Oct. BIA marketing, website management, media boost

UNITED STATES LIABILITY INSURANCE COMPANY

Description

PARS contributions PPE 10/2/21

VERITONE INC.

Description

City Hall & Recreation copier leases

US BANK PARS Acct 6746022400

Description

Recreation copier lease

US BANK EQUIPMENT FINANCE

Description

Toyota of Santa Cruz plans

Scans

Annual license fee

WATSONVILLE BLUEPRINT

Description

Pages: 7 of 9 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 33

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

0-
15

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City of Capitola

City Checks Issued October 15, 2021

99084 10/15/2021 $8,861.40

Invoice Date Amount

WF100321 10/03/2021 $8,861.40

1000 - General Fund              $5,435.11

1025 - Facilities Fund            $115.63

2211 - IT Fund                       $2,902.16

2213 - Self Insurance             $408.50

Purchases over $500:

Humanity          $1,392.00 PD electronic scheduling

PDNC Inc.        $2,470.00 Office 365 backup, network infrastructure & management

99085 10/15/2021 $96.00

Invoice Date Amount

200135758 10/06/2021 $96.00

99086 10/15/2021 $140.00

Invoice Date Amount

349254 07/31/2021 $140.00

99087 10/15/2021 $48.00

Invoice Date Amount

300124604 10/06/2021 $48.00

99088 10/15/2021 $31.00

Invoice Date Amount

200136257 10/06/2021 $31.00

99089 10/15/2021 $35.00

Invoice Date Amount

702128893 10/06/2021 $35.00

99090 10/15/2021 $79.88

Invoice Date Amount

200135534 09/20/2021 $79.88

$268,951.02

1215 10/12/2021 $1,208.56

Invoice Date Amount

WF101221 10/12/2021 $1,208.56

Description

Sept. credit card charges

Brandon Robello

WELLS FARGO BANK

Description

Citation refund

Dale Toussaint

Description

CPR training

Chris Wortman

Description

Citation refund

Brenda Bodewitz

Description

Citation refund

Check Totals:

Description

Citation refund

Tina Tinoco

Description

Citation refund

Erica Bowie

October client analysis charges

EFT

WELLS FARGO BANK

Description

Pages: 8 of 9 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 34

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

0-
15

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City of Capitola

City Checks Issued October 15, 2021

1217 10/13/2021 $54,367.79

Invoice Date Amount

1001962692-5 10/08/2021 $54,367.79

1001 - Payroll

1218 10/13/2021 $8,924.14

Invoice Date Amount

1-247-116-192 10/08/2021 $8,924.14

1001 - Payroll

1219 10/12/2021 $29,092.63

Invoice Date Amount

65507867 10/08/2021 $29,092.63

1001 - Payroll

1220 10/12/2021 $652.61

Invoice Date Amount

37370974 10/08/2021 $652.61

1001 - Payroll

1221 10/12/2021 $11,571.88

Invoice Date Amount

VOYA100821 10/08/2021 $11,571.88

1001 - Payroll

$105,817.61

Main City Totals Count Total

Checks 68 $268,951.02

EFTs 6 $105,817.61

All 74 $374,768.63

Grand Totals:

Checks 68 $268,951.02

EFTs 6 $105,817.61

All 74 $374,768.63

PERS contributions PPE 10/2/21

EMPLOYMENT DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

Description

CalPERS Member Services Division

Description

Employee 457 contributions PPE 10/2/21

EFT Totals:

Employee garnishments PPE 10/2/21

VOYA FINANCIAL

Description

Federal taxes & Medicare PPE 10/2/21

STATE DISBURSEMENT UNIT

Description

State taxes PPE 10/2/21

INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE

Description

Pages: 9 of 9 

8.B.1

Packet Pg. 35

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

0-
15

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



8.B.2

Packet Pg. 36

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

0-
22

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

99091 10/22/2021 $435.00

Invoice Date Amount

1530549-5 10/15/2021 $310.00

1530710-5 10/15/2021 $125.00

99092 10/22/2021 $225.00

Invoice Date Amount

61115 10/20/2021 $225.00

2211 - IT Fund

99093 10/22/2021 $600.54

Invoice Date Amount

1PX6-TMG1-PTCQ 10/13/2021 $173.31

1HFP-4DCJ-KP33 10/16/2021 $13.61

19V9-KTHY-N9WY 10/17/2021 $12.31

16DW-KXFW-WV1D 10/17/2021 $263.00

17XQ-FDNF-1WV4 10/17/2021 $138.31

1000 - General Fund            $151.92

2210 - Stores Fund              $263.00

2211 - IT Fund                     $185.62

99094 10/22/2021 $380.00

Invoice Date Amount

AD102021 10/20/2021 $380.00

99095 10/22/2021 $4,370.84

Invoice Date Amount

9211 10/14/2021 $4,370.84

99096 10/22/2021 $25.00

Invoice Date Amount

CPS102021 10/20/2021 $25.00

99097 10/22/2021 $8,808.00

Invoice Date Amount

56536 10/20/2021 $3,156.00

56535 10/20/2021 $5,652.00

99098 10/22/2021 $219.54

Invoice Date Amount

CAWAT119341 10/19/2021 $219.54

1.5 ton compact excavator rental

Rammer compactor rental

ALVAREZ TECHNOLOGY GROUP INC

A TOOL SHED

Description

Description

Asus monitor

Blue light blocking glasses

Description

November antivirus

AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES

ARTHUR S. DOVER MD

Description

Annual flu shots

Monitor cable

Air filters

AP check printer toner 

CALIFORNIA STATE PARKS

Description

Staff appreciation lunch event fee

BOB MURRAY & ASSOCIATES

Description

Police Chief recruitment

Annual museum rent unit 2810

FASTENAL COMPANY

Description

CAPITOLA SELF STORAGE

Description

Annual museum storage rent unit 2829

Hardware

City of Capitola

City Checks Issued October 22, 2021

Pages: 1 of 3 

8.B.2

Packet Pg. 37

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

0-
22

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City of Capitola

City Checks Issued October 22, 2021

99099 10/22/2021 $1,799.07

Invoice Date Amount

21-406966 10/15/2021 $1,421.99

21-406965 10/15/2021 $377.08

99100 10/22/2021 $750.00

Invoice Date Amount

20159011 09/01/2021 $750.00

99101 10/22/2021 $2,883.14

Invoice Date Amount

26-153606 10/15/2021 $2,883.14

99102 10/22/2021 $109.25

Invoice Date Amount

166886 10/07/2021 $109.25

99103 10/22/2021 $14,158.35

Invoice Date Amount

PGE101421-acct9 10/14/2021 $13,913.25

PGE101421-acct5 10/14/2021 $245.10

1000 - General Fund            $4,647.64

1300 - SLESF                     $116.64

1310 - Gas Tax                   $6,820.36

1311 - Wharf Fund               $2,573.71

99104 10/22/2021 $12,817.24

Invoice Date Amount

06-14476-0010521 10/05/2021 $194.79

42-14952-0092721 09/27/2021 $493.36

42-15297-0092721 09/27/2021 $136.94

42-15751-0192721 09/27/2021 $451.16

42-15969-0092721 09/27/2021 $504.54

42-16122-0092721 09/27/2021 $71.27

42-10504-0092721 09/27/2021 $59.08

42-11090-0192721 09/27/2021 $136.94

42-11467-0092721 09/27/2021 $8,289.70

42-11517-0092721 09/27/2021 $136.94

42-14404-0092721 09/27/2021 $453.86

42-16130-0092721 09/27/2021 $59.59

42-16136-0092721 09/27/2021 $783.98

42-16407-0092721 09/27/2021 $59.08

42-14431-0092721 09/27/2021 $713.89

42-17688-0092721 09/27/2021 $213.04

42-18238-0092721 09/27/2021 $59.08

1000 - General Fund               $12,033.26

1311 - Wharf Fund                  $783.98

300 gallons gasoline

80 gallons diesel

GEORGE H WILSON INC.

FLYERS ENERGY LLC

Description

Description

Seasonal labor 10/9 - 10/15

LAS ANIMAS CONCRETE

Description

Lawn Way lift station maintenance

LABORMAX STAFFING

Description

October gas & electricity

Pacific Cove parking lot utilities

Description

Ultra blocks (2)

PACIFIC GAS & ELECTRIC

Cortez Park irrigation

426 Capitola Ave irrigation

2005 Wharf Road irrigation

SOQUEL CREEK WATER DISTRICT

Description

430 Kennedy Drive water service

Capitola Road irrigation

Jade Street park irrigation

41st Avenue irrigation

Lawn Way irrigation

Esplanade fountain irrigation

Cliff Drive irrigation

Capitola Road irrigation

Bay Ave. irrigation

Monterey Ave irrigation

Lawn Way irrigation

Monterey Ave. Nobel Gulch Park irrigation

Wharf Road irrigation

1400 Wharf Road irrigation

Pages: 2 of 3 

8.B.2

Packet Pg. 38

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

0-
22

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City of Capitola

City Checks Issued October 22, 2021

99105 10/22/2021 $1,413.84

Invoice Date Amount

645783572 10/08/2021 $1,413.84

99106 10/22/2021 $17.16

Invoice Date Amount

0000954791401 10/02/2021 $17.16

$49,011.97

Main City Totals Count Total

Checks 16 $49,011.97

EFTs 0 $0.00

All 16 $49,011.97

Payroll Totals

Checks 0 $0.00

EFTs 85 $168,284.20

All 85 $168,284.20

Grand Totals:

Checks 16 $49,011.97

EFTs 85 $168,284.20

All 101 $217,296.17

PD shipping

Check Totals:

Janitorial supplies

UPS

Description

THE HOME DEPOT PRO

Description

Pages: 3 of 3 

8.B.2

Packet Pg. 39

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

0-
22

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



8.B.3

Packet Pg. 40

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

0-
29

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

99107 10/29/2021 ADAMS ASHBY GROUP INC $1,500.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

3879 10/15/2021 Sept. CDBG program coordination $1,500.00

1350 - CDBG Grants

99108 10/29/2021 ADRIENNE HARRELL $504.76

Invoice Date Description Amount

AH101821 10/18/2021 Instructor payment $504.76

99109 10/29/2021 AFLAC $1,315.58

Invoice Date Description Amount

780733 10/26/2021 October supplemental insurance $1,315.58

1001 - Payroll Payables

99110 10/29/2021 ALLIED UNIVERSAL $738.92

Invoice Date Description Amount

11856577 11/04/2021 November McGregor skate park foot patrol $356.42

11856578 11/04/2021 November Esplanade park foot patrol $382.50

99111 10/29/2021 ALLSAFE LOCK COMPANY $36.69

Invoice Date Description Amount

52974 10/13/2021 Keys $36.69

99112 10/29/2021 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES $1,879.73

Invoice Date Description Amount

1QGM-K4GX-WMQF 10/14/2021 LED light up rings $21.79

1VXD-XKW3-63P6 10/14/2021 Paper shredder, Halloween treat bags $200.54

1T6C-CWKV-46CP 10/21/2021 Face masks, black certificate award $77.42

1RPX-3XFT-FXMQ 10/21/2021 Nintendo switch accessory bundle, Nintendo switch $74.80

16H9-3MFP-NQMN 10/22/2021 Reflective jackets, bib pants $685.66

1GTG-QW3F-N3MF 10/26/2021 Target stands $231.04

1996-WQND-KHD6 10/24/2021 Wireless keyboard and mouse $54.49

1MCX-4C37-9FGV 10/26/2021 Nanobeam radio $424.01

1YY6-DYXG-CXWY 10/26/2021 Cooling fan $19.62

1DGY-K73J-KH4N 10/27/2021 Chess board, foot sack, slap bracelets, toys $90.36

1000 - General Fund                         $1,304.19

2210 - ISF - Stores Fund                   $77.42

2211 - ISF - Information Technology   $498.12

99113 10/29/2021 APTOS LANDSCAPE SUPPLY INC. $78.48

Invoice Date Description Amount

563583 10/22/2021 Baserock $78.48

99114 10/29/2021 AT&T/CALNET 3 $209.64

Invoice Date Description Amount

000017186737 10/13/2021 October telephone service $209.64

1000 - General Fund                         $159.22

2211 - ISF - Information Technology   $50.42

City of Capitola

City Checks Issued October 29, 2021

Pages: 1 of 11 

8.B.3

Packet Pg. 41

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

0-
29

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City of Capitola

City Checks Issued October 29, 2021

99115 10/29/2021 AT&T/CALNET 3 $1,187.84

Invoice Date Description Amount

000017187405 10/13/2021 October T-1 access $1,187.84

99116 10/29/2021 ATE3ONE $817.50

Invoice Date Description Amount

102721 10/27/2021 Staff appreciation food truck $817.50

99117 10/29/2021 AUTOMATION TEST ASSOCIATES $40.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

21408 10/22/2021 October wharf meter reading $40.00

1311 - Wharf

99118 10/29/2021 BATTERIES PLUS BULBS $74.25

Invoice Date Description Amount

P45054394 10/25/2021 Battery $74.25

99119 10/29/2021 BECKY ADAMS $497.25

Invoice Date Description Amount

BA101221 10/27/2021 Instructor payment $497.25

99120 10/29/2021 CA DEPARTMENT OF CONSERVATION $584.53

Invoice Date Description Amount

CDC093021 09/30/2021 July - Sept. strong motion instrumentation & seismic hazard fees $584.53

99121 10/29/2021 CA DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE $49.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

537846 10/06/2021 Employee fingerprinting $49.00

99122 10/29/2021 CALIFORNIA COAST UNIFORM COMPANY $1,303.64

Invoice Date Description Amount

8946 10/14/2021 Pink patches $30.00

8945 10/14/2021 Duty belt, pants, cap, tailoring changes $263.03

8944 10/14/2021 Hats $361.77

8943 10/14/2021 Shirt, hat $90.36

8942 10/14/2021 Pants, shirt $359.48

8938 10/14/2021 Pink patches, tailoring changes $30.00

8941 10/14/2021 Badge number patch $10.00

8940 10/14/2021 Pink patches, Sergeant stripes $99.00

8939 10/14/2021 Pink patches $60.00

99123 10/29/2021 CAPITOLA PEACE OFFICERS ASSOCIATION $1,589.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

POA102221 10/22/2021 POA and gym dues PPE 10/22/21 $1,589.00

1001 - Payroll Payables

99124 10/29/2021 CARIN HANNA $5,936.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

CH091721 09/17/2021 BIA holiday decor, self storage, website reimbursement $5,936.00

1321 - BIA - Capitola Village-Wharf BIA

Pages: 2 of 11 

8.B.3

Packet Pg. 42

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

0-
29

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City of Capitola

City Checks Issued October 29, 2021

99125 10/29/2021 CAROLYN FLYNN $5,872.50

Invoice Date Description Amount

CBF-9-2021 10/08/2021 Sept. affordable housing program management $5,872.50

5552 - Cap Hsg Succ-Program Income

99126 10/29/2021 CATTO'S GRAPHICS INC. $163.88

Invoice Date Description Amount

33206 10/19/2021 PD business hours sign $163.88

99127 10/29/2021 CITY OF SANTA CRUZ $91,119.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

040782 10/19/2021 May - Sept. lifeguard services $91,119.00

99128 10/29/2021 CODE PUBLISHING COMPANY INC $209.90

Invoice Date Description Amount

70391 07/26/2021 Municipal code new pages, printing $209.90

99129 10/29/2021 COMMUNITY ACTION BOARD $25,220.06

Invoice Date Description Amount

CAB080321 08/03/2021 FY20-21 operating, admin. and rental assistance $25,000.00

CAB083121 10/18/2021 August operating/admin. assistance $220.06

5552 - Cap Hsg Succ-Program Income

99130 10/29/2021 CSG Consultants Inc. $150.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

B211519 10/01/2021 Sept. building plan review services $150.00

99131 10/29/2021 DONALD W ALLEY $12,920.44

Invoice Date Description Amount

1021-01 10/25/2021 Soquel lagoon monitoring $12,920.44

99132 10/29/2021 ECS IMAGING INC. $9,292.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

16440 10/31/2021 Laserfiche annual renewal & support $9,292.00

2211 - ISF - Information Technology

99133 10/29/2021 ENTENMANN-ROVIN CO. $109.37

Invoice Date Description Amount

0161730-IN 10/19/2021 500 badges $109.37

99134 10/29/2021 EQUITABLE $2,297.56

Invoice Date Description Amount

1244847 09/13/2021 October STD, LTD, AD&D, life insurance $2,297.56

1000 - General Fund               ($33.69)

1001 - Payroll Payables          $2,331.25

99135 10/29/2021 GINA ENRIQUEZ $2,977.68

Invoice Date Description Amount

GE101821 10/18/2021 Instructor payment $2,977.68

Pages: 3 of 11 

8.B.3

Packet Pg. 43

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

0-
29

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City of Capitola

City Checks Issued October 29, 2021

99136 10/29/2021 GRANITE ROCK COMPANY $4,206.09

Invoice Date Description Amount

996292 07/31/2021 Peer Park bridge repairs $4,206.09

1200 - Capital Improvement Fund

99137 10/29/2021 HANYA FOJACO $1,123.20

Invoice Date Description Amount

HF101821 10/18/2021 Instructor payment $1,123.20

99138 10/29/2021 HELENA FOX $865.28

Invoice Date Description Amount

HFox101821 10/18/2021 Instructor payment $865.28

99139 10/29/2021 Hi-Line Inc. $22.20

Invoice Date Description Amount

10878572 07/28/2021 Cotter pin, cap screw, hose clamp $22.20

99140 10/29/2021 HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES $977.03

Invoice Date Description Amount

1030582 10/18/2021 Cutting discs, drill strip disc, batteries $76.67

9610263 10/20/2021 Aluminum tubing, WD40, power strip, shoe handle brush $88.22

6033722 09/23/2021 Rope, sliding miter saw $254.91

4035152 10/05/2021 Wharf rope $76.23

7035994 10/12/2021 Recycling bins, towels, wireless earphones, simple green, sponge $170.72

0623305 10/19/2021 Bucket, drain opener, versahook, hammer bit $159.23

7522467 10/22/2021 Nut driver set, loctite, cable ties, level, anchor kit $129.01

7031135 10/22/2021 Concrete $22.04

1000 - General Fund               $645.89

1311 - Wharf                          $331.14

99141 10/29/2021 KBA Document Solutions LLC $276.61

Invoice Date Description Amount

55Y1220425 10/20/2021 City Hall copier usage charges $276.61

2211 - ISF - Information Technology

99142 10/29/2021 LABORMAX STAFFING $2,328.66

Invoice Date Description Amount

26-155730 10/22/2021 Seasonal labor 10/16 - 10/22 $2,328.66

99143 10/29/2021 LAURA ALIOTO $2,418.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

LA101221 10/12/2021 Instructor payment $2,125.50

LA101821 10/18/2021 Instructor payment $292.50

99144 10/29/2021 LIUNA PENSION FUND $985.60

Invoice Date Description Amount

FD4934 10/22/2021 October LIUNA dues $985.60

1001 - Payroll Payables

Pages: 4 of 11 

8.B.3

Packet Pg. 44

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

0-
29

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City of Capitola

City Checks Issued October 29, 2021

99145 10/29/2021 LUXLAUNDER $725.03

Invoice Date Description Amount

LL093021 09/30/2021 September uniform cleaning $725.03

99146 10/29/2021 MASTER CLEANERS $218.09

Invoice Date Description Amount

MC093021 09/30/2021 September uniform cleaning $218.09

99147 10/29/2021 MESITI-MILLER ENGINEERING INC $3,500.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

0921029 09/29/2021 Peery Park bridge structural repairs $3,500.00

1200 - Capital Improvement Fund

99148 10/29/2021 MICHELE FAIA $546.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

MF101221 10/12/2021 Instructor payment $546.00

99149 10/29/2021 MISSION LINEN SUPPLY $347.44

Invoice Date Description Amount

515739156 10/20/2021 Fleet uniform cleaning $42.92

515695774 10/13/2021 Fleet uniform cleaning $33.42

515724350 10/18/2021 Community center towels, mats, mops $75.00

515739157 10/20/2021 Corp. yard uniform cleaning, mats, towels $101.71

515695775 10/13/2021 Corp. yard uniform cleaning, towels $94.39

99150 10/29/2021 MONTEREY BAY ANALYTICAL SERVICES INC $90.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

211024 04 10/25/2021 Water sample testing $90.00

99151 10/29/2021 NAPA AUTO PARTS $68.70

Invoice Date Description Amount

6841-067041 10/19/2021 Diesel additive, cut-off wheel, glass cleaner, spot remover $68.70

99152 10/29/2021 NORTH BAY FORD $115.56

Invoice Date Description Amount

283056 10/14/2021 Lock cylinder assembly $106.62

282972 10/07/2021 Jet kit $8.94

Pages: 5 of 11 

8.B.3

Packet Pg. 45

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

0-
29

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City of Capitola

City Checks Issued October 29, 2021

99153 10/29/2021 OUTDOOR SUPPLY HARDWARE $1,038.93

Invoice Date Description Amount

E11849 09/29/2021 Stain, sillcock, brush, pipe nipple $48.30

E12431 09/30/2021 Sprayer, sanding disc, crimp wire $21.00

E12348 09/30/2021 Sprayer, muriatic acid, quick set cement $30.81

E14872 10/04/2021 Mallet, multi screwdriver $34.19

E14828 10/04/2021 Fasteners, tie wire coil $14.60

E19428 10/12/2021 Impact socket $11.98

E19708 01/01/3321 Plumbing supplies $135.09

E19694 10/13/2021 Cable ties $59.94

E20471 10/14/2021 Spray paint $19.59

E20751 10/15/2021 Socket $79.56

E23156 10/19/2021 Boots $46.86

E11864 09/29/2021 Concrete, foam float, margin trowel, bucket $111.58

E11417 09/28/2021 Hex T-key, Lysol, air freshener $18.28

E11356 09/28/2021 Broom $16.34

E11374 09/28/2021 Wood putty, ball valve, pipe straps, plumbing supplies $390.81

99154 10/29/2021 PACIFIC GAS & ELECTRIC $2,312.28

Invoice Date Description Amount

PGE102621-acct7 10/26/2021 Library gas & electricity $2,312.28

99155 10/29/2021 PALACE BUSINESS SOLUTIONS $221.99

Invoice Date Description Amount

624464-0 10/14/2021 Envelopes, paper, pens $152.64

4115486-0 10/22/2021 Tape, glitter, supplies $51.40

625431-0 10/22/2021 Colored paper $17.95

1000 - General Fund              $204.04

2210 - ISF - Stores Fund        $17.95

99156 10/29/2021 PAULA BLISS $533.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

PB101821 10/18/2021 Instructor payment $533.00

99157 10/29/2021 PHOENIX GROUP INFORMATION SYSTEMS $7,674.10

Invoice Date Description Amount

092021070 10/19/2021 September citation processing $7,674.10

99158 10/29/2021 PREFERRED BENEFIT INSURANCE ADMIN. $4,754.90

Invoice Date Description Amount

EIA42217 10/01/2021 October dental & vision insurance $4,754.90

1000 - General Fund               $2.90

1001 - Payroll Payables          $4,752.00

99159 10/29/2021 PROFORCE LAW ENFORCEMENT $1,980.63

Invoice Date Description Amount

464036 10/11/2021 Tasers and training $1,980.63

Pages: 6 of 11 

8.B.3

Packet Pg. 46

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

0-
29

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City of Capitola

City Checks Issued October 29, 2021

99160 10/29/2021 RDO EQUIPMENT CO. $854.52

Invoice Date Description Amount

P3664539 10/25/2021 Seal, plates, valve kit, gaskets, bushing, yellow & green spray $854.52

99161 10/29/2021 SAFE LIFE DEFENSE $2.03

Invoice Date Description Amount

76551 04/19/2021 Sales tax on comfort strap $2.03

99162 10/29/2021 SANTA CRUZ AUTO PARTS INC. $198.69

Invoice Date Description Amount

14508-422977 10/19/2021 Bearing splitter, flow thru parts brush $81.93

14508-422527 10/14/2021 Oil filters, air filters, lube, wiper blades $116.76

99163 10/29/2021 SANTA CRUZ BACKFLOW TESTING & REPAIR $498.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

102321C 10/23/2021 Backflow testing $498.00

99164 10/29/2021 SANTA CRUZ COUNTY ANTI CRIME TEAM $17,993.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

2021-22CPD 10/18/2021 Anti-crime team operational contribution $17,993.00

99165 10/29/2021 SANTA CRUZ COUNTY INFORMATION SERVICES $823.49

Invoice Date Description Amount

Radio Shop 09/21 10/05/2021 Quarterly equipment, time & material charges $823.49

99166 10/29/2021 SANTA CRUZ MUNICIPAL UTILITIES $330.18

Invoice Date Description Amount

SCMU093021 09/30/2021 Sept. water service for medians $330.18

99167 10/29/2021 SANTA CRUZ OCCUPATIONAL MEDICAL CENTER $260.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

I-19990 09/30/2021 PEO general physical, drug screen, vision test $260.00

99168 10/29/2021 SARAH RYAN $791.21

Invoice Date Description Amount

SR100921 10/09/2021 Sherman leadership training reimbursement $791.21

99169 10/29/2021 SENTINEL PRINTERS INC. $901.31

Invoice Date Description Amount

306721 10/13/2021 No parking sign, special events sign $901.31

99170 10/29/2021 SESE EGAN GEDDES $101.40

Invoice Date Description Amount

SEG101221 10/27/2021 Instructor payment $101.40

99171 10/29/2021 SHANTA SHENOY $364.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

SS101821 10/18/2021 Instructor payment $364.00

Pages: 7 of 11 

8.B.3

Packet Pg. 47

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

0-
29

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City of Capitola

City Checks Issued October 29, 2021

99172 10/29/2021 SOQUEL UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT $180.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

INV22-00549 10/27/2021 Plein Air exhibit at New Brighton auditorium $180.00

99173 10/29/2021 STAPLES ADVANTAGE $104.16

Invoice Date Description Amount

8063769163 10/02/2021 Paper plates, shipping tape $104.16

99174 10/29/2021 SUMMIT UNIFORMS $2,779.22

Invoice Date Description Amount

73247 09/22/2021 Pants, shirts, jacket, tailoring $913.28

76249 09/22/2021 Pants, shirts, tailoring $640.94

76294 09/24/2021 Pants $216.56

76192 09/17/2021 Pants $97.34

76197 09/17/2021 Bianchi MK3 holder $37.19

76224 09/21/2021 Vest $873.91

99175 10/29/2021 THE HOME DEPOT PRO $2,482.48

Invoice Date Description Amount

647651884 10/18/2021 Nitrile gloves $215.71

647733724 10/19/2021 Janitorial supplies $2,266.77

99176 10/29/2021 UNITED WAY OF SANTA CRUZ COUNTY $20.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

UW103121 10/22/2021 October United Way contributions $20.00

1001 - Payroll Payables

99177 10/29/2021 UPEC LIUNA LOCAL 792 $800.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

UPEC103121 10/22/2021 October UPEC dues $800.00

1001 - Payroll Payables

99178 10/29/2021 US BANK PARS Acct 6746022400 $325.35

Invoice Date Description Amount

PARS102221 10/22/2021 PARS contributions PPE 10/22/21 $325.35

1001 - Payroll Payables

99179 10/29/2021 VICTORIA M JOHNSON $132.60

Invoice Date Description Amount

VJ101221 10/12/2021 Instructor payment $132.60

99180 10/29/2021 VISIT SANTA CRUZ COUNTY $59,674.03

Invoice Date Description Amount

VSCC093021 09/30/2021 July - Sept. tourism marketing district assessment $59,674.03

99181 10/29/2021 WE ALL RIDE SANTA CRUZ $450.93

Invoice Date Description Amount

4169730 08/24/2021 Helmet cleaner, slick mist, wash & wax, gloves $111.83

4170306 10/15/2021 2015 Honda ST1300 wheel/tire $339.10

Pages: 8 of 11 

8.B.3

Packet Pg. 48

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

0-
29

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City of Capitola

City Checks Issued October 29, 2021

99182 10/29/2021 WESTERN EXTERMINATOR COMPANY $128.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

9202146 10/01/2021 October City Hall rodent control $64.00

9202147 10/01/2021 October turnouts rodent control $64.00

99183 10/29/2021 Andrew & Rachel West $332.74

Invoice Date Description Amount

20210378 10/06/2021 Permit 20210378 partial refund $332.74

1000 - General Fund                               $284.74

1313 - General Plan Update and Maint     $48.00

99184 10/29/2021 Chevron USA $236.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

21-0079 10/06/2021 1650 41st Ave. deposit refund $236.00

99185 10/29/2021 Craig Paxton $2,274.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

21-0255 10/19/2021 325 Cherry Ave. deposit refund $2,274.00

99186 10/29/2021 Doug Dodds $2,872.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

14-046 10/19/2021 108 Grove Lane deposit refund $2,872.00

99187 10/29/2021 Joseph Appenrodt $1,645.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

15-160 10/19/2021 1575 38th Ave. deposit refund $1,645.00

99188 10/29/2021 Joseph Genge $2,015.15

Invoice Date Description Amount

21-0424 10/19/2021 2091 Wharf Rd. minor design permit refund $2,015.15

99189 10/29/2021 Kim Tush $71.98

Invoice Date Description Amount

KM101621 10/19/2021 BIA holiday decorations reimbursement $71.98

1321 - BIA - Capitola Village-Wharf BIA

99190 10/29/2021 Magnolia Tree Investments $2,727.28

Invoice Date Description Amount

17-0441 10/06/2021 4201 Capitola Rd. deposit refund $2,727.28

99191 10/29/2021 Michael & Belinda Eugster $653.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

21-0303 10/06/2021 201 Central Ave. arborist deposit refund $653.00

99192 10/29/2021 Niket Prakash $86.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

200136873 10/12/2021 Citation refund $86.00

Pages: 9 of 11 

8.B.3

Packet Pg. 49

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

0-
29

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City of Capitola

City Checks Issued October 29, 2021

99193 10/29/2021 Origins Electric LLC $161.07

Invoice Date Description Amount

20210419 10/06/2021 Permit 20210419 partial refund $161.07

1000 - General Fund                              $136.07

1313 - General Plan Update and Maint     $25.00

99194 10/29/2021 Quinn Cormier $64.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

21-0262 10/19/2021 1501 41st Ave. deposit refund $64.00

99195 10/29/2021 Roger Janow $30.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

RJ102621 10/26/2021 Volunteer fingerprints $30.00

99196 10/29/2021 Rui Huang $86.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

200137161 10/12/2021 Citation refund $86.00

99197 10/29/2021 The Furnace Room Inc. $145.98

Invoice Date Description Amount

20210471 10/06/2021 Permit 20210471 partial refund $145.98

1000 - General Fund                               $122.98

1313 - General Plan Update and Maint     $23.00

99198 10/29/2021 The Furnace Room Inc. $249.57

Invoice Date Description Amount

20210450 10/13/2021 Permit 20210450 partial refund $249.57

1000 - General Fund                               $204.57

1313 - General Plan Update and Maint     $45.00

Check Totals: $309,848.89

EFT

1222 10/25/2021 WEX HEALTH INC. $135.45

Invoice Date Description Amount

0001407160-IN 09/30/2021 Sept. COBRA and FSA admin. $135.45

1223 10/28/2021 CalPERS Member Services Division $55,938.50

Invoice Date Description Amount

1001972544-8 10/22/2021 PERS contributions PPE 10/22/21 $55,938.50

1000 - General Fund               ($0.20)

1001 - Payroll Payables          $55,938.70

1224 10/26/2021 EMPLOYMENT DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT $9,094.76

Invoice Date Description Amount

0-104-511-392 10/22/2021 State taxes PPE 10/22/21 $9,094.76

1001 - Payroll Payables

Pages: 10 of 11 

8.B.3

Packet Pg. 50

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

0-
29

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City of Capitola

City Checks Issued October 29, 2021

1225 10/25/2021 INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE $29,823.06

Invoice Date Description Amount

73041942 10/22/2021 Federal tax & Medicare PPE 10/22/21 $29,823.06

1001 - Payroll Payables

1226 10/25/2021 STATE DISBURSEMENT UNIT $652.61

Invoice Date Description Amount

37521242 10/22/2021 Employee garnishments PPE 10/22/21 $652.61

1001 - Payroll Payables

1227 10/25/2021 VOYA FINANCIAL $7,795.59

Invoice Date Description Amount

VOYA102221 10/22/2021 Employee 457 contributions PPE 10/22/21 $7,795.59

1001 - Payroll Payables

EFT Totals: $103,439.97

Library

292 10/29/2021 JOHN F OTTO INC ESCROW NO 02-701154 $13,579.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

14095retainer 10/20/2021 Library construction retainer $13,579.00

293 10/29/2021 OTTO CONSTRUCTION INC. $439,054.34

Invoice Date Description Amount

14095 10/20/2021 Library construction $439,054.34

Library Totals: $452,633.34

Main City Totals Count Total

Checks 92 $309,848.89

EFTs 6 $103,439.97

All 98 $413,288.86

Library Totals

Checks 2 $452,633.34

EFTs 0 $0.00

All 2 $452,633.34

Grand Totals:

Checks 94 $762,482.23

EFTs 6 $103,439.97

All 100 $865,922.20

Pages: 11 of 11 

8.B.3

Packet Pg. 51

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

0-
29

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



8.B.4

Packet Pg. 52

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

1-
5-

21
 C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

99199 11/01/2021 SCUDDER ROOFING $345.00

Licensee Type Licensee Number Transaction Type

Business 2532 Correct Payment Error

99200 11/05/2021 A TOOL SHED $415.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

1532970-5 11/02/2021 3 ton excavator rental $415.00

1311 - Wharf

99201 11/05/2021 ACCO ENGINEERED SYSTEMS $410.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

20157568 09/01/2021 Police dept. maintenance $410.00

99202 11/05/2021 ALLIED UNIVERSAL $344.93

Invoice Date Description Amount

11856558 11/04/2021 November Jade St. park foot patrol $344.93

99203 11/05/2021 ALLSAFE LOCK COMPANY $63.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

53431 10/04/2021 Adjust PD door striker $63.00

99204 11/05/2021 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES $610.78

Invoice Date Description Amount

1TKK-D7N7-3J3V 10/28/2021 HP OfficeJet ink $112.15

1FJ4-F7JV-1GR7 10/30/2021 Face coverings $34.84

1QL1-PVQP-CWDW 10/31/2021 4K HDMI cable $16.23

1PLD-4DVP-CQG6 10/31/2021 Asus monitor $206.01

197J-Q7XT-JYKT 10/31/2021 Work gloves (10 pairs) $174.90

1G4J-3RXD-9LTH 11/02/2021 Phone cases $66.65

1000 - General Fund                         $276.39

2210 - ISF - Stores Fund                   $112.15

2211 - ISF - Information Technology   $222.24

99205 11/05/2021 B & B SMALL ENGINE REPAIR $652.77

Invoice Date Description Amount

483487 10/12/2021 Saw head, telescoping pole $261.58

483731 10/15/2021 Trimmer line, square line $82.73

484256 10/25/2021 DL chain, filing kit, file pack, bar oil $308.46

99206 11/05/2021 CA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION $3,696.08

Invoice Date Description Amount

SL220458 10/19/2021 July - Sept. signals & lighting $3,696.08

1310 - Gas Tax

City of Capitola

City Checks Issued November 5, 2021

Pages: 1 of 6 

8.B.4

Packet Pg. 53

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

1-
5-

21
 C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City of Capitola

City Checks Issued November 5, 2021

99207 11/05/2021 CLEAN BUILDING MAINTENANCE CO. $5,771.92

Invoice Date Description Amount

28601 10/31/2021 October janitorial services $5,771.92

1000 - General Fund          $4,982.48

1311 - Wharf                     $789.44

99208 11/05/2021 CYNTHIA KASKEY $416.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

CK110121 11/01/2021 Instructor payment $416.00

99209 11/05/2021 FASTENAL COMPANY $42.18

Invoice Date Description Amount

CASAT51225-2 01/15/2019 Sales tax on parts $9.71

CASAT51252-2 01/16/2019 Sales tax on parts $0.74

CASAT51263-2 01/17/2019 Sales tax on parts $0.81

CASAT56417 03/09/2020 Hardware $30.92

99210 11/05/2021 FLYERS ENERGY LLC $4,725.60

Invoice Date Description Amount

21-414068 10/28/2021 827 gallons gasoline $3,956.14

21-414069 10/28/2021 160 gallons diesel $769.46

99211 11/05/2021 GEORGE McMENAMIN $877.50

Invoice Date Description Amount

GM103121 10/31/2021 Bay St., Peery Park maintenance, site checks $877.50

99212 11/05/2021 HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES $59.84

Invoice Date Description Amount

7643597 10/22/2021 Brush, mixing container, fiberglass resin $59.84

99213 11/05/2021 HOPE REHABILITATION SERVICES $1,350.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

S172658 09/30/2021 Sept. litter abatement $1,350.00

99214 11/05/2021 HUB INTERNATIONAL $109.50

Invoice Date Description Amount

HUB103121 10/31/2021 October event insurance $109.50

99215 11/05/2021 KBA Document Solutions LLC $22.36

Invoice Date Description Amount

55Y1224088 11/02/2021 City Hall & Recreation copier usage charges $22.36

1000 - General Fund                         $13.00

2211 - ISF - Information Technology   $9.36

Pages: 2 of 6 

8.B.4

Packet Pg. 54

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

1-
5-

21
 C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City of Capitola

City Checks Issued November 5, 2021

99216 11/05/2021 KING'S PAINT AND PAPER INC. $154.29

Invoice Date Description Amount

A0317193 11/03/2021 Rispin paint $154.29

99217 11/05/2021 LABORMAX STAFFING $2,321.27

Invoice Date Description Amount

26-157879 10/29/2021 Seasonal labor 10/23 - 10/29 $2,321.27

99218 11/05/2021 LAURA ALIOTO $135.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

LA110121 11/01/2021 Instructor payment $135.00

99219 11/05/2021 LINDE GAS & EQUIPMENT INC. $204.08

Invoice Date Description Amount

66728740 10/22/2021 Acetylene rental $204.08

99220 11/05/2021 LLOYDS TIRE SERVICE $1,164.72

Invoice Date Description Amount

208309 10/25/2021 Five tires $1,164.72

99221 11/05/2021 MID COUNTY AUTO SUPPLY $103.70

Invoice Date Description Amount

MID-1485033 10/26/2021 Relays, air filter, filter care service kit $103.70

99222 11/05/2021 MISSION LINEN SUPPLY $108.65

Invoice Date Description Amount

515786080 10/27/2021 Fleet uniform cleaning, towels $33.65

515814053 11/01/2021 Community center mats, mops, towels $75.00

99223 11/05/2021 MONTEREY BAY ANALYTICAL SERVICES INC $514.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

211018_13 10/28/2021 Storm water testing $514.00

99224 11/05/2021 MUNICODE $5,300.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

00363496 09/16/2021 Website enhancement, annual meetings subscription $5,300.00

2211 - ISF - Information Technology

99225 11/05/2021 NAPA AUTO PARTS $214.28

Invoice Date Description Amount

6841-067566 10/24/2021 Air filters, undercoating $214.28

99226 11/05/2021 O'REILLY AUTO PARTS $337.93

Invoice Date Description Amount

2763-241799 10/21/2021 Wiper blades $337.93

Pages: 3 of 6 

8.B.4

Packet Pg. 55

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

1-
5-

21
 C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City of Capitola

City Checks Issued November 5, 2021

99227 11/05/2021 OUTDOOR SUPPLY HARDWARE $101.30

Invoice Date Description Amount

E24734 10/22/2021 Socket adapter, batteries, gloves $85.40

E25009 10/22/2021 Supplies $15.90

99228 11/05/2021 PALACE BUSINESS SOLUTIONS $5.61

Invoice Date Description Amount

4114811-0 10/19/2021 Gift card, cover $5.61

99229 11/05/2021 SALINAS VALLEY SOLID WASTE AUTHORITY $5,000.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

2021-22-1 11/01/2021 CalRecycle program funds $5,000.00

99230 11/05/2021 SANTA CRUZ AUTO PARTS INC. $32.25

Invoice Date Description Amount

14508-423549 10/25/2021 Auto supplies $32.25

99231 11/05/2021 SANTA CRUZ LIVE SCAN INC. $150.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

1888 11/01/2021 Live scan fees $150.00

99232 11/05/2021 SOQUEL CREEK WATER DISTRICT $2,409.52

Invoice Date Description Amount

08-15299-0101221 10/12/2021 Monterey Ave. water $128.08

08-15562-0101221 10/12/2021 Cliff and Fairview water service $44.04

09-15964-0101221 10/12/2021 Monterey Ave. Esplanade water $1,378.75

13-10919-0102021 10/20/2021 2000 Wharf Road water service $44.04

10-16317-0101321 10/13/2021 420 Capitola Ave. water $201.60

10-16315-0101321 10/13/2021 504 Beulah Dr. water $60.59

10-16316-0101321 10/13/2021 426 Capitola Ave. water $99.34

13-18567-0102021 10/20/2021 2005 Wharf Rd. water $453.08

99233 11/05/2021 SWANK MOTION PICTURES INC. $465.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

RG3095252 10/18/2021 Movie licensing $465.00

99234 11/05/2021 THE CLEANING MACHINE INC. $2,760.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

6512 10/27/2021 Village sidewalk pressure washing $2,760.00

99235 11/05/2021 TPX COMMUNICATIONS $1,552.24

Invoice Date Description Amount

149002056-0 10/23/2021 October phone service $1,552.24

1000 - General Fund                         $838.39

2211 - ISF - Information Technology   $713.85

Pages: 4 of 6 

8.B.4

Packet Pg. 56

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

1-
5-

21
 C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City of Capitola

City Checks Issued November 5, 2021

99236 11/05/2021 TRANSPORTATION ALLIANCE BANK INC. $1,842.58

Invoice Date Description Amount

666272 09/29/2021 Sweeper parts $1,842.58

1310 - Gas Tax

99237 11/05/2021 UPS $3.03

Invoice Date Description Amount

0000954791441 10/30/2021 Missing PLD fee $3.03

99238 11/05/2021 US BANK EQUIPMENT FINANCE $174.40

Invoice Date Description Amount

456170430 10/22/2021 City Hall copier lease $174.40

2210 - ISF - Stores Fund

Check Totals: $44,966.31

EFT

1228 11/02/2021 EMPLOYMENT DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT $313.67

Invoice Date Description Amount

1-986-842-528 10/29/2021 State tax employee final paycheck $313.67

1001 - Payroll Payables

1229 11/01/2021 INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE $851.02

Invoice Date Description Amount

22102282 10/29/2021 Federal tax & Medicare employee final paycheck $851.02

1001 - Payroll Payables

1230 11/02/2021 CalPERS Health Insurance $49,893.59

Invoice Date Description Amount

1001975256 11/01/2021 November health insurance $49,893.59

1000 - General Fund          $3,160.18

1001 - Payroll Payables     $46,733.41

EFT Totals: $51,058.28

Library

294 11/05/2021 BOGARD CONSTRUCTION INC. $1,140.00

Invoice Date Description Amount

160707-62 10/31/2021 Library project management services $1,140.00

Check Totals: $1,140.00

Pages: 5 of 6 

8.B.4

Packet Pg. 57

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

1-
5-

21
 C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City of Capitola

City Checks Issued November 5, 2021

Main City Totals Count Total

Checks 40 $44,966.31

EFTs 3 $51,058.28

All 43 $96,024.59

Payroll Totals

Checks 0 $0.00

EFTs 89 $167,300.99

All 89 $167,300.99

Library Totals

Checks 1 $1,140.00

EFTs 0 $0.00

All 1 $1,140.00

Grand Totals:

Checks 41 $46,106.31

EFTs 92 $218,359.27

All 133 $264,465.58

Pages: 6 of 6 

8.B.4

Packet Pg. 58

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

1-
5-

21
 C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



8.B.5

Packet Pg. 59

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

1-
12

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

99239 11/12/2021 $213.46

Invoice Date Amount

ADT102921 10/29/2021 $213.46

99240 11/12/2021 $326.99

Invoice Date Amount

1420 09/30/2021 $326.99

99241 11/12/2021 $2,171.11

Invoice Date Amount

179Q-TMVV-QLY1 11/03/2021 $1,318.89

1G4J-3RXD-VXKF 11/03/2021 $54.49

1VTW-RG6Y-4DDK 11/03/2021 $86.10

1P1V-LV9K-99QL 11/04/2021 $338.90

1CF4-YDC3-96Q9 11/07/2021 $37.12

1L1X-Q7LW-R917 11/09/2021 $141.65

1YLF-W1LD-PN3D 11/09/2021 $163.45

1JQT-YGR9-MCWY 11/08/2021 $30.51

1000 - General Fund              $797.73

2211 - IT Fund                      $1,373.38

99242 11/12/2021 $8,369.94

Invoice Date Amount

INV0017356 08/27/2021 $8,369.94

99243 11/12/2021 $161.32

Invoice Date Amount

564444 11/03/2021 $161.32

99244 11/12/2021 $9.20

Invoice Date Amount

ATT110121 11/01/2021 $9.20

1000 - General Fund              $4.53

2211 - IT Fund                       $4.67

99245 11/12/2021 $86.42

Invoice Date Amount

485001 11/05/2021 $60.93

484926 11/04/2021 $25.49

99246 11/12/2021 $683.91

Invoice Date Amount

7380 10/27/2021 $683.91

99247 11/12/2021 $64.00

Invoice Date Amount

542422 11/03/2021 $64.00

99248 11/12/2021 $58.60

Invoice Date Amount

9085 11/10/2021 $58.60

Concrete/asphalt saw blade

AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES

Description

Corp. yard & museum ADT monitoring

AM CONSTRUCTION SUPPLY INC.

Description

ADT SECURITY SERVICES INC.

Description

Boots

Wireless mouse

AMERICAN TRAFFIC SOLUTIONS INC.

Chest waders, boots, iPhone case

AA batteries

Boots

UPS battery backup

UPS battery backup surge protector

Keyboard tray

Description

November long distance charges

B & B SMALL ENGINE REPAIR

Description

Bark chips

AT&T

Description

Jan - June red light enforcement

APTOS LANDSCAPE SUPPLY INC.

CA DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

Description

Fingerprinting services

BEN'S MOTORCYCLE WORKS

Description

2019 BMW motorcycle tires & installation

Description

Misc. tools

Sleeve, hex nut

CADILLAC DESIGNS INC.

Description

Digital print

City Checks Issued November 12, 2021
City of Capitola

Pages: 1 of 8 

8.B.5

Packet Pg. 60

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

1-
12

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City Checks Issued November 12, 2021
City of Capitola

99249 11/12/2021 $1,829.00

Invoice Date Amount

166335 10/25/2021 $1,829.00

99250 11/12/2021 $224.00

Invoice Date Amount

9017 11/02/2021 $45.00

9018 11/02/2021 $25.00

9019 11/02/2021 $50.00

9020 11/02/2021 $74.00

9021 11/02/2021 $30.00

99251 11/12/2021 $5,000.00

Invoice Date Amount

CBF110921 08/26/2021 $5,000.00

99252 11/12/2021 $1,459.00

Invoice Date Amount

POA103021 11/05/2021 $1,459.00

1001 - Payroll

99253 11/12/2021 $936.00

Invoice Date Amount

3009 10/29/2021 $936.00

99254 11/12/2021 $121.50

Invoice Date Amount

CSW103121 10/31/2021 $121.50

99255 11/12/2021 $1,553.78

Invoice Date Amount

285238 10/31/2021 $621.13

285239 10/31/2021 $119.35

285240 10/31/2021 $119.35

285242 10/31/2021 $507.86

285241 10/31/2021 $186.09

1000 - General Fund                $1,045.92

1311 - Wharf Fund                   $507.86

99256 11/12/2021 $250.00

Invoice Date Amount

DR110721 11/07/2021 $250.00

99257 11/12/2021 $581.58

Invoice Date Amount

L0354111760 11/05/2021 $581.58

2213 - Self Insurance 

99258 11/12/2021 $109.37

Invoice Date Amount

0162032-IN 11/03/2021 $109.37

CALIFORNIA COAST UNIFORM COMPANY

Description

Tailoring changes

CALE AMERICA INC.

Description

October active meters

Beach festival sponsorship

CAPITOLA PEACE OFFICERS ASSOCIATION

Description

Tailoring changes

CAPITOLA BEACH FESTIVAL ASSOCIATION

Description

Tailoring changes

Tailoring changes

Tailoring changes

October drinking water

D & G SANITATION

Description

September televised meetings

CRYSTAL SPRINGS WATER CO.

Description

POA & gym dues PPE 10/30/2021

COMMUNITY TELEVISION OF SANTA CRUZ COUNTY

Description

Description

Plein Air event DJ services

EMPLOYMENT DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

Wharf portable toilets

Lower parking lot portable toilet rental

DEENIE ROSE

Skate park hand wash station, portable toilets

Jade st. park hand wash station rental

Cortez park hand wash station

Description

Dome badge

Description

July - Sept. unemployment insurance

ENTENMANN-ROVIN CO.

Pages: 2 of 8 

8.B.5

Packet Pg. 61

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

1-
12

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City Checks Issued November 12, 2021
City of Capitola

99259 11/12/2021 $136.75

Invoice Date Amount

15466238 10/20/2021 $136.75

99260 11/12/2021 $359.11

Invoice Date Amount

CAWAT119697 11/02/2021 $265.13

CAWAT119749 11/04/2021 $93.98

99261 11/12/2021 $352.93

Invoice Date Amount

019579312 10/21/2021 $76.30

019607342 10/25/2021 $43.57

019623496 10/27/2021 $233.06

99262 11/12/2021 $290.99

Invoice Date Amount

10663474 11/01/2021 $290.99

99263 11/12/2021 $712.04

Invoice Date Amount

1336400 10/31/2021 $712.04

99264 11/12/2021 $488.12

Invoice Date Amount

6612130 11/02/2021 $97.79

5644837 11/03/2021 $111.06

1010043 10/28/2021 $39.00

0032046 10/29/2021 $111.68

3630081 11/05/2021 $42.56

9630663 11/09/2021 $86.03

99265 11/12/2021 $2,202.50

Invoice Date Amount

331018002 11/01/2021 $2,202.50

99266 11/12/2021 $447.00

Invoice Date Amount

21-60312 11/05/2021 $149.00

21-60310 11/05/2021 $149.00

21-60376 11/09/2021 $149.00

99267 11/12/2021 $102.68

Invoice Date Amount

717963 11/03/2021 $102.68

99268 11/12/2021 $35.00

Invoice Date Amount

147046 11/04/2021 $35.00

Description

Shovel, battery control, 9V industrial battery

FASTENAL COMPANY

EWING IRRIGATION

Rapelling belt

Measuring wheels

GARDAWORLD

GALLS LLC

Description

Gloves

Description

Hardware

Hardware

Description

Oil, diesel exhaust fluid

Hook & pick set, storage boxes

Description

Granite patch

HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES

Description

November armored car service

GRANITE ROCK COMPANY

720 Hill St. stormwater review

INTERNATIONAL BRONZE PLAQUE COMPANY

Description

Scoop, gloves, nozzle pack, aluminum bar, saw blade

HYDROSCIENCE ENGINEERS INC.

Description

Lumber

Flashlight, glue, brush, roller tray, roller cover

Brush, margin trowel, flex seal, wet patch

JOHNSON ROBERTS & ASSOCIATES INC.

Description

New hire background investigations

INTERSTATE ALL BATTERY CENTER

Description

Batteries

Memorial bench plaque

Memorial bench plaque

Memorial bench plaque

Pages: 3 of 8 

8.B.5

Packet Pg. 62

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

1-
12

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City Checks Issued November 12, 2021
City of Capitola

99269 11/12/2021 $853.54

Invoice Date Amount

A0317222 11/04/2021 $88.46

A0317232 11/04/2021 $569.03

A0317383 11/09/2021 $10.67

A0317388 11/09/2021 $64.28

A0317413 11/10/2021 $121.10

99270 11/12/2021 $2,506.08

Invoice Date Amount

26-159870 11/05/2021 $2,506.08

99271 11/12/2021 $6.58

Invoice Date Amount

10378776 10/31/2021 $6.58

99272 11/12/2021 $3,360.00

Invoice Date Amount

33584 11/04/2021 $3,360.00

99273 11/12/2021 $500.00

Invoice Date Amount

1021LP31150 10/31/2021 $500.00

99274 11/12/2021 $229.75

Invoice Date Amount

515829598 11/03/2021 $33.65

515829599 11/03/2021 $101.71

515786081 10/27/2021 $94.39

99275 11/12/2021 $60.00

Invoice Date Amount

211104 10 11/08/2021 $60.00

99276 11/12/2021 $305.94

Invoice Date Amount

2763-240675 10/16/2021 $164.52

2763-243400 10/29/2021 $27.64

2763-244233 11/02/2021 $57.29

2763-244476 11/04/2021 $56.49

99277 11/12/2021 $373.26

Invoice Date Amount

135089 11/01/2021 $162.37

135160 11/08/2021 $210.89

1000 - General Fund               $162.37

1311 - Wharf Fund                  $210.89

99278 11/12/2021 $175.21

Invoice Date Amount

E27307 10/26/2021 $70.78

E31371 11/03/2021 $88.09

E32293 11/05/2021 $16.34

Paint

LABORMAX STAFFING

Description

Jade St. paint, rust destroyer, roller, brushes

Lambskin cover

City Hall primer/sealer, tape, caulking gun, tray, koter frame

KING'S PAINT AND PAPER INC.

Description

City Hall bathroom paint

Noble Gulch tree removal

LP POLICE

Description

Translation service

LEWIS TREE SERVICE INC.

Description

Seasonal labor 10/30 - 11/5

LANGUAGE LINE SERVICES INC

Description

MONTEREY BAY ANALYTICAL SERVICES INC

Description

Water sample testing

Fleet uniform cleaning

Corp. yard uniform cleaning, towels, mats

Corp. yard uniform cleaning, towels

October plan fee

MISSION LINEN SUPPLY

Description

OLIVE SPRINGS QUARRY INC.

Description

Rock

Thermostat

Brake cleaner, carb cleaner

Fuel injector

O'REILLY AUTO PARTS

Description

Brake rotors

Plant, planting mix

Graffiti removal supplies

Gal drip free gun

Wharf rock

OUTDOOR SUPPLY HARDWARE

Description

Pages: 4 of 8 

8.B.5

Packet Pg. 63

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

1-
12

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City Checks Issued November 12, 2021
City of Capitola

99279 11/12/2021 $238.26

Invoice Date Amount

626658-0 11/03/2021 $80.10

626353-1 11/02/2021 $38.72

626353-0 11/01/2021 $119.44

99280 11/12/2021 $58.32

Invoice Date Amount

PC080189236 11/04/2021 $58.32

99281 11/12/2021 $3,983.25

Invoice Date Amount

000246 10/25/2021 $3,983.25

99282 11/12/2021 $656.23

Invoice Date Amount

55-0680517 10/25/2021 $72.93

55-0679815 10/21/2021 $53.86

55-0680477 10/25/2021 $171.55

55-0679837 10/21/2021 $75.79

55-0674752 10/01/2021 $282.10

99283 11/12/2021 $1,000.00

Invoice Date Amount

1800078799 10/28/2021 $1,000.00

99284 11/12/2021 $125.00

Invoice Date Amount

14333 10/05/2021 $125.00

1311 - Wharf Fund

99285 11/12/2021 $13,811.00

Invoice Date Amount

SCC103121 10/31/2021 $13,811.00

99286 11/12/2021 $17,354.00

Invoice Date Amount

SCC110521 11/05/2021 $17,354.00

99287 11/12/2021 $2,622.84

Invoice Date Amount

SCC073121 10/25/2021 $655.71

SCC083121 10/25/2021 $655.71

SCC093021 10/25/2021 $655.71

SCC102521 10/25/2021 $655.71

99288 11/12/2021 $113.00

Invoice Date Amount

03514135-21-22 11/05/2021 $113.00

99289 11/12/2021 $857.60

Invoice Date Amount

0001313062 10/31/2021 $857.60

PALACE BUSINESS SOLUTIONS

Description

Envelopes

Description

Citation rolls

SAN LORENZO LUMBER

Description

Latch

PHOENIX GROUP INFORMATION SYSTEMS

Envelopes, adhesive spray

Paper, envelopes, adhesive spray

PETERSON CATERPILLAR

SANTA CLARA COUNTY OFFICE OF THE SHERIFF

Description

Two range days 9/8 & 9/22

Lumber

ABS female adaptor, spanner wrench, pipe

Lock nuts, bolts, washers, hex nuts, hex bolts, tape

Description

ABS male adaptor, hammer, impact bits

Lumber

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY DEPT OF PUBLIC WORKS

Description

Household hazardous waste program

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY AUDITOR-CONTROLLER

Description

October citation processing

SANTA CRUZ APTOS AUTO TOWING

Description

Wharf ramp raised

SANTA CRUZ MOSQUITO & VECTOR CONTROL

Description

FY21/22 mosquito & disease control assessment

August open query scan charges

September open query scan charges

October open query scan charges

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY INFORMATION SERVICES 

Description

July open query scan charges

SANTA CRUZ SENTINEL

Description

October classified advertising

Pages: 5 of 8 

8.B.5

Packet Pg. 64

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

1-
12

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City Checks Issued November 12, 2021
City of Capitola

99290 11/12/2021 $189.36

Invoice Date Amount

2483 10/31/2021 $189.36

99291 11/12/2021 $34.50

Invoice Date Amount

66189 09/09/2021 $34.50

99292 11/12/2021 $10,239.74

Invoice Date Amount

42-14952-0102621 10/26/2021 $483.61

42-15297-0102621 10/26/2021 $136.94

42-15751-0102621 10/26/2021 $133.49

42-15969-0102621 10/26/2021 $349.55

42-16122-0102621 10/26/2021 $67.55

42-10504-0102621 10/26/2021 $59.08

42-11090-0102621 10/26/2021 $136.94

42-11467-0102621 10/26/2021 $6,771.40

42-11517-0102621 10/26/2021 $136.94

42-14404-0102621 10/26/2021 $366.10

42-16130-0102621 10/26/2021 $59.08

42-16136-0102621 10/26/2021 $532.25

42-16407-0102621 10/26/2021 $59.08

34-18508-0102621 10/26/2021 $37.28

42-14431-0102621 10/26/2021 $688.11

42-17688-0102621 10/26/2021 $163.26

42-18238-0102621 10/26/2021 $59.08

1000 - General Fund               $9,707.49

1311 - Wharf Fund                  $532.25

99293 11/12/2021 $158.02

Invoice Date Amount

TLS102921 10/29/2021 $158.02

99294 11/12/2021 $3,607.12

Invoice Date Amount

INV22-00568 11/10/2021 $3,607.12

99295 11/12/2021 $7,725.43

Invoice Date Amount

0000178100121 10/01/2021 $3,862.71

0000178110121 11/01/2021 $3,862.72

1000 - General Fund               $3,364.83

2211 - IT Fund                        $4,360.60

99296 11/12/2021 $96.40

Invoice Date Amount

8063930946 10/16/2021 $96.40

99297 11/12/2021 $193.71

Invoice Date Amount

TM102121 10/21/2021 $193.71

SOQUEL CREEK ANIMAL HOSPITAL

Description

Canine vaccination

SERVPRO OF SANTA CRUZ

Description

Car #161 cleaning

Esplanade fountain irrigation

Cliff Drive irrigation

Capitola Road irrigation

426 Capitola Ave irrigation

2005 Wharf Road irrigation

Lawn Way irrigation

SOQUEL CREEK WATER DISTRICT

Description

Cortez Park irrigation

1510 McGregor Drive water service

Monterey Ave irrigation

Lawn Way irrigation

Wharf Road irrigation

1400 Wharf Road irrigation

Bay Ave. irrigation

Jade Street park irrigation

41st Avenue irrigation

Monterey Ave. Nobel Gulch Park irrigation

Jade St. sanitation fees

SPECTRUM BUSINESS

Description

Radio adapters

SOQUEL UNION ELEMENTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT

Description

Capitola Road irrigation

SOQUEL HEARING AID CENTER (THE LISTENING STACK)

Description

Description

October cell phone usage

Description

Cups, bowls, napkins

T MOBILE

October internet service

November internet service

STAPLES ADVANTAGE

Pages: 6 of 8 

8.B.5

Packet Pg. 65

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

1-
12

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City Checks Issued November 12, 2021
City of Capitola

99298 11/12/2021 $2,205.92

Invoice Date Amount

649373628 10/27/2021 $1,090.88

651002636 11/04/2021 $1,115.04

99299 11/12/2021 $2.00

Invoice Date Amount

0000954791451 11/06/2021 $2.00

99300 11/12/2021 $315.01

Invoice Date Amount

456632413 10/28/2021 $315.01

2210 - Stores Fund

99301 11/12/2021 $26.06

Invoice Date Amount

457075844 11/03/2021 $26.06

99302 11/12/2021 $103.57

Invoice Date Amount

457075737 11/03/2021 $103.57

99303 11/12/2021 $288.83

Invoice Date Amount

457075935 11/03/2021 $288.83

99304 11/12/2021 $531.37

Invoice Date Amount

PARS103021 11/05/2021 $531.37

1001 - Payroll

99305 11/12/2021 $2,971.19

Invoice Date Amount

9890342772 10/10/2021 $2,971.19

99306 11/12/2021 $50.93

Invoice Date Amount

102971 11/02/2021 $50.93

99307 11/12/2021 $5,392.47

Invoice Date Amount

00012063 11/08/2021 $5,392.47

99308 11/12/2021 $650.00

Invoice Date Amount

T14218 10/22/2021 $650.00

99309 11/12/2021 $547.04

Invoice Date Amount

94799 10/20/2021 $547.04

99310 11/12/2021 $50.00

Invoice Date Amount

200137507 11/05/2021 $50.00

$113,904.83

THE HOME DEPOT PRO

US BANK EQUIPMENT FINANCE

Description

City Hall copier lease

UPS

Description

PD shipping missing PLD fee

Description

Janitorial supplies

Cleaning supplies

US BANK EQUIPMENT FINANCE

Description

PD copier lease

US BANK EQUIPMENT FINANCE

Description

Recreation copier lease

US BANK EQUIPMENT FINANCE

Description

Recreation copier leases

WATSONVILLE BLUEPRINT

Description

Road repair plans

VERIZON WIRELESS

Description

October telephone charges

US BANK PARS Acct 6746022400

Description

PARS contributions PPE 10/30/2021

Description

Citation penalty fee waived

ZUMAR INDUSTRIES INC.

Description

Electrical vehicle charging signs

WITMER TYSON IMPORTS INC.

Description

September K9 training

WHEELCHAIRS OF SAN MATEO & TECH

Description

Wheelchair

Check Totals:

Jessyca Medina Vega

Pages: 7 of 8 

8.B.5

Packet Pg. 66

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

1-
12

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



Check 
Number Invoice Number Invoice Date Description Payee Name

Transaction 
Amount

City Checks Issued November 12, 2021
City of Capitola

1231 11/08/2021 $55,795.11

Invoice Date Amount

1001979448-51 11/05/2021 $55,795.11

1001 - Payroll

1232 11/08/2021 $8,848.69

Invoice Date Amount

0-490-205-088 11/05/2021 $8,848.69

1001 - Payroll

1233 11/08/2021 $29,252.87

Invoice Date Amount

32944079 11/05/2021 $29,252.87

1001 - Payroll

1234 11/08/2021 $652.61

Invoice Date Amount

37676863 11/05/2021 $652.61

1001 - Payroll

1235 11/08/2021 $8,515.62

Invoice Date Amount

VOYA103021 11/05/2021 $8,515.62

1001 - Payroll

1236 11/12/2021 $1,089.44

Invoice Date Amount

WF111221 11/12/2021 $1,089.44

$104,154.34

Main City Totals Count Total

Checks 72 $113,904.83

EFTs 6 $104,154.34

All 78 $218,059.17

Payroll Totals

Checks 2 $19,249.69

EFTs 0 $0.00

All 2 $19,249.69

Grand Totals:

Checks 74 $133,154.52

EFTs 6 $104,154.34

All 80 $237,308.86

Description

Monthly client analysis charges

EFT Totals:

Description

Employee 457 contributions PPE 10/30/21

WELLS FARGO BANK

Description

Employee garnishments PPE 10/30/2021

VOYA FINANCIAL

Description

Federal taxes & Medicare PPE 10/30/2021

STATE DISBURSEMENT UNIT

Description

State taxes PPE 10/30/2021

INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE

Description

PERS contributions PPE 10/30/21

EMPLOYMENT DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

EFT

CalPERS Member Services Division

Pages: 8 of 8 

8.B.5

Packet Pg. 67

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

1-
12

-2
1 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

r 
 (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
C

it
y 

C
h

ec
k 

R
eg

is
te

rs
)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
AGENDA REPORT

MEETING OF NOVEMBER 23, 2021

FROM: City Manager Department

SUBJECT: Settlement Agreement with Noll and Tam Architects and Pacific Gas and Electric

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Direct the City Manager to sign a settlement agreement between 
the City of Capitola, Noll and Tam Architects, and Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E).

BACKGROUND: On November 10, 2016, the City entered a contract with Noll & Tam Architects 
to design a new library at 2005 Wharf Road. During construction of the library a conflict between 
the building’s design and the proximity of that design to electrical power lines was identified. 
Due to that conflict, the City incurred significant additional construction costs because of delays 
and design changes.

DISCUSSION:  In an effort to avoid litigation, the parties settled the matter.  Pursuant to the 
settlement, Noll & Tam will pay the City $450,000 and PG&E will pay the City $100,000, for a 
combined settlement total of $550,000.  In exchange for that payment, the City agrees to fully 
release and discharge Noll & Tam and PG&E from all claims in any way connected to the 
dispute. 

FISCAL IMPACT: Funding from the settlement will be used to offset increased construction 
costs associated with the conflict with the power line and will be deposited in the Library 
Construction Fund. Upon project completion, expected prior to the end of this calendar year, 
any remaining unrestricted funds in the Library Construction Fund will be transferred back to the 
City’s General Fund. 

Report Prepared By:  Jamie Goldstein
City Manager

Reviewed and Forwarded by:

8.C

Packet Pg. 68



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
AGENDA REPORT

MEETING OF NOVEMBER 23, 2021

FROM: City Manager Department

SUBJECT: Consider an Ordinance Adding Chapter 9.62 Film Permits to Capitola Municipal 
Code 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Consider adoption, by title only, waiving further reading of the text, 
an ordinance adding Chapter 9.62: Film Permits. 

BACKGROUND: The California Uniform Film Permit Act authorizes local jurisdiction to adopt an 
ordinance to regulate the issuance of permits for commercial filming activity. Such an ordinance 
must comply with the requirements of the Act and be reviewed by the California Film 
Commission prior to final adoption.

Historically the City has issued around 4-6 permits each year for commercial filming activity 
through the business licenses process. While the process has been effective, business licenses 
are a non-regulatory permit, in that the City is limited in its ability to deny or condition a request 
for a business license. The proposed ordinance would allow the City to deny or condition future 
requests to film within the City Limits. 

DISCUSSION: The proposed ordinance regulates commercial filming and complies with the 
Uniform Film Permit Act. The ordinance does not apply to filming for non-commercial purposes 
and exempts filming for news purposes or filming that takes place on private property in a single 
day between the hours of 9am and 10 pm. In addition, the ordinance includes the following:

• Authorizes the City Manager to issue film permits, provided the proposed activity does 
not create substantial community impacts, as delineated in 9.62.070. 

• Authorizes the City to impose conditions on the proposed activity including requirements 
concerning the time, place and manner of filming activities. 

• Requires the applicant to obtain insurance, name the City as an additional insured, and 
indemnify the City

Functionally, the proposed ordinance will not significantly modify the City’s processes or 
timelines for authorizing filming activities. The ordinance will better situate the City should a 
filming activity be proposed that would create impacts and require either denial or specific 
conditions to mitigate those impacts.

City Council passed a first reading of this ordinance on October 28, 2021, and staff submitted 

8.D

Packet Pg. 69



Film Ordinance Adoption 
November 23, 2021

the draft for California Film Commission review in early November. The Permit Team Manager 
from the Film Commission responded promptly with minor suggestions.  

FISCAL IMPACT: None. The proposed ordinance includes the ability for the City to recover 
costs associated with the issuance of film permits.

Report Prepared By:  Chloe Woodmansee
City Clerk

Reviewed and Forwarded by:

8.D

Packet Pg. 70



Film Ordinance Adoption 
November 23, 2021

ORDINANCE NO. ______

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA, AMENDING TITLE 
9 OF THE CAPITOLA MUNICIPAL CODE BY ADDING THERETO CHAPTER 9.62

TO ESTABLISH REGULATIONS FOR FILMING PERMITS

WHEREAS, the City Council desires to streamline and update its procedures and fees 
for obtaining a permit for commercial filming activities based on the latest industry guidelines 
and standards. 

WHEREAS, the regulation of commercial filming has as its objective the health and 
safety of the persons affected by filming activity, the avoidance of undue disruptions of persons 
within the area of a filming location, the safety of property, and the avoidance of traffic 
congestion. It also serves to protect the City from liability through insurance coverage.

WHEREAS, the City, pursuant to its police powers delegated to it by the California 
Constitution, has the authority to enact laws which promote the public health, safety and general 
welfare of its residents, and therefore the City desires to enact this film permit ordinance.

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CAPITOLA AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1. The above findings are adopted and incorporated herein.

Section 2. Title 9 (Public Peace, Morals and Welfare) of the Capitola Municipal Code is 
hereby amended by adding new Section 9.62 which shall read as follows: 

Chapter 9.62 CAPITOLA FILM PERMIT ORDINANCE

Sections:
9.62.010 Title
9.62.020 Purpose
9.62.030 Definitions
9.62.040 Permit required
9.62.050 Permit exemptions
9.62.060 Application form
9.62.070 Permit denial
9.62.080 Permit conditions
9.62.090 Fees
9.62.100 Insurance
9.62.110 Indemnification and liability
9.62.120 Security Deposit
9.62.130 Duties of permittee
9.62.140 Regulations
9.62.150 Appeals
9.62.160 Penalties

8.D

Packet Pg. 71



Film Ordinance Adoption 
November 23, 2021

9.62.010 Title.
This chapter shall be known and may be cited as the Capitola film permit ordinance. 

9.62.020 Purpose.
Consistent with the Uniform Film Permit Act, it is the purpose of this chapter to provide for rules 
governing the issuance of permits for filming activities on locations within the City. The intent of 
this chapter is to ensure that filming activities are consistent with the public health and safety 
and the protection of property and do not impose undue burdens upon public properties or 
private properties that may be directly or indirectly affected by noise, glare, public congregation, 
and other impacts associated with filming activities. It is the purpose of this chapter to regulate 
the time, place and manner in which such activities are conducted to only the extent reasonably 
necessary to preserve the public peace and safety. 

9.62.030 Definitions.
For the purpose of this chapter, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings 
respectively ascribed to them by this section:
“City Manager” means the City Manager of the City of Capitola, or his/her designee.
“Commercial purposes” means the creation of a product for sale or generation of income, 
including the creation of an advertisement for an event, business, product or service.
“Film permit” means written authorization from the City Manager to conduct the filming activity 
described in the permit.
“Filming activity” means filming, videotaping, photographing, or other similar process.
“News purpose” means filming activity conducted for newspapers, magazines, news services, 
broadcast stations, television or cable news shows, internet news programs, and similar news 
media, for the primary purpose of disseminating news, recent events, and other current, public 
affairs. 
“Studio” means a fixed place of business where filming activities are regularly conducted upon 
the premises either indoors or outdoors. 

9.62.040 Permit required.
It is unlawful to conduct a filming activity for commercial purposes, or a filming activity where 
any member of the film, photography, or recording crew receives compensation for their 
work, without first obtaining a film permit from the City Manager. 

9.62.050 Permit exemptions.
The provisions of this section shall not apply to any of the following activities:
A. Filming activities conducted for news purposes.
B. Filming activities conducted in a studio.
C.  Filming activities taking place on private property and completed in a single day between the 
hours of 9 am and 10 pm.

9.62.060 Application form.
Permit application shall be on a form furnished by the City Manager and shall include 
information about the proposed filming activity necessary to determine potential impacts to City 
services and the community. 

9.62.070 Permit denial.

8.D

Packet Pg. 72



Film Ordinance Adoption 
November 23, 2021

The film permit shall be approved by the City Manager unless he/she determines from 
consideration of the application or other pertinent information that any of the following conditions 
exist:
A. The filming activity will substantially disrupt the use of a public space at a time when it is 

usually subject to congestion, or interfere with the operation of emergency vehicles in the 
proposed permit area.

B. The location of the filming activity will substantially interfere with street or utility maintenance 
work, or a previously authorized permit.

C. The proposed permit location is on City-owned property and the filming activity will 
substantially interfere with municipal functions, or other previously authorized activities on 
City property.

D. The filming activity creates a substantial risk of injury to persons or property.
E. The applicant failed to complete the application, submit applicable fees, or the information 

contained in the application is found to be false in any material detail.
F. The particular filming activity would violate Federal, State or local law including 

license/permit requirements.
G. The filming activity creates a substantial nuisance.
H. The applicant has a failed to comply with permit conditions for prior permits.

9.62.080 Permit conditions. 
The City Manager may condition the issuance of a filming activity permit by imposing 
reasonable requirements concerning the time, place and manner of filming activities. 

9.62.090 Fees.
The City Council shall by resolution establish a schedule of fees for film permits.  The amount of 
the fees established by the City Council shall not exceed the reasonable costs incurred by the 
City for the processing of the application, the services to be provided by the City to the permittee 
and the use of the City property by the permittee.  The fees shall be collected by the Finance 
Director and shall include:
A. A permit application processing fee in an amount established by City Council resolution shall 
be paid by the applicant at the time the application is filed.
B. Reimbursement for use of City property and services.  A schedule of fees for use of City 
property shall be established by City Council resolution. City services shall be reimbursed at the 
actual current cost of the service. The applicant shall prepay such fees prior to issuance of the 
film permit.

9.62.100 Insurance.
The issuance of a film permit to a permittee shall be subject to the following conditions relating 
to insurance:
A. Before a permit is issued, the applicant must submit a certificate of insurance in an amount 
not exceeding $1,000,000 naming the City of Capitola as additional insured for protection 
against claims of third persons for personal injuries, wrongful deaths, and property damage. 
Higher liability limits or separate aerial coverage shall be required for the use of helicopters 
and/or drones. City officers and employees shall also be named as additional insured. An 
applicant must provide evidence of insurance coverage that will not expire until the completion 
of all planned production activities, including the strike and restoration of all locations. A copy of 
the certificate will remain on file. 
The City Manager may change the scope and policy limits based upon recommendations given 
to the City by the City’s risk manager on such insurance matters.
B. The applicant shall conform to all applicable Federal and State requirements for Worker’s 
Compensation Insurance for all persons operating under a permit. 

8.D

Packet Pg. 73



Film Ordinance Adoption 
November 23, 2021

C. A copy of the policy or a certificate of insurance along with all necessary endorsements must 
be filed with the City not less than three (3) business days prior to the filming activity unless the 
City Manager for good cause waives the filing deadline.
D. Proof of insurance coverage as specified in this section must be verified by the City prior to 
issuance of a film permit by the City Manager.

9.62.110 Indemnification and liability.
The issuance of a film permit to a permittee shall be subject to the following conditions relating 
to indemnification and liability:
A. Prior to the issuance of the film permit, the applicant must sign an agreement in a form 
approved by the City Attorney agreeing to reimburse the City of Capitola for any costs incurred 
to repair or replace City property which is damaged as the result of the filming activity.
B. The agreement shall also provide that the permittee shall defend, indemnify and hold 
harmless the City, its officers, agents, volunteers or employees from all claims and liability of 
any kind whatsoever resulting from or arising out of the filming activity or issuance of the film 
permit except when caused by the willful act or sole negligence of the City, its officers, agents, 
volunteers or employees. 
C. The City Manager may require all of applicant’s employees, independent contractors, or 
other workers to sign an indemnification and release form.
D.  The City Manager may require additional indemnifications if the proposed film activity 
presents significant risk of harm to the City.

9.62.120 Security Deposit
The City Manager may require the applicant to submit a refundable security deposit to ensure 
cleanup and restoration of location sites.  Upon completion of filming and inspection of the site 
by the City, if no verifiable damage has occurred, the security deposit shall be returned to the 
applicant.

9.62.130 Duties of permittee.
The general duties of a permittee are as follows:
A. Each permittee shall comply with all terms and conditions of the permit. Failure to comply 
with all permit terms and conditions is grounds for permit revocation by the City Manager.
B. Each permittee shall clean and restore all City-owned property utilized during the filming 
activity to the same condition as existed prior to the filming, unless prior approval is received 
from the City Manager to leave the City property in an “improved” condition.
C. The person in charge of the filming activity shall retain a copy of the film permit on location.

9.62.140 Regulations.
The City Manager is authorized to promulgate further rules regulating filming activity in the City.

9.62.150 Appeals.
An appeal of any action under this chapter may be brought pursuant to Chapter 2.52 of this 
code.

9.62.160 Penalties.
Any violation of the provisions of this chapter shall constitute an infraction. At the discretion of 
the city attorney, any additional violation committed within one year may be prosecuted as a 
misdemeanor. In addition to any other available remedies and penalties, said violation(s) shall 
be subject to the legal, equitable and administrative remedies and penalties provided for 
elsewhere in this code.

8.D

Packet Pg. 74



Film Ordinance Adoption 
November 23, 2021

Section 3: Severability 

The City Council hereby declares every section, paragraph, sentence, clause, and phrase of 
this ordinance is severable. If any section, paragraph, sentence, clause, or phrase of this 
ordinance is for any reason found to be invalid or unconstitutional, such invalidity or 
unconstitutionality shall not affect the validity or constitutionality of the remaining sections, 
paragraphs, sentences, clauses, or phrases.

Section 4: Effective Date 

This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect thirty (30) days from its passage and adoption.

This ordinance was introduced on the 28th day of October, 2021, and passed first reading on 
the 28th day of October 2021 and was adopted by the City Council of the City of Capitola on the 
23rd day of November 2021, by the following vote:

AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:  
ABSTAIN:  

  APPROVED: 

_____________________________
 Yvette Brooks, Mayor

ATTEST:

________________________________
Chloé Woodmansee, City Clerk

8.D

Packet Pg. 75



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
AGENDA REPORT

MEETING OF NOVEMBER 23, 2021

FROM: City Manager Department

SUBJECT: Consider Side Letter to Existing Memoranda of Understanding with Association 
of Capitola Employees Regarding Vacation Cash-Out Provisions 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Authorize the City Manager to execute a side letter agreement to 
existing Memoranda of Understanding (MOU) with the Association of Capitola Employees 
(ACE).

BACKGROUND: In negotiations with employee groups during the COVID-19 pandemic, the 
groups agreed to suspend both mandatory and optional vacation cash-out provision. This 
decision was made when the City was concerned about cash flow due to the pandemic.

DISCUSSION: The suspension of the vacation cash out helped with City cash flow; 
unfortunately, it has created a situation where the City will not be able to reduce some 
employees’ vacation balances to the amount listed in the MOU during the annual vacation cash 
out in May.

The City and ACE have agreed to a one-time vacation cash out in December of 2021 to allow 
those employees above the specified limits to get to the required amount in May. This will 
replace the vacation cash out that did not occur in May 2021. 

FISCAL IMPACT: The cost of the one-time cash will be approximately $3,000, which will be 
covered by the Compensated Absence Liability Fund. There is no long-term cost as the 
vacation liability has already been accrued.

ATTACHMENTS:

1. ACE and City Side Letter Cashout 11-2021 (PDF)

Report Prepared By:  Larry Laurent
Assistant to the City Manager

8.E

Packet Pg. 76



Employee Agreements 
November 23, 2021

Reviewed and Forwarded by:

8.E

Packet Pg. 77



 
SIDE LETTER BETWEEN CITY OF CAPITOLA AND ASSOCIATION OF 

CAPITOLA EMPLOYEES 
 

 
Pursuant the provisions of the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act (“MMBA”), this Side Letter of 
Agreement (“Side Letter Agreement”) is entered between the City of Capitola (“City”) 
and the Association of Capitola Employees (“ACE”) (collectively, “the Parties”). 
 
WHEREAS, the Parties recognized that during the COVID-19 pandemic the financial 
situation of the City of Capitola was unknown; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Parties collectively bargained the suspension of the Mandatory 
Vacation Cash Out in May of 2021; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Parties understand the need to reduce maximum vacation accrual 
balances to the amount listed in the MOU; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Parties reaffirm their commitment to collaborative labor relations; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Parties have met and conferred in good faith, in accordance with the 
MMBA, concerning the terms and conditions of this Side Letter Agreement. 
 
IT IS HEREBY AGREED that the existing MOU ending and shall be amended as 

follows: 

V.G   ONE TIME VACATION MANDATORY CASH OUT 

An employee who has accumulated more than 360 hours or who is subject to a 

higher accumulation level under Section V(B)(2), as of the pay period ending 

11/27/2021 shall be paid in cash at a rate equal to 100% of his/her current hourly 

pay rate for all hours in excess of 360 or that applicable higher accumulation 

level except that such payment shall not exceed the employee's annual vacation 

accrual amount. This cash payout will be included with the paycheck for the pay 

period beginning on 11/28/2021. 

This Side Letter Agreement is effective November 23, 2021.  This Side Letter 

Agreement shall supersede any inconsistent provisions in the Parties’ MOU and shall 

be incorporated into the MOU by this reference. 

 
 
            
 
 
 
 

8.E.1

Packet Pg. 78

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

C
E

 a
n

d
 C

it
y 

S
id

e 
L

et
te

r 
C

as
h

o
u

t 
11

-2
02

1 
 (

E
m

p
lo

ye
e 

A
g

re
em

en
ts

)



 
Association of Capitola Employees           City of Capitola 
 
 
By:  __________________________  By:  __________________________ 
 Ryan Heron      Jamie Goldstein 

        City Manager 

 

Date: ___________________________ Date: __________________________ 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

8.E.1

Packet Pg. 79

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

C
E

 a
n

d
 C

it
y 

S
id

e 
L

et
te

r 
C

as
h

o
u

t 
11

-2
02

1 
 (

E
m

p
lo

ye
e 

A
g

re
em

en
ts

)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
AGENDA REPORT

MEETING OF NOVEMBER 23, 2021

FROM: City Manager Department

SUBJECT: Receive Update on Pandemic Response

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Make the determination that all hazards related to the worldwide 
spread of the coronavirus (COVID-19) as detailed in Resolution No. 4168 adopted by the City 
Council on March 12, 2020, still exist and that there is a need to continue action.

BACKGROUND: In December 2019, an outbreak of a respiratory illness linked to the novel 
coronavirus (COVID-19) was first identified. In March 2020, the State of California, the County 
of Santa Cruz, and the City of Capitola each declared a state of emergency due to the virus. 
Also in March 2020, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a pandemic.

State and local health officers issued health orders to stop the spread of COVID-19; in Santa 
Cruz County this included March, April, and May 2020 Shelter-In-Place orders that were more 
restrictive than statewide guidance. Since then, the County Health Officer has incorporated all 
Orders of the State Public Health Officer, which set baseline statewide restrictions on travel and 
business activities. 

In early-November 2021 the world reached a sobering milestone; more than 5 million people 
worldwide have died of COVID-19. This is likely an undercount of all those that have died from 
the virus. There have been 247 million cases reported worldwide. 

Since the beginning of the pandemic in the United States more than 47 million COVID-19 cases 
have been reported and more than 766,206 people have died from the virus.

In California, 72,847 deaths have been reported; there is a daily average of 56 deaths a day (up 
from 38 two weeks ago) due to COVID-19. According to data from November 17, the average 
new COVID-19 case count per 100k was 11.5.

Vaccines for Younger Age Groups & Boosters

On October 29, the FDA authorized emergency use of the Pfizer-BiNTech COVID-19 vaccine 
for individuals aged 5 to 12. On November 2, the CDC Advisory Panel voted that the newly 
authorized vaccine should be recommended for all children in the 5 to 12 age group. Vaccines 
for children aged 5 to 12 are now available. 

According to data recorded on November 17 by the CDC, more than 57 million COVID-19 
vaccine doses have been delivered in the State of California. There are 25,215,484 (66.9%) 
people fully vaccinated and 3,042,644 (8.1%) are partially vaccinated. There is an average 
vaccination rate of about 182,226 doses per day. All Californians aged 5 and older are eligible 
for a vaccination.

8.F

Packet Pg. 80



COVID-19 Emergency- Update 36 
November 23, 2021

Recently, the State of California announced that nearly everyone is now eligible for a booster 
shot and is (along with Santa Cruz County Health Department) encouraging all to get a booster 
shot as soon as possible. You are eligible if:

1) You got a Pfizer or Moderna vaccine and feel you’re at risk, at least 6 months ago

2) If you got a Johnson & Johnson vaccine at least 2 months ago.

Booster shots can be a different vaccine brand than you received before, as long as you 
completed your original vaccine series (one dose of Johnson & Johnson or two doses of Pfizer 
or Moderna). 

As of November 17, the total number of vaccinations administered in Santa Cruz County is 
412,219. In the County, there are 197,589 (or 72.32%) people vaccinated with at least one 
dose, and 184, 417 (67.60%) are fully vaccinated.

Local Case Numbers and Statistics in Santa Cruz County

As of November 18, there were 20,721 total known COVID-19 cases in Santa Cruz County.
Rather than the total number of all COVID-19 cases since March 2020, it is helpful to compare 
the currently active known case count to identify trends and/or a surge. On November 4 the 
active case count was 326 and on November 18 that number was 455. As of November 18, 
COVID-19 has claimed 222 people’s lives in the County.

DISCUSSION: City Hall has been open to the public since June 2020 in one configuration or 
another, dependent upon applicable health guidance and local COVID-19 case levels. Current 
City Hall operations are business as usual, with masking required of all regardless of 
vaccination statue when in public spaces (not in private, individual office spaces). Members of 
the public are helped one-at-a-time at the front counter and masks are required to enter City 
Hall. 

New Mask Mandate

On November 19, the Santa Cruz County Health Officer issued a new Order requiring the use of 
face coverings indoors, regardless of vaccination status. The new Order is effective at midnight 
November 21, 2021, and states that masks must be worn in private settings when non-
household members are present. 

Health Officer Newell stated that “a potential winter surge appears to be a significant threat to 
the health and safety of our community”. The Order will remain in effect until it is rescinded, 
superseded, or amended in writing by the Health Officers, considering hospitalizations, variants 
of concern, and case and vaccination rates. 

If major changes occur between the date of agenda publication and the City Council meeting, 
further updates on the regional and local coronavirus response will be provided in a verbal 
report at the meeting. 

FISCAL IMPACT: Fiscal impacts are continually reviewed by Staff as business restrictions and 
consumer behaviors change in our community. In addition, the City Council has set aside 
$600,000 to help ensure the City has available resources should the pandemic result in further 
unforeseen impacts, which remains in the approved FY 2021/22 Budget. 

Report Prepared By:  Chloe Woodmansee
City Clerk

8.F

Packet Pg. 81



COVID-19 Emergency- Update 36 
November 23, 2021

Reviewed and Forwarded by:

8.F

Packet Pg. 82



S T A F F  R E P O R T 

TO: PLANNING COMMISSION

FROM: COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

DATE: NOVEMBER 23, 2021

SUBJECT: Outdoor Dining Ordinance

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
1. Consider Planning Commission recommendations regarding the draft outdoor dining 

ordinance and either:
a. Provide direction on the draft ordinance and consider a schedule for a first 

reading and adoption, or
b. Introduce by title only, waiving further reading of the text, an ordinance of the City 

Council of the City of Capitola repealing and replacing Municipal Code Sections 
17.96.170 and amending Municipal Code Section 17.120.030, related to outdoor 
dining in the public right of way; or

2. Consider options to extend, terminate, or modify the temporary outdoor dining program, 
currently scheduled to end on January 3, 2022. 

OVERVIEW: The City is considering an update to the zoning code to permanently allow outdoor 
dining within the public right-of-way and on private property with the appropriate City-issued 
permit.  Currently, outdoor dining is permitted in the public right-of-way pursuant to a temporary 
policy adopted pursuant to the City’s emergency authority.  That policy is set to expire on 
January 3, 2022. 

BACKGROUND: In June of 2020, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic and the ensuing 
social distancing orders, the City issued temporary permits to local restaurants to provide
outdoor dining. The existing outdoor dining COVID-19 temporary use permits are valid through 
January 3, 2022.

On April 22, 2021, City Council directed staff to develop a program for permanent outdoor 
dining. Over the course of the next several months, the City Council held two additional 
hearings regarding a permanent outdoor dining program, received results from two public 
surveys, and provided direction on key elements of a program to staff.

On September 30, 2021, the public review draft of the outdoor dining ordinance was published 
on the City website.  

On October 7, 2021, the Planning Commission reviewed the draft outdoor dining ordinance, 
provided staff with direction, and continued the public hearing to November 4, 2021. The 
Planning Commission requested additional public notice beyond the required published notice in 
a local newspaper. The City sent postcards to all residents and businesses within the Village. 
The City posted public notice throughout the Village and on the existing temporary outdoor 
dining decks. 

9.A

Packet Pg. 83



On November 7, 2021, the Planning Commission provided direction on the draft ordinance but 
ultimately recommend the Council delay adoption of the ordinance until the City has a prototype 
design in place.  

DISCUSSION: At the November 7th meeting, the Planning Commission recommended 
significant changes to that draft ordinance. Staff has thus brought two draft ordinances to the 
Council this evening. Draft #1 includes all revisions recommended by the Planning Commission.  
Draft #2 includes only those recommended changes that staff believes are consistent with the 
Council’s original direction. The following chart summarizes the Council’s direction and both 
draft ordinances.

Program 
Component

Prior Council 
Direction

Draft Ordinance #1 
(Planning Commission 
Recommendation)

Draft Ordinance #2 
(Prior Council 
Direction)

Maximum 
number of 
street parking 
spaces

25 25 Same as Draft Ordinance 
#1

Location of 
Sidewalk 
Dining

Monterey Avenue 
and on the Wharf

Removed all sidewalk dining Monterey Avenue and 
the Wharf 

Permit for 
Sidewalk 
Dining

N/A Removed all sidewalk dining Requires design permit 
from Planning 
Commission

Location of 
Street Dining 
Decks

Esplanade, 
Monterey Avenue, 
Capitola Avenue, 
and San Jose 
Avenue

Allow on Esplanade and San 
Jose Avenue. Remove 
Monterey Avenue and Capitola 
Avenue

Allow on Esplanade, 
Monterey Avenue, 
Capitola Avenue, and 
San Jose Avenue. 

Permit for 
Street Dining 
Decks

Prototype –
Administrative 
Permit by staff

Custom Design –
Design Permit by 
Planning 
Commission

Prototype –Administrative 
Permit by staff

Custom Design – Design 
Permit by Planning 
Commission

Same as Draft Ordinance 
#1

Bicycle 
Parking

Require 2 bicycle 
parking spaces 
within the street 
dining deck 
design for each 
automobile 
parking space 
removed.

Added in-lieu fee alternative to 
be used for a central public 
bicycle parking location in 
village.  If the central parking 
location is within a vehicle 
parking spaces, the spaces 
utilized are counted toward the 
25-space maximum 

Same as Draft Ordinance 
#1

Sound Prohibit amplified 
sound

Prohibit amplified sound and 
all music

Same as Draft Ordinance 
#1

Signs No additional 
signs allowed for 
outdoor dining.

Allow one business 
identification sign and one 
menu sign. Size should be 
determined within the 

Allow one business 
identification sign and 
one menu sign.  
Maximum size of two 

9.A

Packet Pg. 84



prototype design. square feet for each sign.
Materials Require high 

quality, durable 
materials

Added objective guidance of 
acceptable and discouraged 
materials 

17.96.170.G  Allowed 
materials include finished or 
painted wood, glass, 
ornamental steel or iron, and 
decorative masonry.  Plastic, 
fabric, woven bamboo, or 
chain link/wire fencing 
materials are discouraged.

Same as Draft Ordinance 
#1

Activated 
Space

N/A Require restaurant be open a 
minimum of five days per week 
and utilize outdoor dining while 
open, weather permitting

Same as Draft Ordinance 
#1

Stormwater
Requirements

N/A Added “Street dining decks 
shall not block the drainage 
flow along the gutter line or 
access into any drain inlet or 
other drainage or stormwater 
facility.”

Same as Draft Ordinance 
#1

Utilities Added “Outdoor dining shall 
not interfere with utility boxes, 
water hydrants, storm drains, 
and all other related facilities”

Same as Draft Ordinance 
#1

Maintenance Require the 
outdoor dining 
areas be 
maintained

Added “Trash shall be picked 
up and properly disposed of; 
flower boxes and planters shall 
contain live, healthy 
vegetation; and all tables, 
chairs, equipment, and 
structures must be kept clean 
and operational.”

Same as Draft Ordinance 
#1

Administrative 
Policy

Allow City 
Manager to 
authorize outdoor 
dining 
administrative 
policy

Require City Council 
authorization of any changes 
to the outdoor dining admin 
policy.

Same as Draft Ordinance 
#1

Outdoor 
Dining on 
Private 
Property

No direction 
provided. CUP 
required for 
outdoor dining on 
private property

Remove Section 17.96.175 for 
outdoor dining on private 
property

Same as Draft Ordinance 
#1

Enforcement: The original draft ordinance included a procedure for enforcement.  The Planning 
Commission recommended that portions of the enforcement section be removed from the 
ordinance, and instead included in the administrative policy. The section on enforcement has 
been modified to reference applicable sections of code and the administrative policy. 

9.A

Packet Pg. 85



Outdoor Dining on Private Property: The original ordinance added Section 17.96.175 for outdoor 
dining on private property.  The new section required a Conditional Use Permit but did not 
include specific review criteria for the outdoor dining.  The Planning Commission requested the 
section be removed from the ordinance due to concerns for expanding outdoor dining on private 
property without the ability to require additional onsite parking and the displacement of existing 
parking should a property owner suggest having outdoor dining within existing parking spaces.     

Business Input: Last May, the City surveyed business owners and the public regarding outdoor 
dining. Staff presented those results to Council at a hearing on June 24. Based on Council 
feedback on November 11, Staff will be contacting restaurants on the Esplanade who 
participate in the temporary outdoor dining program (where City staff surveys have shown low 
utilization rates) to see if their plans to utilize a potential permanent program have changed 
since the City’s prior business survey. Results of that feedback will be provided at the hearing
on November 23.

Blanket Coastal Development Permit: The Coastal Commission allows a blanket coastal 
development permit (CDP) to act as an overarching permit that can be applied to multiple 
properties within the coastal zone. Upon Planning Commission approval of a blanket CDP for a 
prototype design, the blanket CDP would be applicable to any applicant utilizing the prototype 
design.  No additional public hearings will be required for applicants utilizing the prototype 
design.

Coastal Commission Review and Consistency with the Local Coastal Program (LCP) 
The Coastal Commission must certify the outdoor dining ordinance prior to it taking effect in the 
Coastal Zone. In June, staff began working with Coastal Commission staff to receive early 
feedback on a future program. The Coastal Commission staff expressed concerns with outdoor 
dining related to the Coastal Act’s goal of maximizing public access and public recreation.  

To receive Coastal Commission certification, mitigation for public access concerns raised by 
Coastal staff should be incorporated into the outdoor dining program. Coastal staff suggested 
the following measures to help minimize and mitigate the impacts to public access/recreation to 
the maximum extent feasible: 

1. Reduce the overall amount of displaced parking spaces from what was originally 
permitted under the COVID-19 temporary use permit program.

2. Initiate the program with temporary (i.e., 1-5 year) authorization that requires a Coastal 
Development Permit (CDP) extension, thereby building in the opportunity to re-evaluate 
the program once it has been operating, making any changes desired or necessary, and 
ensuring LCP/Coastal Act consistency. 

a. Issue one CDP for the entire outdoor dining program as opposed to individual 
CDPs for each business.

3. Use funds from outdoor dining permits to reinvest in coastal access including the shuttle 
program, coastal park beautification, coastal access signage, new bike racks, sidewalk 
improvements, maintenance of existing parking, etc. 

The draft ordinance incorporates elements that address all Coastal Commission staff 
suggestions to mitigate impacts to public access and recreation and ensure the ordinance is 
consistent with the City’s LCP.  The number of outdoor dining spaces is capped at 25, which is 
less than half the number of spaces allowed under the COVID-19 temporary use permit 
program. As directed by City Council, the maximum encroachment permit term is three years. 

9.A

Packet Pg. 86



This will allow enough time to see how the program is operating and adjust as necessary.  The 
ordinance includes a requirement that no less than 50 percent of revenues received from 
outdoor dining permit fees be utilized for coastal access programs, maintenance, and 
improvements. The City currently allocates more than $800,000 per year for coastal access-
related programs. If all 25 spaces are ultimately permitted for outdoor dining, the program would 
generate $85,000 per year, and could be used to fund roughly 11% of the City’s annual coastal 
access-related expenditures.

Administrative Policy I-36
The outdoor dining will be located within the public right-of-way, an area owned and maintained 
by the City.  The ordinance is accompanied by an administrative policy to provide guidance on 
how the City will utilize the right-of-way in the Village for outdoor dining, allocate parking spaces, 
and charge fees. The policy also outlines required permits, and terms for a revokable 
encroachment permit, including enforcement for violations.  There is some overlap between the 
policy and the ordinance, as the policy will be provided to applicants as an overview of the City’s 
outdoor dining program.  The administrative policy for the Village Outdoor Dining Program is 
included as Attachment 1.  

The following table includes key program elements which are included in the policy:  

Administrative Policy Key Program Elements

Overall Cap • Limit number of on street parking spaces allocated to the program to 
25 (~50% of existing)

• Limit businesses to parking spaces fronting their businesses

Allocation pf 
Parking 
Spaces

• Lottery System for 25 parking spaces. 

Fees • Set City permit fees at zero
• Provide no construction assistance to businesses
• Charge rent space of $3,400/parking space per year with annual CPI 

adjustment
Encroachment 
Permit Term

• 3 years

Maintenance • Provisions requiring the outdoor dining decks be maintained and kept 
clean. 

• Unmaintained dining decks would first receive courtesy noticing with 
elevated enforcement, including fines and removal.  Cost of removal 
will be covered by deposit.

Safety • Engineered safety measures will be incorporated into the prototype 
designs and be a requirement of any custom design developed.

Next Steps: The outdoor dining ordinance requires Planning Commission recommendation, City 
Council adoption, and Coastal Commission certification.  On November 4, 2021, the Planning 
Commission provided edits to the draft ordinance but ultimately recommended the City Council 
delay adoption of the ordinance until a prototype design is in place. The Commissioners were 
interested in seeing a prototype design prior to adoption to ensure the regulations outlined in the 
ordinance ultimately support the best design.  Areas of concern were the impact of angled 
parking and whether two bicycles per parking space could be accommodated within the dining 

9.A

Packet Pg. 87



deck design. Staff has requested proposals for a prototype design and anticipates having a first 
draft design to Planning Commission by February/March of 2022.  

At this point, the Council’s options include:

1. Direct modifications to either draft ordinance.  If any modifications go beyond what the 
Commission has already considered, the ordinance will need to go back to the 
Commission for further consideration and recommendation.  

2. Hold a the first reading of Draft #1 or Draft #2 of the outdoor dining ordinance.  The 
second reading would be scheduled for December 9.  Within this timeline, staff 
anticipates Coastal Commission certification by March, and a blanket CDP approval by 
April 2022.

3. Delay further consideration of this item until the prototype design is developed and the 
Commission has had an opportunity to review the design.  At that point, the Commission 
may wish to make further recommendations regarding the ordinance.  Under this option, 
the Commission would likely provide its further recommendation in April, with ordinance 
adoption hearings by City Council in May, and Coastal Commission certification in 
August of 2022. Upon certification, the Planning Commission will review an application 
for a blanket CDP and design permit for the prototype design, likely in September of 
2022.

Temporary Covid-19 Outdoor Use Permits
The temporary Covid-19 outdoor use permits are scheduled to expire on January 3, 2022. 
During the November 10, City Council meeting, the Council requested the discussion on 
temporary outdoor dining return with the draft ordinance. The City Council may allow the 
temporary program to expire or could terminate, extend, or modify the temporary outdoor dining 
program during the November 24, 2021, hearing.

CEQA
Introducing either draft ordinance qualifies for the Categorical Exemption found at CEQA 
Guidelines pursuant to Section 15305 (Class 5) and 15311 (Class 11) of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA).  The Class 5 categorical exemption (Minor Alterations in 
Land Use Limitations) covers projects that consist of minor alterations in land use limitation in 
areas with an average slope of less than 20%, which do not result in any changes in land use or 
density. The Class 11 categorical exemption (Accessory Structures) covers projects that consist 
of construction or placement of minor structures that are accessory to existing commercial, 
industrial, or institutional facilities. The introduction of either draft ordinance is consistent with 
these two exemptions, because the requested action will not result in a direct or reasonably 
foreseeable change in the environment and because there is no possibility that the activity in 
question may have a significant effect on the environment.

ATTACHMENTS:

1. DRAFT ORDINANCE 1 Planning Commission Recommendation
2. DRAFT ORDINANCE 2
3. Outdoor Dining in Capitola Village Policy
4. Capitola Street Frontage Dining Ordinance Noise Memo
5. Letter from English Ales

Prepared By: Katie Herlihy

9.A

Packet Pg. 88



Community Development Director

9.A

Packet Pg. 89



DRAFT ORDINANCE #1: Planning Commission Recommendation 
Note, all Planning Commission recommended edits from the October 7, 2021, and 
November 4, 2021, are in red.

ORDINANCE NO. XXXX

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA 
REPEALING AND REPLACING MUNICIPAL CODE SECTIONS 17.96.170, AND 

AMENDING MUNICIPAL CODE SECTION 17.120.030,  
RELATED TO OUTDOOR DINING IN THE PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY

WHEREAS, the State of California and Santa Cruz County established social distancing 
requirements in response to the COVID-19 pandemic that prohibited indoor dining at restaurants 
in Capitola; and

WHEREAS, in response to the pandemic and social distancing orders, the City issued 
temporary use permits to local restaurants to provide outdoor dining; and

WHEREAS, in 2020 and 2021 approximately 24 restaurants in Capitola were granted 
temporary use permits under this program to provide outdoor dining; and 

WHEREAS, on April 22, 2021, the City Council directed staff to develop a program for 
permanent outdoor dining and to bring the program back to the Council for review and possible 
adoption;

WHEREAS, Municipal Code Section 17.96.170 contains existing requirements for temporary 
sidewalk dining in the public right-of-way; and

WHEREAS, the proposed program for permanent outdoor dining would replace existing 
Municipal Code Section 17.96.170 with new standards to allow for street dining decks in addition 
to sidewalk dining; 

WHEREAS, the City aims to allow for streamlined approval of prototype street dining decks 
utilizing a design that has been preauthorized by the Planning Commission.

WHEREAS, the City aims to balance the desire for permanent outdoor dining in the public 
right-of-way with adequate public parking and coastal access;

WHEREAS, City staff consulted with Coastal Commission staff in the preparation of the 
Zoning Ordinance amendments to ensure that the proposed program and ordinance would 
comply with the California Coastal Act and Capitola’s Local Coastal Program; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Vehicle Code section 22507(a), cities may, by ordinance or resolution 
restrict or otherwise remove parking from City streets during all or certain hours of the day; and

WHEREAS, the proposed Zoning Ordinance amendments to allow for permanent outdoor 
dining in the public right-of-way qualify for the Exemption found at CEQA Guidelines Section 
15305 and 15311; and

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission held a duly noticed public hearing on October 7, 2021, 

9.A.1

Packet Pg. 90

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

R
A

F
T

 O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

 1
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 R

ec
o

m
m

en
d

at
io

n
  (

D
ra

ft
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 f
o

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
es

ig
n

 P
er

m
it

)



at which time it reviewed the proposed amendments, considered all public comments on the 
revisions and related CEQA exemption, and provided a unanimous positive recommendation on 
the proposed ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, based upon the Planning Commission recommendation, the City Council 
determined that the amendments are consistent with the General Plan and that the revisions 
would be internally consistent with all other provisions of the Municipal Code.   

WHEREAS, the amendments would become a component of Implementation Plan of the 
City’s Local Coastal Program and is intended to be implemented in a manner that is in full 
conformance with the California Coastal Act.   

BE IT ORDAINED By the City of Capitola as follows:

Section 1. The above findings are adopted and incorporated herein.

Section 2. Section 17.96.170 (Temporary Outdoor Dining) of the Capitola Municipal Code 
is hereby repealed in its entirety and replaced with Outdoor Dining in Public Right of Way with 
additions shown as underline and deletions shown with strikethrough to read as follows: 

17.96.170 Temporary Outdoor Dining
This section establishes requirements for temporary outdoor dining areas located on a public 
sidewalk or other area within the public right-of-way.

A. Required Permits. Temporary outdoor dining within the public right-of-way requires an 

Administrative Permit and an Encroachment Permit. Temporary outdoor dining may require 

a Coastal Development Permit as specified by Chapter 17.44 (Coastal Overlay Zone) if any 

part of the site is located in the coastal zone and the proposed development shall conform 

with the CDP findings for approval as specified in 17.44.130 (Findings for Approval).

B. Permitted Zoning Districts.  Temporary outdoor dining within the public right of way is 

allowed in the Commercial Community (C-C), Commercial Regional (C-R), and Mixed Use, 

Neighborhood (MU-N) zoning districts.  Temporary outdoor dining within the public right of 

way is not permitted in the Mixed Use Village (MU-V) zoning district. 

C. Standards.  Temporary sidewalk dining shall comply with the following standards.

1. Location. Outside dining is permitted on the public sidewalk:

a. When incidental to and part of a restaurant; and

b. Along the restaurant’s frontage.

2. Number of Dining Areas. An indoor restaurant may operate only one outside dining 

area confined to a single location.

3. Safe Passage.

a. Temporary sidewalk dining is permitted only where the sidewalk is wide enough to 

adequately accommodate both the usual pedestrian traffic in the area and the 

operation of the outside dining area.

b. The sidewalk immediately adjacent to the restaurant shall have adequate space to 

accommodate tables and chairs and shall provide adequate safe passage along the 

9.A.1

Packet Pg. 91

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

R
A

F
T

 O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

 1
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 R

ec
o

m
m

en
d

at
io

n
  (

D
ra

ft
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 f
o

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
es

ig
n

 P
er

m
it

)



sidewalk for pedestrian and wheelchair users of the sidewalk. Safe and adequate 

passage of at least 4 feet in width shall be provided along the sidewalk and from the 

curb to the sidewalk. No tables or chairs or any other objects shall be placed or 

allowed to remain on any sidewalk that inhibit such passage.

4. Furniture and Signage Location.

a. Tables and chairs in a sidewalk dining area shall be set back at least 2 feet from any 

curb and from any sidewalk or street barrier, including a bollard, and at least 8 feet 

from a bus stop.

b. All outdoor dining furniture, including tables, chairs, umbrellas, and planters, shall 

be movable.

c. All temporary improvements to separate the outdoor dining area from the sidewalk, 

such as a railing, shall relate to the architectural design of the primary restaurant 

structure in color, materials, and scale.  

d. Umbrellas shall be secured with a minimum base of not less than 60 pounds.

e. All signs are subject to Chapter 17.80.

5. Food and Beverages. The service of alcoholic beverages within the sidewalk dining 

area requires a Conditional Use Permit, and shall comply with the following 

requirements:

a. The outside dining area shall be situated immediately adjacent to and abutting the 

indoor restaurant which provides it with food and beverage service.

b. The outside dining area shall be clearly separate and delineated from the areas of 

the sidewalk which remains open to pedestrian traffic.

c. One or more signs shall be posted during hours of operation stating that alcohol is 

prohibited outside of the dining area.

d. The outside dining area shall receive all licenses required for on-site consumption 

of alcoholic beverages from State authorities.

6. Trash and Maintenance.

a. Storage of trash is prohibited within or adjacent to the sidewalk dining area. All trash 

and litter shall be removed as it accumulates or otherwise becomes a public 

nuisance.

b. The sidewalk dining area, including the sidewalk surface and furniture, shall be 

maintained in a clean and safe condition.

7. Hours of Operation. Sidewalk dining may occur between 7 a.m. and 10 p.m. seven 

days a week.  Tables, chairs, other outdoor dining furniture, and all other structures and 

materials associated with the outdoor dining area shall be removed from the sidewalk 

and stored indoors at night and when the sidewalk dining area is not in operation.

9.A.1

Packet Pg. 92

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

R
A

F
T

 O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

 1
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 R

ec
o

m
m

en
d

at
io

n
  (

D
ra

ft
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 f
o

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
es

ig
n

 P
er

m
it

)



17.96.170 Outdoor Dining in Public Right of Way

A. Purpose. This section establishes standards and permit requirements for outdoor dining in the 
public right-of-way.

B. Definitions.

1. Outdoor Dining.  “Outdoor dining” means and includes both sidewalk dining and street 
dining decks.

2. Sidewalk Dining. “Sidewalk dining” means the use of an outdoor sidewalk area within the 
public-right-of-way, by a private business that is an eating and drinking establishment, for 
eating and drinking activities.

3. Street Dining Deck. A street dining deck means a platform or similar level surface within 
the public right-of-way and extending beyond the curb and into a roadway or on-street 
parking area for use by a private business that is an eating or drinking establishment.

a. Custom Street Dining Deck. A custom street dining deck is a street dining deck 
designed by the applicant. 

b. Prototype Street Dining Deck.  A prototype street dining deck is a street dining deck 
utilizing a design that has been preauthorized by the Planning Commission. 

C. Where Allowed.

1. Sidewalk Dining.

a. Sidewalk dining is allowed in the MU-N, MU-V, C-C, and C-R zoning districts.

b. In the MU-V zoning district, sidewalk dining is allowed only on Monterey Avenue and 
on the Capitola Wharf immediately adjacent to the restaurant it serves.

2. Street Dining Decks. Street dining decks are allowed only in the MU-V zoning district and 
only on the Esplanade, Monterey Avenue, Capitola Avenue, and San Jose Avenue.

D. Maximum Number of On-Street Parking Spaces. A maximum of 25 total on-street parking 
spaces may be used for street dining decks.  Spaces shall be allocated by the City Manager in 
accordance with administrative policies issued pursuant to this section. On-street parking spaces 
utilized for in-lieu bicycle parking shall count toward the maximum 25 spaces.

E. Permits and Approvals.

1. Required Permits. Table 17.96-2 shows permits required for sidewalk dining and street 
dining decks. 

Table 17.96-2: Permits Required for Outdoor Dining in Public Right-of-way

Type of Outdoor Dining Permit Required [2] 
[3]

Zoning Code Chapter

Sidewalk Dining Administrative Design
Permit

17.116

Street Dining Decks

9.A.1

Packet Pg. 93

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

R
A

F
T

 O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

 1
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 R

ec
o

m
m

en
d

at
io

n
  (

D
ra

ft
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 f
o

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
es

ig
n

 P
er

m
it

)



Prototype Street Dining Deck [1] Administrative Permit 17.116

Custom Street Dining Deck Design Permit 17.120

[1] Prototype dining deck designs are identified in the adopted Village Outdoor Dining Program 
Administrative Policy No. I-36.
[2] Outdoor dining in the public right-of-way also requires an encroachment permit pursuant to 
Municipal Code Chapter 12.56. Minor encroachment permits for applications for prototype street 
dining decks may be issued by the Public Works Director and major encroachment permits for 
custom street dining decks may be issued by the Planning Commission.

[3] A street dining deck or sidewalk dining area located in the coastal zone may require a coastal 
development permit (CDP) as specified in Chapter 17.44 (Coastal Overlay Zone).

2. Administrative Permit Standards.  All applications for an Administrative Permit are 
reviewed and acted on by the Community Development Director and must comply with the 
following standards:

a. Any includedThe street dining deck must be designed consistent with a prototype design 
approved by the Planning Commission.

b. The sidewalk dining area orThe street dining deck must comply with all applicable 
requirements of this section, the Zoning Code, and all other applicable laws, 
administrative policies, rules, and regulations.

c. If located in the coastal zone, the sidewalk dining area or street dining deck is consistent 
with the Local Coastal Program and will not adversely impact coastal resources, coastal 
access, and coastal views.

d. The street dining deck or sidewalk dining area must utilize high-quality, durable materials 
that are compatible with surrounding development and can withstand inclement 
weather.

e. A prototypeThe street dining decks must use a design authorized by a valid coastal 
development permit.  

3. Design Permit Findings. All applications for a Design Permit are viewed and acted on by 
the Planning Commission. Notwithstanding Municipal Code Section 17.120.080 (Findings 
for Approval), for Design Permits issued pursuant to this section, the Planning Commission 
shall make the following findings and need not make those findings set forth in section 
17.120.080the Planning Commission shall not make the Design Permit findings in Section 
17.120.080, and instead shall make the following findings:

a. The sidewalk dining area or street dining deck complies with all applicable requirements 
of this section, the Zoning Code, and all other applicable laws, administrative policies, 
rules, and regulations.

b. If located in the coastal zone, the sidewalk dining area or street dining deck is consistent 
with the Local Coastal Program and will not adversely impact coastal resources, coastal 
access, and coastal views.

9.A.1

Packet Pg. 94

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

R
A

F
T

 O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

 1
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 R

ec
o

m
m

en
d

at
io

n
  (

D
ra

ft
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 f
o

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
es

ig
n

 P
er

m
it

)



c. The design of the sidewalk dining area or street dining deck supports a safe, inviting, 
and lively public realm consistent with the purpose of the MU-V zoning district as 
provided in Section 17.20.040 (Purpose of the Mixed Use Zoning Districts). 

d. The sidewalk dining area or street dining deck materials include high-quality, durable 
materials that are compatible with surrounding development and can withstand 
inclement weather. 

4. Good Standing. An applicant must be in good standing to apply for a permit for outdoor 
dining. For purposes of this section, “good standing” shall mean that within the twenty-four 
months directly preceding submission of a complete application for an Administrative 
Permit or Design Permit, the applicant has not been issued a notice of abatement, violation, 
or been subject to any code enforcement proceedings related to an ABC license, 
entertainment permit, or use permit by the City or any other regulatory or permitting agency.  
Any courtesy code enforcement notices received by the applicant was corrected by the 
applicant within the date specified on the courtesy notice.  

5. Other Permits and Approvals.

a. Sidewalk and street dining decks are subject to all other applicable permits, licenses and/ 
or entitlements required by State or local law.

b. A street dining deck or sidewalk dining area located in the coastal zone may require a 
coastal development permit (CDP) as specified in Chapter 17.44 (Coastal Overlay 
Zone). Approval of a CDP requires conformance with the CDP findings for approval 
as specified in Section 17.44.130 (Findings for approval).

6. Use of Permit Fees in Coastal Zone. For sidewalk dining and street dining decks in the 
coastal zone, the City shall utilize no less that 50 percent of permit fees received for coastal 
access programs, maintenance, and improvements.

F. Administrative Policies.

1. The City Council Manager is authorized to issue administrative policies regarding the 
administration and leasing of the public right-of-way for sidewalk dining and street dining 
decks, including but not limited to the application and selection process for applicants, 
maintenance requirements, and other related policies. 

2. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of this chapter and the administrative 
policy, the more restrictive requirement shall control. 

G. Operating and Development Standards. All Sidewalk Dining and Street Dining Decks shall 
comply with the following standards:

1. Must Serve Eating and Drinking Establishment. Outdoor dining in the public right-of-
way is allowed only when incidental to and a part of an “eating and drinking establishment” 
as defined in Chapter 17.160 (Glossary).

9.A.1

Packet Pg. 95

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

R
A

F
T

 O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

 1
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 R

ec
o

m
m

en
d

at
io

n
  (

D
ra

ft
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 f
o

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
es

ig
n

 P
er

m
it

)



2. One Facility Only. An eating establishment may have either sidewalk dining or a street 
dining deck. An eating establishment may not have both sidewalk dining and a street dining 
deck.

3. Limited to Eating Establishment Frontage.

a. Sidewalk dining is allowed on the sidewalk directly adjacent to the eating establishment 
street frontage.

b. Street dining decks in the public right-of-way are only allowed on parking spaces that 
are:
(1) Wholly or partially located in the right-of-way; and
(2) Directly adjacent to the eating establishment street frontage unless authorized by 

paragraph (b) below.

c. The City may allow an outdoor dining area to extend beyond the eating and drinking 
establishment frontage if: 
(1) Due to the road and parking space layout, the outdoor dining eating area cannot 

be designed without extending the area beyond immediately adjacent parking 
spaces; 

(2) Extending the outdoor dining area will not have significant impact on adjoining 
businesses as determined by the permit review authority; and 

(3) Extending the outdoor dining area will not adversely impact coastal access.

4. Sidewalk Width. Outdoor dining areas in the public right-of-way shall provide a minimum 
clear width within the sidewalk of at least:

a. 5 feet in the MU-V zoning district; and
b. 4 feet in all other zoning districts. 

5. Sidewalk Dining Areas.  Sidewalk dining areas shall be limited to the placement of tables 
and chairs. In addition, design elements required for ABC permit compliance for separation 
(fences, ropes, planters, etc.), may be included in the design but shall not exceed 36-inches 
in height.

6. Signs.

a. Commercial signs are not permitted in or on any portion of the improvements of a 
sidewalk dining area or street dining deck, except as specified in section b.

b. One business identification sign and one menu sign each not to exceed two square feet 
are allowed.    

All signs associated with an outdoor dining area in the public right-of-way must comply with 
Zoning Code Chapter 17.80 (Signs). 

7. Stormwater Drainage. All street dining decks must allow for adequate stormwater drainage. 

a. Dining decks shall not block the drainage flow along the gutter line.

b. Dining decks shall not block access into any drain inlet or other drainage/stormwater 
facility.

9.A.1

Packet Pg. 96

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

R
A

F
T

 O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

 1
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 R

ec
o

m
m

en
d

at
io

n
  (

D
ra

ft
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 f
o

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
es

ig
n

 P
er

m
it

)



8. Utilities. All outdoor dining shall not interfere with utility boxes, water hydrants, storm 
drains, and all other related facilities.

9. Trash and Maintenance. An outdoor dining area in the public right-of-way shall be 
maintained in a clean and safe condition as determined by the City, including as follows:

a. All trash shall be picked up and properly disposed of.

b. All flower boxes and planters shall contain live, healthy vegetation. 

c. All tables, chairs, equipment, and structures must be kept clean and operational.

10. Amplified Sound. Music and amplified sound are is not allowed in an outdoor dining area.

11. Bicycle Parking for Street Dining Decks.

a. A street dining deck that eliminates an on-street parking space must include a bicycle 
parking rack integrated in the street dining deck design or within the private property of 
the eating or drinking establishment.

b. The bicycle parking rack must provide a minimum of two bicycle parking spaces   for 
each eliminated vehicle parking space. 

c. As an alternative to providing the bicycle parking rack, the City may allow an applicant 
to pay an in-lieu fee which fee shall be deposited into the City’s in-lieu bike fund.  to 
create a central bicycle parking location.

12. Hours of Operation.

a. Outdoor dining in the public right-of-way may occur between 7 a.m. and 10 p.m. seven 
days a week.  

b. The City may allow extended hours for street dining decks for special events and 
holidays.

13. Open for Use. All outdoor dining in the public right-of-way must be open for use a 
minimum of five days per week, except in cases of inclement weather. “Open for use” means 
that the eating or drinking establishment must allow customers to use the outdoor dining 
area when the establishment is open for business. 

14. Materials.  Allowed materials include finished or painted wood, glass, ornamental steel or 
iron, and decorative masonry. Street dining decks where the primary visible material is plastic, 
fabric, woven bamboo, or chain link/wire fencing are discouraged.     

H. Enforcement.

1. General.

a. The City shall have all enforcement remedies permitted by law, including but not limited 
to those in Administrative Policy I-36 and Municipal Code Title 4 (General Municipal 
Code Enforcement).

9.A.1

Packet Pg. 97

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

R
A

F
T

 O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

 1
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 R

ec
o

m
m

en
d

at
io

n
  (

D
ra

ft
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 f
o

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
es

ig
n

 P
er

m
it

)



b. Any outdoor dining facility may be subject to inspection by the City on an annual basis 
or as needed to ensure compliance with this section, conditions of approval, and 
administrative procedures. 

c. The Community Development Director is authorized to issue administrative citations 
pursuant to Municipal Code Chapter 4.14 (Administrative Citations), in amounts set 
forth by separate resolution of the City Council. 

2. Revocation of Administrative and Design Permits.

a.  After a permit holder is issued a fourth administrative citation, the Community 
Development Director or Public Works Director may revoke any Administrative Permit 
and the Planning Commission may revoke any Design Permit.

b.  Grounds for revocation shall be the permit-holder’s lack of compliance with the 
requirements in this section or any permit issued pursuant to this section.

c.  The decision regarding revocation is appealable pursuant to the procedures in Chapter 
2.52 (Appeals to City Council).

Section 3. Section 17.120.030 (Design Permits – When Required) of Chapter 17.120 of the 
Capitola Municipal Code is hereby amended to read as follows (additions in underline, 
deletions in strikethrough): 

Chapter 17.120 Design Permits

17.120.030 When Required

A. Types of Projects.  The types of projects that require a Design Permit, and the type of Design 
Permit for each project, are listed in Table 17.120-1. If a type of development project or activity 
is not specifically listed in Table 17.120-1, a Design Permit is not required.

9.A.1

Packet Pg. 98

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

R
A

F
T

 O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

 1
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 R

ec
o

m
m

en
d

at
io

n
  (

D
ra

ft
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 f
o

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
es

ig
n

 P
er

m
it

)



TABLE 17.120-1:  PROJECTS REQUIRING DESIGN PERMITS

Type of Project Type of Permit

Single-Family Residential Projects

Ground floor additions to existing single-family homes where the 
addition is visible from a public street and does not exceed 15 ft. in 
height, except for exempt additions (Section 17.120.030.B)

Minor Design Permit

Accessory structures greater than 10 ft. in height and/or 120 sq. ft. to 
300 sq. ft.

Minor Design Permit

Accessory structures greater than 300 sq. ft. Design Permit

Upper floor decks and balconies on the side or rear of a home that are 
not adjacent to public open space

Design Permit

All rooftop decks Design Permit

Upper floor additions to an existing single-family homes Design Permit

New single-family homes Design Permit

Multifamily Residential Projects

Ground-floor additions less than 15% of total floor area of an existing 
multifamily structure

Minor Design Permit

Upper floor decks and balconies on the side or rear of a structure that 
are not adjacent to public open space

Design Permit

All rooftop decks Design Permit

Accessory structures including garbage and recycling enclosures Minor Design Permit

Ground-floor additions 15% of total floor area or more to an existing 
multifamily structure

Design Permit

Upper floor additions to an existing multifamily structure Design Permit

New multifamily residential structures Design Permit

Non-Residential Projects (Including Mixed-Use)

Exterior modifications to an existing structure that do not increase the 
floor area of the structure

Minor Design Permit

Accessory structures 120 sq. ft. to 300 sq. ft.  including garbage and 
recycling enclosures

Minor Design Permit

Accessory structures greater than 300 sq. ft.  including garbage and 
recycling enclosures

Design Permit

Additions less than 15% of the floor area of an existing non-residential 
structure where the addition is not visible from the primary street 
frontage 

Minor Design Permit

Additions 15% or more of the floor area of an existing non-residential 
structure where the addition is visible from the primary street frontage

Design Permit

Additions to an existing non-residential structure of 3,000 sq. ft. or 
more

Design Permit

New non-residential structures Design Permit

Custom outdoor dining decks and sidewalk dining areas in the public 
right-of-way

Design Permit

9.A.1

Packet Pg. 99

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

R
A

F
T

 O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

 1
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 R

ec
o

m
m

en
d

at
io

n
  (

D
ra

ft
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 f
o

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
es

ig
n

 P
er

m
it

)



B. Single-Family Exemptions. The following additions to a single-family dwelling are exempt 
from the Design Permit requirement:

1. Ground-floor single-story additions up to 400 square feet at the rear of the home.

2. Enclosure of an existing recessed entrance up to 25 square feet.

3. Enclosure of an existing open porch up to 50 square feet.

4. Installation of bay windows.

5. A single accessory structures that does not exceed 120 square feet in floor area and 10 feet 
in height with no connection to water or sewer.

6. Minor exterior modification or replacement of materials on an existing structure including 
siding, windows, doors, and roof.

7. Other similar minor additions to a single-family dwelling as determined by the Community 
Development Director.

8. Upper floor decks and balconies immediately adjacent to a street or public open space.

C. Non-Residential Exemptions.

1. Prototype outdoor dining decks that comply with Section 17.96.170 (Outdoor Dining in 
Public Right of Way) are exempt from the Design Permit requirement. 

Section 4: Compliance with California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA)

The City Council finds that this Ordinance is exempt from the provisions of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA)  pursuant to Section 15305 (Class 5) and 15311 (Class 11) 
of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA).  The Class 5 categorical exemption 
(Minor Alterations in Land Use Limitations) covers projects that consist of minor alterations in 
land use limitation in areas with an average slope of less than 20%, which do not result in 
any changes in land use or density. The Class 11 categorical exemption (Accessory 
Structures) covers projects that consist of construction or placement of minor structures that 
are accessory to existing commercial, industrial, or institutional facilities. The proposed 
project is consistent with these two exemptions, because the requested action will not result 
in a direct or reasonably foreseeable change in the environment and because there is no 
possibility that the activity in question may have a significant effect on the environment.

Section 5: Severability 

The City Council hereby declares every section, paragraph, sentence, cause, and phrase of this 
ordinance is severable. If any section, paragraph, sentence, clause, or phrase of this ordinance 
is for any reason found to be invalid or unconstitutional, such invalidity or unconstitutionality shall 
not affect the validity or constitutionality of the remaining sections, paragraphs, sentences, 
clauses, or phrases.

Section 6: Effective Date 

9.A.1

Packet Pg. 100

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

R
A

F
T

 O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

 1
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 R

ec
o

m
m

en
d

at
io

n
  (

D
ra

ft
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 f
o

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
es

ig
n

 P
er

m
it

)



This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect thirty (30) days from its passage and adoption 
except that it will not take effect within the coastal zone until certified by the California Coastal
Commission.  This Ordinance shall be transmitted to the California Coastal Commission and shall 
take effect in the coastal zone immediately upon certification by the California Coastal 
Commission or upon the concurrence of the Commission with a determination by the Executive 
Director that the Ordinance adopted by the City is legally adequate.

This ordinance was introduced on the __ day of ___, 2021, and passed first reading on the ___ 
day of ___, 2021,  and was adopted by the City Council of the City of Capitola on the ___ day of 
____, 2021, by the following vote:  

AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN:

APPROVED: 

_____________________________
Yvette Brooks, Mayor

ATTEST:

______________________
Chloe Woodmansee, City Clerk

9.A.1

Packet Pg. 101

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

R
A

F
T

 O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

 1
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 R

ec
o

m
m

en
d

at
io

n
  (

D
ra

ft
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 f
o

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
es

ig
n

 P
er

m
it

)



DRAFT ORDINANCE #2
This draft includes Planning Commission recommended edits from the October 7, 2021,
and November 4, 2021, in red except the original City Council direction to allow Sidewalk 
Dining Areas and allow street dining decks on Monterey Avenue and Capitola Avenue are 
included.  

ORDINANCE NO. XXXX

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA 
REPEALING AND REPLACING MUNICIPAL CODE SECTIONS 17.96.170, AND 

AMENDING MUNICIPAL CODE SECTION 17.120.030,  
RELATED TO OUTDOOR DINING IN THE PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY

WHEREAS, the State of California and Santa Cruz County established social distancing 
requirements in response to the COVID-19 pandemic that prohibited indoor dining at 
restaurants in Capitola; and

WHEREAS, in response to the pandemic and social distancing orders, the City issued 
temporary use permits to local restaurants to provide outdoor dining; and

WHEREAS, in 2020 and 2021 approximately 24 restaurants in Capitola were granted 
temporary use permits under this program to provide outdoor dining; and 

WHEREAS, on April 22, 2021, the City Council directed staff to develop a program for 
permanent outdoor dining and to bring the program back to the Council for review and possible 
adoption;

WHEREAS, Municipal Code Section 17.96.170 contains existing requirements for temporary 
sidewalk dining in the public right-of-way; and

WHEREAS, the proposed program for permanent outdoor dining would replace existing 
Municipal Code Section 17.96.170 with new standards to allow for street dining decks in 
addition to sidewalk dining; 

WHEREAS, the City aims to allow for streamlined approval of prototype street dining decks 
utilizing a design that has been preauthorized by the Planning Commission.

WHEREAS, the City aims to balance the desire for permanent outdoor dining in the public 
right-of-way with adequate public parking and coastal access;

WHEREAS, City staff consulted with Coastal Commission staff in the preparation of the 
Zoning Ordinance amendments to ensure that the proposed program and ordinance would 
comply with the California Coastal Act and Capitola’s Local Coastal Program; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Vehicle Code section 22507(a), cities may, by ordinance or 
resolution restrict or otherwise remove parking from City streets during all or certain hours of the 
day; and

WHEREAS, the proposed Zoning Ordinance amendments to allow for permanent outdoor 
dining in the public right-of-way qualify for the Exemption found at CEQA Guidelines Section 

9.A.2

Packet Pg. 102

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

R
A

F
T

 O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

 2
  (

D
ra

ft
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 f
o

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
es

ig
n

 P
er

m
it

)



15305 and 15311; and

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission held a duly noticed public hearing on October 7, 
2021, at which time it reviewed the proposed amendments, considered all public comments on 
the revisions and related CEQA exemption, and provided a unanimous positive 
recommendation on the proposed ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, based upon the Planning Commission recommendation, the City Council 
determined that the amendments are consistent with the General Plan and that the revisions 
would be internally consistent with all other provisions of the Municipal Code.   

WHEREAS, the amendments would become a component of Implementation Plan of the 
City’s Local Coastal Program and is intended to be implemented in a manner that is in full
conformance with the California Coastal Act.   

BE IT ORDAINED By the City of Capitola as follows:

Section 1. The above findings are adopted and incorporated herein.

Section 2. Section 17.96.170 (Temporary Outdoor Dining) of the Capitola Municipal 
Code is hereby repealed in its entirety and replaced with Outdoor Dining in Public Right of Way 
with additions shown as underline and deletions shown with strikethrough to read as follows: 

17.96.170 Temporary Outdoor Dining
This section establishes requirements for temporary outdoor dining areas located on a public 
sidewalk or other area within the public right-of-way.

A. Required Permits. Temporary outdoor dining within the public right-of-way requires an 

Administrative Permit and an Encroachment Permit. Temporary outdoor dining may require 

a Coastal Development Permit as specified by Chapter 17.44 (Coastal Overlay Zone) if any 

part of the site is located in the coastal zone and the proposed development shall conform 

with the CDP findings for approval as specified in 17.44.130 (Findings for Approval).

B. Permitted Zoning Districts.  Temporary outdoor dining within the public right of way is 

allowed in the Commercial Community (C-C), Commercial Regional (C-R), and Mixed Use, 

Neighborhood (MU-N) zoning districts.  Temporary outdoor dining within the public right of 

way is not permitted in the Mixed Use Village (MU-V) zoning district. 

C. Standards.  Temporary sidewalk dining shall comply with the following standards.

1. Location. Outside dining is permitted on the public sidewalk:

a. When incidental to and part of a restaurant; and

b. Along the restaurant’s frontage.

2. Number of Dining Areas. An indoor restaurant may operate only one outside dining 

area confined to a single location.

3. Safe Passage.

a. Temporary sidewalk dining is permitted only where the sidewalk is wide enough to 

adequately accommodate both the usual pedestrian traffic in the area and the 

operation of the outside dining area.

9.A.2

Packet Pg. 103

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

R
A

F
T

 O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

 2
  (

D
ra

ft
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 f
o

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
es

ig
n

 P
er

m
it

)



b. The sidewalk immediately adjacent to the restaurant shall have adequate space to 

accommodate tables and chairs and shall provide adequate safe passage along 

the sidewalk for pedestrian and wheelchair users of the sidewalk. Safe and 

adequate passage of at least 4 feet in width shall be provided along the sidewalk 

and from the curb to the sidewalk. No tables or chairs or any other objects shall be 

placed or allowed to remain on any sidewalk that inhibit such passage.

4. Furniture and Signage Location.

a. Tables and chairs in a sidewalk dining area shall be set back at least 2 feet from 

any curb and from any sidewalk or street barrier, including a bollard, and at least 8 

feet from a bus stop.

b. All outdoor dining furniture, including tables, chairs, umbrellas, and planters, shall 

be movable.

c. All temporary improvements to separate the outdoor dining area from the sidewalk, 

such as a railing, shall relate to the architectural design of the primary restaurant 

structure in color, materials, and scale.  

d. Umbrellas shall be secured with a minimum base of not less than 60 pounds.

e. All signs are subject to Chapter 17.80.

5. Food and Beverages. The service of alcoholic beverages within the sidewalk dining 

area requires a Conditional Use Permit, and shall comply with the following 

requirements:

a. The outside dining area shall be situated immediately adjacent to and abutting the 

indoor restaurant which provides it with food and beverage service.

b. The outside dining area shall be clearly separate and delineated from the areas of 

the sidewalk which remains open to pedestrian traffic.

c. One or more signs shall be posted during hours of operation stating that alcohol is 

prohibited outside of the dining area.

d. The outside dining area shall receive all licenses required for on-site consumption 

of alcoholic beverages from State authorities.

6. Trash and Maintenance.

a. Storage of trash is prohibited within or adjacent to the sidewalk dining area. All 
trash and litter shall be removed as it accumulates or otherwise becomes a public 

nuisance.

b. The sidewalk dining area, including the sidewalk surface and furniture, shall be 

maintained in a clean and safe condition.

7. Hours of Operation. Sidewalk dining may occur between 7 a.m. and 10 p.m. seven 

days a week.  Tables, chairs, other outdoor dining furniture, and all other structures 

and materials associated with the outdoor dining area shall be removed from the 

sidewalk and stored indoors at night and when the sidewalk dining area is not in 

operation.

9.A.2

Packet Pg. 104

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

R
A

F
T

 O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

 2
  (

D
ra

ft
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 f
o

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
es

ig
n

 P
er

m
it

)



17.96.170 Outdoor Dining in Public Right of Way

A. Purpose. This section establishes standards and permit requirements for outdoor dining in the 
public right-of-way.

B. Definitions.

1. Outdoor Dining.  “Outdoor dining” means and includes both sidewalk dining and street 
dining decks.

2. Sidewalk Dining. “Sidewalk dining” means the use of an outdoor sidewalk area within 
the public-right-of-way, by a private business that is an eating and drinking establishment, 
for eating and drinking activities.

3. Street Dining Deck. A street dining deck means a platform or similar level surface within 
the public right-of-way and extending beyond the curb and into a roadway or on-street 
parking area for use by a private business that is an eating or drinking establishment.

a. Custom Street Dining Deck. A custom street dining deck is a street dining deck 
designed by the applicant. 

b. Prototype Street Dining Deck.  A prototype street dining deck is a street dining 
deck utilizing a design that has been preauthorized by the Planning Commission. 

C. Where Allowed.

1. Sidewalk Dining.

a. Sidewalk dining is allowed in the MU-N, MU-V, C-C, and C-R zoning districts.

b. In the MU-V zoning district, sidewalk dining is allowed only on Monterey Avenue and 
on the Capitola Wharf immediately adjacent to the restaurant it serves.

2. Street Dining Decks. Street dining decks are allowed only in the MU-V zoning district 
and only on the Esplanade, Monterey Avenue, Capitola Avenue, and San Jose Avenue.

D. Maximum Number of On-Street Parking Spaces. A maximum of 25 total on-street parking 
spaces may be used for street dining decks.  Spaces shall be allocated by the City Manager in 
accordance with administrative policies issued pursuant to this section. On-street parking spaces 
utilized for in-lieu bicycle parking shall count toward the maximum 25 spaces.

E. Permits and Approvals.

1. Required Permits. Table 17.96-2 shows permits required for sidewalk dining and street 
dining decks. 

Table 17.96-2: Permits Required for Outdoor Dining in Public Right-of-way

Type of Outdoor Dining Permit Required [2] 
[3]

Zoning Code Chapter

Sidewalk Dining Administrative Design
Permit

17.116

9.A.2

Packet Pg. 105

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

R
A

F
T

 O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

 2
  (

D
ra

ft
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 f
o

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
es

ig
n

 P
er

m
it

)



Street Dining Decks

Prototype Street Dining Deck [1] Administrative Permit 17.116

Custom Street Dining Deck Design Permit 17.120

[1] Prototype dining deck designs are identified in the adopted Village Outdoor Dining Program 
Administrative Policy No. I-36.
[2] Outdoor dining in the public right-of-way also requires an encroachment permit pursuant to 
Municipal Code Chapter 12.56. Minor encroachment permits for applications for prototype street 

dining decks may be issued by the Public Works Director and major encroachment permits for 
custom street dining decks may be issued by the Planning Commission.
[3] A street dining deck or sidewalk dining area located in the coastal zone may require a coastal 
development permit (CDP) as specified in Chapter 17.44 (Coastal Overlay Zone).

2. Administrative Permit Standards.  All applications for an Administrative Permit are 
reviewed and acted on by the Community Development Director and must comply with 
the following standards:

a. Any includedThe street dining deck must be designed consistent with a prototype 
design approved by the Planning Commission.

b. The sidewalk dining area orThe street dining deck must comply with all applicable 
requirements of this section, the Zoning Code, and all other applicable laws, 
administrative policies, rules, and regulations.

c. If located in the coastal zone, the sidewalk dining area or street dining deck is 
consistent with the Local Coastal Program and will not adversely impact coastal 
resources, coastal access, and coastal views.

d. The street dining deck or sidewalk dining area must utilize high-quality, durable 
materials that are compatible with surrounding development and can withstand 
inclement weather.

e. A prototypeThe street dining decks must use a design authorized by a valid coastal 
development permit.  

3. Design Permit Findings. All applications for a Design Permit are viewed and acted on 
by the Planning Commission. Notwithstanding Municipal Code Section 17.120.080 
(Findings for Approval), for Design Permits issued pursuant to this section, the Planning 
Commission shall make the following findings and need not make those findings set forth 
in section 17.120.080the Planning Commission shall not make the Design Permit findings
in Section 17.120.080, and instead shall make the following findings:

a. The sidewalk dining area or street dining deck complies with all applicable 
requirements of this section, the Zoning Code, and all other applicable laws, 
administrative policies, rules, and regulations.

b. If located in the coastal zone, the sidewalk dining area or street dining deck is 
consistent with the Local Coastal Program and will not adversely impact coastal 
resources, coastal access, and coastal views.

9.A.2

Packet Pg. 106

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

R
A

F
T

 O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

 2
  (

D
ra

ft
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 f
o

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
es

ig
n

 P
er

m
it

)



c. The design of the sidewalk dining area or street dining deck supports a safe, inviting, 
and lively public realm consistent with the purpose of the MU-V zoning district as 
provided in Section 17.20.040 (Purpose of the Mixed Use Zoning Districts). 

d. The sidewalk dining area or street dining deck materials include high-quality, durable 
materials that are compatible with surrounding development and can withstand
inclement weather. 

4. Good Standing. An applicant must be in good standing to apply for a permit for outdoor 
dining. For purposes of this section, “good standing” shall mean that within the twenty-
four months directly preceding submission of a complete application for an Administrative 
Permit or Design Permit, the applicant has not been issued a notice of abatement, 
violation, or been subject to any code enforcement proceedings related to an ABC license, 
entertainment permit, or use permit by the City or any other regulatory or permitting 
agency.  Any courtesy code enforcement notices received by the applicant was corrected by 
the applicant within the date specified on the courtesy notice.  

5. Other Permits and Approvals.

a. Sidewalk and street dining decks are subject to all other applicable permits, licenses 
and/ or entitlements required by State or local law.

b. A street dining deck or sidewalk dining area located in the coastal zone may require a 
coastal development permit (CDP) as specified in Chapter 17.44 (Coastal Overlay 
Zone). Approval of a CDP requires conformance with the CDP findings for approval 
as specified in Section 17.44.130 (Findings for approval).

6. Use of Permit Fees in Coastal Zone. For sidewalk dining and street dining decks in the 
coastal zone, the City shall utilize no less that 50 percent of permit fees received for coastal 
access programs, maintenance, and improvements.

F. Administrative Policies.

1. The City Council Manager is authorized to issue administrative policies regarding the 
administration and leasing of the public right-of-way for sidewalk dining and street dining 
decks, including but not limited to the application and selection process for applicants, 
maintenance requirements, and other related policies. 

2. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of this chapter and the administrative 
policy, the more restrictive requirement shall control. 

G. Operating and Development Standards. All Sidewalk Dining and Street Dining Decks shall 
comply with the following standards:

1. Must Serve Eating and Drinking Establishment. Outdoor dining in the public right-
of-way is allowed only when incidental to and a part of an “eating and drinking 
establishment” as defined in Chapter 17.160 (Glossary).

9.A.2

Packet Pg. 107

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

R
A

F
T

 O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

 2
  (

D
ra

ft
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 f
o

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
es

ig
n

 P
er

m
it

)



2. One Facility Only. An eating establishment may have either sidewalk dining or a street 
dining deck. An eating establishment may not have both sidewalk dining and a street dining 
deck.

3. Limited to Eating Establishment Frontage.

a. Sidewalk dining is allowed on the sidewalk directly adjacent to the eating establishment 
street frontage.

b. Street dining decks in the public right-of-way are only allowed on parking spaces that
are:
(1) Wholly or partially located in the right-of-way; and
(2) Directly adjacent to the eating establishment street frontage unless authorized by 

paragraph (b) below.

c. The City may allow an outdoor dining area to extend beyond the eating and drinking 
establishment frontage if: 
(1) Due to the road and parking space layout, the outdoor dining eating area cannot 

be designed without extending the area beyond immediately adjacent parking 
spaces; 

(2) Extending the outdoor dining area will not have significant impact on adjoining 
businesses as determined by the permit review authority; and 

(3) Extending the outdoor dining area will not adversely impact coastal access.

4. Sidewalk Width. Outdoor dining areas in the public right-of-way shall provide a 
minimum clear width within the sidewalk of at least:

a. 5 feet in the MU-V zoning district; and
b. 4 feet in all other zoning districts. 

5. Sidewalk Dining Areas.  Sidewalk dining areas shall be limited to the placement of tables 
and chairs. In addition, design elements required for ABC permit compliance for 
separation (fences, ropes, planters, etc.), may be included in the design but shall not exceed 
36-inches in height.

6. Signs.

a. Commercial signs are not permitted in or on any portion of the improvements of a 
sidewalk dining area or street dining deck, except as specified in section b.

b. One business identification sign and one menu sign each not to exceed two square feet 
are allowed.    

All signs associated with an outdoor dining area in the public right-of-way must comply 
with Zoning Code Chapter 17.80 (Signs). 

7. Stormwater Drainage. All street dining decks must allow for adequate stormwater 
drainage. 

a. Dining decks shall not block the drainage flow along the gutter line.

9.A.2

Packet Pg. 108

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

R
A

F
T

 O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

 2
  (

D
ra

ft
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 f
o

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
es

ig
n

 P
er

m
it

)



b. Dining decks shall not block access into any drain inlet or other drainage/stormwater 
facility.

8. Utilities. All outdoor dining shall not interfere with utility boxes, water hydrants, storm 
drains, and all other related facilities.

9. Trash and Maintenance. An outdoor dining area in the public right-of-way shall be 
maintained in a clean and safe condition as determined by the City, including as follows:

a. All trash shall be picked up and properly disposed of.

b. All flower boxes and planters shall contain live, healthy vegetation.

c. All tables, chairs, equipment, and structures must be kept clean and operational.

10. Amplified Sound. Music and amplified sound are is not allowed in an outdoor dining 
area.

11. Bicycle Parking for Street Dining Decks.

a. A street dining deck that eliminates an on-street parking space must include a bicycle 
parking rack integrated in the street dining deck design or within the private property 
of the eating or drinking establishment.

b. The bicycle parking rack must provide a minimum of two bicycle parking spaces   for 
each eliminated vehicle parking space. 

c. As an alternative to providing the bicycle parking rack, the City may allow an applicant 
to pay an in-lieu fee which fee shall be deposited into the City’s in-lieu bike fund.  to 
create a central bicycle parking location.

12. Hours of Operation.

a. Outdoor dining in the public right-of-way may occur between 7 a.m. and 10 p.m. 
seven days a week.  

b. The City may allow extended hours for street dining decks for special events and 
holidays.

13. Open for Use. All outdoor dining in the public right-of-way must be open for use a 
minimum of five days per week, except in cases of inclement weather. “Open for use” 
means that the eating or drinking establishment must allow customers to use the outdoor 
dining area when the establishment is open for business. 

14. Materials.  Allowed materials include finished or painted wood, glass, ornamental steel or 
iron, and decorative masonry. Street dining decks where the primary visible material is 
plastic, fabric, woven bamboo, or chain link/wire fencing are discouraged.  

H. Enforcement.

1. General.

9.A.2

Packet Pg. 109

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

R
A

F
T

 O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

 2
  (

D
ra

ft
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 f
o

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
es

ig
n

 P
er

m
it

)



a. The City shall have all enforcement remedies permitted by law, including but not 
limited to those in Administrative Policy I-36 in Municipal Code Title 4 (General 
Municipal Code Enforcement).

b. Any outdoor dining facility may be subject to inspection by the City on an annual basis 
or as needed to ensure compliance with this section, conditions of approval, and 
administrative procedures. 

c. The Community Development Director is authorized to issue administrative citations 
pursuant to Municipal Code Chapter 4.14 (Administrative Citations), in amounts set 
forth by separate resolution of the City Council. 

2. Revocation of Administrative and Design Permits.

a.  After a permit holder is issued a fourth administrative citation, the Community 
Development Director or Public Works Director may revoke any Administrative 
Permit and the Planning Commission may revoke any Design Permit.

b. Grounds for revocation shall be the permit-holder’s lack of compliance with the 
requirements in this section or any permit issued pursuant to this section.

c.  The decision regarding revocation is appealable pursuant to the procedures in 
Chapter 2.52 (Appeals to City Council).

Section 3. Section 17.120.030 (Design Permits – When Required) of Chapter 17.120 of the 
Capitola Municipal Code is hereby amended to read as follows (additions in underline, 
deletions in strikethrough): 

Chapter 17.120 Design Permits

17.120.030 When Required

A. Types of Projects.  The types of projects that require a Design Permit, and the type of Design 
Permit for each project, are listed in Table 17.120-1. If a type of development project or activity 
is not specifically listed in Table 17.120-1, a Design Permit is not required.

9.A.2

Packet Pg. 110

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

R
A

F
T

 O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

 2
  (

D
ra

ft
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 f
o

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
es

ig
n

 P
er

m
it

)



TABLE 17.120-1:  PROJECTS REQUIRING DESIGN PERMITS

Type of Project Type of Permit

Single-Family Residential Projects

Ground floor additions to existing single-family homes where the 
addition is visible from a public street and does not exceed 15 ft. in 
height, except for exempt additions (Section 17.120.030.B)

Minor Design Permit

Accessory structures greater than 10 ft. in height and/or 120 sq. ft. to 
300 sq. ft.

Minor Design Permit

Accessory structures greater than 300 sq. ft. Design Permit

Upper floor decks and balconies on the side or rear of a home that are 
not adjacent to public open space

Design Permit

All rooftop decks Design Permit

Upper floor additions to an existing single-family homes Design Permit

New single-family homes Design Permit

Multifamily Residential Projects

Ground-floor additions less than 15% of total floor area of an existing 
multifamily structure

Minor Design Permit

Upper floor decks and balconies on the side or rear of a structure that 
are not adjacent to public open space

Design Permit

All rooftop decks Design Permit

Accessory structures including garbage and recycling enclosures Minor Design Permit

Ground-floor additions 15% of total floor area or more to an existing 
multifamily structure

Design Permit

Upper floor additions to an existing multifamily structure Design Permit

New multifamily residential structures Design Permit

Non-Residential Projects (Including Mixed-Use)

Exterior modifications to an existing structure that do not increase the 
floor area of the structure

Minor Design Permit

Accessory structures 120 sq. ft. to 300 sq. ft.  including garbage and 
recycling enclosures

Minor Design Permit

Accessory structures greater than 300 sq. ft.  including garbage and 
recycling enclosures

Design Permit

Additions less than 15% of the floor area of an existing non-residential 
structure where the addition is not visible from the primary street 
frontage 

Minor Design Permit

Additions 15% or more of the floor area of an existing non-residential 
structure where the addition is visible from the primary street frontage

Design Permit

Additions to an existing non-residential structure of 3,000 sq. ft. or
more

Design Permit

New non-residential structures Design Permit

Custom outdoor dining decks and sidewalk dining areas in the public 
right-of-way

Design Permit

9.A.2

Packet Pg. 111

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

R
A

F
T

 O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

 2
  (

D
ra

ft
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 f
o

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
es

ig
n

 P
er

m
it

)



B. Single-Family Exemptions. The following additions to a single-family dwelling are exempt 
from the Design Permit requirement:

1. Ground-floor single-story additions up to 400 square feet at the rear of the home.

2. Enclosure of an existing recessed entrance up to 25 square feet.

3. Enclosure of an existing open porch up to 50 square feet.

4. Installation of bay windows.

5. A single accessory structures that does not exceed 120 square feet in floor area and 10 feet 
in height with no connection to water or sewer.

6. Minor exterior modification or replacement of materials on an existing structure including 
siding, windows, doors, and roof.

7. Other similar minor additions to a single-family dwelling as determined by the Community 
Development Director.

8. Upper floor decks and balconies immediately adjacent to a street or public open space.

C. Non-Residential Exemptions.

1. Prototype outdoor dining decks that comply with Section 17.96.170 (Outdoor Dining in 
Public Right of Way) are exempt from the Design Permit requirement. 

Section 4: Compliance with California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA)

The City Council finds that this Ordinance is exempt from the provisions of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to Section 15305 (Class 5) and 15311 (Class 
11) of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA).  The Class 5 categorical exemption 
(Minor Alterations in Land Use Limitations) covers projects that consist of minor alterations 
in land use limitation in areas with an average slope of less than 20%, which do not result in 
any changes in land use or density. The Class 11 categorical exemption (Accessory 
Structures) covers projects that consist of construction or placement of minor structures that 
are accessory to existing commercial, industrial, or institutional facilities. The proposed 
project is consistent with these two exemptions, because the requested action will not result 
in a direct or reasonably foreseeable change in the environment and because there is no 
possibility that the activity in question may have a significant effect on the environment.

Section 5: Severability 

The City Council hereby declares every section, paragraph, sentence, cause, and phrase of this 
ordinance is severable. If any section, paragraph, sentence, clause, or phrase of this ordinance 
is for any reason found to be invalid or unconstitutional, such invalidity or unconstitutionality 
shall not affect the validity or constitutionality of the remaining sections, paragraphs, sentences, 
clauses, or phrases.

Section 6: Effective Date 

9.A.2

Packet Pg. 112

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

R
A

F
T

 O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

 2
  (

D
ra

ft
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 f
o

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
es

ig
n

 P
er

m
it

)



This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect thirty (30) days from its passage and adoption 
except that it will not take effect within the coastal zone until certified by the California Coastal 
Commission.  This Ordinance shall be transmitted to the California Coastal Commission and 
shall take effect in the coastal zone immediately upon certification by the California Coastal 
Commission or upon the concurrence of the Commission with a determination by the Executive 
Director that the Ordinance adopted by the City is legally adequate.

This ordinance was introduced on the __ day of ___, 2021, and passed first reading on the ___ 
day of ___, 2021,  and was adopted by the City Council of the City of Capitola on the ___ day of
____, 2021, by the following vote:  

AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN:

APPROVED: 

_____________________________
Yvette Brooks, Mayor

ATTEST:

______________________
Chloe Woodmansee, City Clerk

ATTACHMENTS:

1. Capitola Street Frontage Dining Ordinance Noise Memo

Prepared By: Katie Herlihy
Community Development Dire

9.A.2

Packet Pg. 113

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

R
A

F
T

 O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E

 2
  (

D
ra

ft
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 f
o

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
es

ig
n

 P
er

m
it

)



DRAFT ADMINISTRATIVE POLICY

VILLAGE OUTDOOR DINING PROGRAM

I. PURPOSE

The purpose of this policy is to define the rules, regulations and conditions of an outdoor dining 
program on City right of way in the Central Village (MU-V Zoning District). The program allows 
eligible Village eating and drinking establishments to construct, operate, and maintain outdoor 
dining areas within on-street parking spaces, designated sidewalk areas, and specific areas 
on the Capitola Wharf.

This Administrative Policy is authorized under Capitola Municipal Code Section 17.96.170.F

II. POLICY

General Requirements. All outdoor dining areas shall be operated in conformance with the 
regulatory requirements of the Americans with Disability Act (ADA), California Building Code, 
California Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control, Santa Cruz County Environmental 
Health Department and all other applicable City, County, State and Federal laws.  Capitola 
Municipal Code Section 17.96.170 Outdoor Dining in the Public Right of Way establishes the 
standards and permit requirements for outdoor dining within the public right of way.  Section III 
of this policy is an overview of the municipal code requirements.   

Authorized Streets & Sidewalk Areas. In Capitola Village (MU-V Zoning District), outdoor
dining in the public right of way is permitted in the following areas:

Public Parking Spaces: Esplanade, Monterey Avenue, Capitola Avenue, San Jose Avenue
Sidewalk Areas: Monterey Avenue
Capitola Wharf:  Immediately adjacent to the restaurant (Code section 17.96.170.C)

Maximum Number of On-Street Parking Space. The maximum number of public parking 
spaces that can be utilized for outdoor dining is 25. (Code section 17.96.170.D)

Size Limitation of Individual Outdoor Dining Areas.  No outdoor dining area shall occupy 
more than five public parking spaces or 900 square feet of street, sidewalk, or area on Capitola 
Wharf.

Good Standing. An applicant must be in good standing to apply for a permit for outdoor dining. 
For purposes of this section, “good standing” shall mean that within the twenty-four months 
directly preceding submission of a complete application for an Administrative Permit or Design 
Permit, the applicant has not been issued a notice of abatement, violation, or been subject to 
any code enforcement proceedings related to an ABC license, entertainment permit, or use 

Number: I-36
Issued:  
Jurisdiction: City Council

9.A.3

Packet Pg. 114

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 in

 C
ap

it
o

la
 V

ill
ag

e 
P

o
lic

y 
 (

D
ra

ft
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 f
o

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
es

ig
n

 P
er

m
it

)



Administrative Policy I-36
Village Outdoor Dining Program
Page 2 of 2

permit by the City or any other regulatory or permitting agency.  Any courtesy code enforcement 
notices received by the applicant was corrected by the applicant within the date specified on 
the courtesy notice.  (Code section17.96.170.E.4)

Space Allocation Lottery.  If applications for outdoor dining located in public parking spaces 
exceeds the 25 maximum allocation, the City will hold a lottery to allocate the spaces, using 
the following procedures.

Step 1. Open application period for 45 days, with a required $500 deposit per space 
(credited towards maintenance deposit). 

Step 2. If the total requests are less than 25, award the spaces to the applicants. 
Step 3. If the total requests exceed 25, evenly distribute one to two spaces per business.  

• If there are less than twelve applicants, assign up to two spaces to each 
applicant, then proceed to step 4.

• If there are more than twelve applicants, hold a lottery assigning up to two 
spaces to each applicant until all 25 spaces have been allocated. 

Step 4. Hold a lottery for the remainder of the spaces for those requesting additional 
spaces. All applicants that are not allocated their requested number of spaces in
Step 3 above, will be given one ticket in the lottery. 

Step 5.  The lottery will be held in rounds.  If an applicant’s ticket is chosen and they receive 
their requested number of spaces, their ticket will be removed prior to the next 
round.  If the applicant has not reached their requested number of parking spaces, 
their ticket will be replaced into the hopper for the next round.

Step 6.  Rounds will continue until 25 parking spaces have been allocated.

Permits.  Applicants must obtain all necessary permits to construct and operate an outdoor 
dining area.  Necessary permits include but are not limited to:

1. A revokable encroachment permit;
2. An administrative permit or design permit pursuant to Capitola Municipal Code 

Section 17.96.170;
3. A coastal development permit; and
4. A building permit.

Revokable Encroachment Permit.  Per Capitola Municipal Code 12.56, applicants must 
receive a revokable encroachment permit from the City of Capitola prior to construction of an 
outdoor dining area. The revokable encroachment will include, but not limited to, the following
terms and conditions:

• 3-year term
• Inspection - City staff shall have the authority to enter the outdoor dining area for any

purposes, including to inspect the condition, safety, and compliance with all City 
issued permits.

• Deposit - Each applicant shall pay a deposit to ensure the dining area is maintained
as follows

o Sidewalk dining - $500 deposit
o 1-2 spaces - $1000 deposit
o 3-5 spaces - $1,500 deposit

• Maintenance Standards - All dining areas shall be maintained, including but not
limited to the following:

o All trash must be picked up and properly disposed.

9.A.3

Packet Pg. 115

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 in

 C
ap

it
o

la
 V

ill
ag

e 
P

o
lic

y 
 (

D
ra

ft
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 f
o

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
es

ig
n

 P
er

m
it

)



Administrative Policy I-36
Village Outdoor Dining Program
Page 2 of 2

o All flower boxes or planter must contain live, healthy vegetation.
o All tables, chairs, equipment, and structures must be kept clean and 

operational.
• Applicants shall provide proof of insurance as specified by the City application form.
• Parking space payment – All tenants must pay $3,400 per parking space, which is 

approximately $18 per square foot, per year.  This amount shall be adjusted upward 
annually by increases of the CPI.  All rent must be paid in advance.  Initial rents must 
be paid prior to the beginning of construction. The rent in subsequent years is due 
by January 10th for the calendar year. Any partial years rent amounts will be prorated.

• No-subletting - Outdoor dining spaces are for the use of the permit holder only and 
may not be sublet to any other vendor or business.

• Violations - Violations of the revokable encroachment permit shall be enforced as 
follows:

o Upon a first violation by a permit holder, the city manager, or designee, 
shall mail a written warning to the eating and drinking establishment. The 
warning shall recite the violation, and advise that future violations may 
result in fines.

o Upon a second or subsequent violation by the eating or drinking 
establishment, the following penalties will apply:
§ A fine not exceeding one hundred dollars for the first violation after 

the first warning.
§ A fine not exceeding two hundred dollars for the second violation.
§ A fine not exceeding five hundred dollars for the third violation.
§ A permit holder with more than three violations during the lease 

term may have their permit revoked and be required to remove any 
improvements associated with the outdoor dining area.  

§ Permit holders whose permit is revoked may not receive another 
encroachment permit for outdoor dining for a period of two years, 
and only if there are available parking spaces under the 25 space 
cap. The revoked spaces will be placed back in the lottery system 
and available for allocation.

Revokable Encroachment Permit Term Expiration.  All revokable encroachment permits 
issued for outdoor dining will have a term of three years.  Six months prior to expiration the 
City and permit holder shall review past performance and use of the outdoor dining area.  Upon 
review, either extension or termination may be possible.  Extension of the program and any 
lease shall be at the sole discretion of the Capitola City Council.

Authorization to Proceed.  Construction of an outdoor dining area may not begin until all 
required permits have been issued.  Starting construction prior to receiving all permits may 
result in revocation of any applicable permits.

Construction Timing.  Applicants with assigned parking spaces through the lottery, are 
required to acquire City permits and complete construction of their street dining deck within six 
months of the award.  After six month, the spaces will be placed back in the lottery system and 
available for allocation.

III. ADMINISTRATIVE POLICY RELATIVE TO CAPITOLA MUNICIPAL CODE SECTION 
17.96.170 OUTDOOR DINING IN THE PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY

9.A.3

Packet Pg. 116

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 in

 C
ap

it
o

la
 V

ill
ag

e 
P

o
lic

y 
 (

D
ra

ft
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 f
o

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
es

ig
n

 P
er

m
it

)



Administrative Policy I-36
Village Outdoor Dining Program
Page 2 of 2

Capitola Municipal Code Section 17.96.170 establishes the standards and permit requirements 
for outdoor dining within the public right of way.  The following is an overview of the municipal 
code requirements: 

A. Permits and Approvals.  

The following table shows permits required for sidewalk dining and street dining decks. 
Type of Outdoor Dining Permit Required Zoning Code 

Chapter
Sidewalk Dining Design Permit 17.120
Street Dining Decks

Prototype Street Dining Deck Administrative 
Permit 

17.116

Custom Street Dining Deck Design Permit 17.120

B. Operating and Development Standards. All Sidewalk Dining and Street Dining Decks 
shall comply with the following standards:

1. Must Serve Eating and Drinking Establishment. Outdoor dining in the public right-of-
way is allowed only when incidental to and a part of an “eating and drinking establishment” 
as defined in Chapter 17.160 (Glossary).

2. One Facility Only. An eating establishment may have either sidewalk dining or a street 
dining deck. An eating establishment may not have both sidewalk dining and a street dining 
deck.

3. Limited to Eating Establishment Frontage.
a. Sidewalk dining is allowed on the sidewalk directly adjacent to the eating 

establishment street frontage.
b. Street dining decks in the public right-of-way are only allowed on parking spaces that 

are:
(1) Wholly or partially located in the right-of-way; and
(2) Directly adjacent to the eating establishment street frontage unless authorized 

by paragraph (b) below.
c. The City may allow an outdoor dining area to extend beyond the eating and drinking 

establishment frontage if: 
(1) Due to the road and parking space layout, the outdoor dining area cannot be 

designed without extending the area beyond immediately adjacent parking 
spaces; 

(2) Extending the outdoor dining area will not have significant impact on adjoining 
businesses as determined by the permit review authority; and 

(3) Extending the outdoor dining area will not adversely impact coastal access.

4. Sidewalk Width. Outdoor dining areas in the public right-of-way shall provide a minimum 
clear width within the sidewalk of at least:
a. 5 feet in the MU-V zoning district; and

5. Sidewalk Dining Areas.  Sidewalk dining areas shall be limited to the placement of tables 
and chairs. In addition, design elements required for ABC permit compliance for separation 

9.A.3

Packet Pg. 117

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 in

 C
ap

it
o

la
 V

ill
ag

e 
P

o
lic

y 
 (

D
ra

ft
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 f
o

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
es

ig
n

 P
er

m
it

)



Administrative Policy I-36
Village Outdoor Dining Program
Page 2 of 2

(fences, ropes, planters, etc.), may be included in the design but shall not exceed 36-
inches in height.

6. Signs.
a. Commercial signs, including business identification signs are not permitted in or on 

any portion of the improvements of a sidewalk dining area or street dining deck.
b. One informational sign not to exceed two square feet providing information such as 

“watch your step” or “for paying customers only” is allowed.     

7. Stormwater Drainage. All street dining decks must allow for adequate stormwater 
drainage. 
a. Dining decks shall not block the drainage flow along the gutter line.
b. Dining decks shall not block access into any drain inlet or other drainage/stormwater 

facility.

8. Utilities. All outdoor dining shall not interfere with utility boxes, water hydrants, storm 
drains, and all other related facilities.

9. Trash and Maintenance. An outdoor dining area in the public right-of-way shall be 
maintained in a clean and safe condition as determined by the City, including as follows:
a. All trash must be picked up and properly disposed of.
b. All flower boxes and planters must contain live, healthy vegetation. 
c. All tables, chairs, equipment, and structures must be kept clean and operational.

10. Sound. Music and amplified sound are not allowed in an outdoor dining area.

11. Bicycle Parking for Street Dining Decks.
a. A street dining deck that eliminates an on-street parking space must include a bicycle 

parking rack integrated in the street dining deck design or within the private property 
of the eating or drinking establishment.

b. The bicycle parking rack must provide a minimum of two bicycle parking spaces   for 
each eliminated vehicle parking space. 

c. As an alternative to providing the bicycle parking rack, the City may allow an applicant 
to pay an in-lieu fee which fee shall be deposited into the City’s in-lieu bike fund.  to 
create a central bicycle parking location.

12. Hours of Operation.
a. Outdoor dining in the public right-of-way may occur between 7 a.m. and 10 p.m. seven 

days a week.  
b. The City may allow extended hours for street dining decks for special events and 

holidays.

13. Open for Use. All outdoor dining in the public right-of-way must be open for use a minimum 
of five days per week, except in cases of inclement weather. “Open for use” means that 
the eating or drinking establishment must allow customers to use the outdoor dining area 
when the establishment is open for business. 

14. Materials.  Allowed materials include finished or painted wood, glass, ornamental steel or 
iron, and decorative masonry. Street dining decks where the primary visible material is 
plastic, fabric, woven bamboo, or chain link/wire fencing are not allowed.     

9.A.3

Packet Pg. 118

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 in

 C
ap

it
o

la
 V

ill
ag

e 
P

o
lic

y 
 (

D
ra

ft
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 f
o

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
es

ig
n

 P
er

m
it

)



Administrative Policy I-36
Village Outdoor Dining Program
Page 2 of 2

 

9.A.3

Packet Pg. 119

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 in

 C
ap

it
o

la
 V

ill
ag

e 
P

o
lic

y 
 (

D
ra

ft
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 f
o

r 
O

u
td

o
o

r 
D

in
in

g
 a

n
d

 D
es

ig
n

 P
er

m
it

)



 

 
DUDEK.COM 

MEMORANDUM 

To: Ms. Katie Herlihy, City of Capitola 

From: Jonathan V. Leech, INCE 

Subject: Noise Assessment 

Proposed Outdoor Dining in Public Right of Way 

New Municipal Code Section 17.96.170 

Date: September 22, 2021 

cc: Stephanie Strelow, Dudek 

Attachment(s): DRAFT Municipal Code Section 17.96.170 

 

Introduction 

This memorandum presents the results of an assessment regarding the potential for impacts to existing noise-

sensitive land uses from the proposed allowance of outdoor dining areas associated with restaurant uses in the 

MU-N, MU-V, C-C, and C-R zoning districts of Capitola.  

Ordinance Overview 

The ordinance would allow a restaurant or café to offer an outdoor dining space to customers that would be 

located within the sidewalk area in front of the building or on a deck constructed to occupy the on-street parking 

spaces in front of the building.  Such outdoor dining area may not extend beyond the street frontage of the 

restaurant building, and a maximum of one option would be allowed per restaurant (i.e., either sidewalk area or 

parking space dining deck). With respect to dining decks, an applicant would have the option to propose a custom 

design or to employ a prototype design that has been preauthorized by the Planning Commission. 

Outdoor dining as described above would only be allowed in the MU-N, MU-V, C-C, and C-R zoning districts of the 

City of Capitola. Further, a maximum of 25 on-street parking spaces would be permitted in the City for conversion 

to restaurant dining decks. The permit process for a dining deck of custom design would require approval by the 

Planning Commission, whereas a proposal employing a prototype dining deck could be approved administratively.   

Under the proposed ordinance, outdoor dining in the public right of way would be limited to the hours between 7 

a.m. and 10 p.m.; extended hours may be allowed by the City for occasional special events and during holidays.  

Amplified sound would be prohibited in public right of way dining areas, including amplified music.  

Please refer to the complete draft version of Municipal Code Section 17.96.170 for additional details regarding the 

proposed outdoor dining allowance in the public right of way. 

9.A.4

Packet Pg. 120

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 S
tr

ee
t 

F
ro

n
ta

g
e 

D
in

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o
is

e 
M

em
o

  (
D

ra
ft

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 f

o
r 

O
u

td
o

o
r 

D
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 D

es
ig

n
 P

er
m

it
)



MEMORANDUM 

Noise Assessment of Proposed Municipal Code Section 17.170.19 - Outdoor Dining in Public Right of Way 

September 22, 2021 

Page 2 

 

 

 

DUDEK.COM 

Fundamentals of Sound 

Although the terms may be used interchangeably in the right context, “sound” is defined as any gas or fluid pressure 

variation detected by the human ear, and “noise” is unwanted sound. A sound source generates an increase in the air 

pressure adjacent to the source, and the pressure travels through the air in all directions from the source as a wave; the 

ear then detects the pressure of the arriving wave, and this pressure is experienced as a sound level. The preferred unit 

for measuring sound is the decibel (dB), which by way of expressing the ratio of sound pressures to a reference value 

logarithmically enables a wide range of audible sound to be evaluated and discussed conveniently. On the low end of 

this range, zero dB is not the absence of sound energy, but instead corresponds approximately to the threshold of 

average healthy human hearing; and, on the upper end, 120–140 dB corresponds to an average person’s threshold of 

pain. 

The human ear is not equally responsive to all frequencies of the audible sound spectrum. An electronic filter is normally 

used when taking noise measurements that de-emphasizes certain frequencies in a manner that mimics the human 

ear’s response to sound; this method is referred to as A-weighting. Sound levels expressed under the A-weighted system 

are sometimes designated dBA. All sound levels discussed in this report are A-weighted. 

The equivalent continuous sound level (Leq) is a single dB value which, if held constant during the specified time period, 

would represent the same total acoustical energy of a fluctuating noise level over that same time period. Leq values are 

commonly expressed for periods of one hour, but longer or shorter time periods may be specified. Another descriptor is 

the Day Night Average Noise Level (Ldn), which is a 24-hour weighted average often referenced for community noise 

management.  The Ldn average is based upon the measured hourly Leq values for each hour between 7 a.m. and 10 p.m., 

and to account for increased sensitivity to noise in the overnight period, 10 dB is added to the average hourly sound 

levels for each of the hours in this overnight period.  CNEL is another 24-hour weighted average, which is similar to Ldn  

except that 5 dB is also added to each of the hourly average noise levels between 7 p.m. and 10 p.m. For comparison, a 

noise source of 58 dBA Leq that is constant throughout the day and night would result in a CNEL or Ldn of 65 dBA. 

In the outdoor environment, noise from a stationary source lessens (or attenuates) by 6 dB with each doubling of distance 

from the source.  This occurs because the energy in the sound wave is depleted as it travels through the air. By way of 

example, noise measured to be 66 dBA at 5 feet from the source outdoors would reduce to 60 dBA at 10 feet from the 

sound source. 

Because sound levels are based on a logarithmic scale, the addition, subtraction, and averaging of sound levels must 

employ logarithmic based formulas rather than arithmetic equations. For example, 60 dBA + 60 dBA = 63 dBA (not 120 

dBA).  For outdoor noise levels in the community, 3 dBA is the threshold for a new source to be barely noticeable above 

ambient levels by a person with health hearing, while a 5 dBA increase would be clearly noticeable.  For instance, a new 

noise source of 65 dBA would be barely noticeable where background levels are 62 dBA; a new noise source of 67 dBA 

would be clearly noticeable where ambient levels are only 62 dBA. 

Noise Regulation in Capitola 

The City of Capitola General Plan Noise Element establishes an exterior noise exposure limit for single-family residential 

uses of 60 dBA Ldn and a limit of 65 dBA Ldn for multi-family residences and lodging facilities. 

9.A.4

Packet Pg. 121

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 S
tr

ee
t 

F
ro

n
ta

g
e 

D
in

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o
is

e 
M

em
o

  (
D

ra
ft

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 f

o
r 

O
u

td
o

o
r 

D
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 D

es
ig

n
 P

er
m

it
)



MEMORANDUM 

Noise Assessment of Proposed Municipal Code Section 17.170.19 - Outdoor Dining in Public Right of Way 

September 22, 2021 

Page 3 

 

 

 

DUDEK.COM 

The Capitola noise ordinance (Municipal Code Chapter 9.12) prohibits the generation of loud, irritating or boisterous 

noise within 200 feet of any residence or lodging facility; no noise level limit is identified in connection with such 

restrictions.  

Commercial Dining Sound Levels 

The proposed allowance of outdoor dining areas would only be associated with an existing restaurant or café, as 

an incidental or accessory use to the main establishment.  As such, cooking and food preparation activities would 

be restricted to the existing indoor areas of the restaurant or café associated with the outdoor dining area. In 

addition, amplified sound would not be permitted in the outdoor dining area.  Consequently, noise generating 

activity in the outdoor dining areas would consist of eating and conversation between diners. 

The Noise Navigator Sound Level Database (Version 1.8 2016) provides several sound level references for 

restaurant dining areas.  Sound levels vary from 50 dBA Leq for an elegant bistro, to 60 dBA Leq for an average 

family style restaurant, to 65 dBA Leq for a half-full casual dining restaurant.  These measurements are indoors, 

and no distance is specified from the measurement point to the closest table or to the center of the dining area.  

One sound level reference is provided for an outdoor dining area, with 52 dBA Leq identified for “people eating and 

talking” at 45 feet from the edge of the dining area. Using the standard formula for sound attenuation outdoors, 

this would equate to a sound level of approximately 76 dBA Leq at 3 feet from the edge of the dining area. 

A common sound level reference is 60 dBA Leq for normal conversation between 2 people at a distance of 3 feet 

(Physics, Paul A. Tipler, 1976).  Doubling the number of people in the conversation, the sound level would be 

approximately 63 dBA Leq at 3 feet.  Assuming 32 diners in an outdoor dining area, all engaged in conversation, 

the sound level would be approximately 72 dBA at 3 feet.  This compares favorably to the sound level reference 

derived for people eating and speaking in an outdoor dining area, converted to a distance of 3 feet.   

Based upon the above, this assessment uses a reference sound level of 76 dBA Leq at 3 feet to represent the 

sound level from outdoor dining areas with a capacity of up to 32 persons. 

Potential Public Right of Way Dining Areas in C-R and C-C Zones 

Within the C-R zone, there is only one area where a residential property is adjacent to a location where street 

frontage dining could be introduced under the proposed ordinance. This location is at the northeast corner of 41st 

Street and Capitola Road.  The closest residence to street frontage adjacent to Whole Foods Market/Cafe on 

Capitola Road is at approximately 50 feet.  Dining noise at this distance would be no more than 48 dBA Leq 

compared to a traffic noise level of approximately 58 dBA Leq (converted from CNEL, Capitola General Plan 2019, 

Figure SN-6). 

Within the C-C zone south of Capitola Road, residences exist across 49th Street east of the C-C zone boundary, but 

there are no restaurants in this vicinity.  Residences also exist on the north and south side of Reposa Avenue 

adjacent to the C-C zone boundary, but there are also no existing restaurants in this area.  For the C-C zone 

centered along Bay Avenue, residences are located along the south side of Center Street, but existing commercial 

development extends to the north side of the right of way, and space to establish outdoor dining does not exist.  

Residences are also on the north and south sides of Hill Street, adjacent to the east side of the C-C zone, but 

there are no existing restaurants in this vicinity. 

9.A.4

Packet Pg. 122

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 S
tr

ee
t 

F
ro

n
ta

g
e 

D
in

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o
is

e 
M

em
o

  (
D

ra
ft

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 f

o
r 

O
u

td
o

o
r 

D
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 D

es
ig

n
 P

er
m

it
)



MEMORANDUM 

Noise Assessment of Proposed Municipal Code Section 17.170.19 - Outdoor Dining in Public Right of Way 

September 22, 2021 

Page 4 

 

 

 

DUDEK.COM 

Consequently, the potential creation and operation of sidewalk or parking area dining decks associated with 

restaurants in the C-C and C-R zone districts would not be anticipated to result in noticeable noise levels at 

existing nearby residences. 

Potential Public Right of Way Dining Areas in MU-N Zone 

The MU-N zone is characterized chiefly by a single row of parcels aligned along an arterial roadway.  Residences 

are typically located on the parcels “behind” the MU-N boundary, where the MU-N use separates the residences 

from the busy street frontage.  Because the outdoor dining areas contemplated under the proposed ordinance 

would only be allowed on the sidewalk or street frontage in front of an existing restaurant building, the restaurant 

building would provide an effective barrier to prevent dining noise from reaching the adjacent residences.   

Consequently, the potential creation and operation of sidewalk or parking area dining decks associated with 

restaurants in the MU-N zone district would not be anticipated to result in noticeable noise levels at existing 

nearby residences. 

Potential Public Right of Way Dining Areas in MU-V Zone 

In the MU-V zone, there are residences both “behind” restaurants and across the street from restaurants. 

Residences behind an existing restaurant would be shielded from dining noise associated with an allowed outdoor 

dining area in the front of an existing restaurant, by virtue of the restaurant building itself providing a noise 

barrier. Residences located across the street from an existing restaurant would not be located closer than 

approximately 25 feet from the potential dining area, given the width of streets in the MU-V zone. 

At a distance of 25 feet, outdoor dining noise from a group of 32 diners would be approximately 54 dBA Leq. This 

noise level would be generally equivalent to the noise associated with traffic along Capitola Avenue, Stockton 

Avenue, and Monterey Avenue within the MU-V zone (interpreted to be 53 dBA Leq as converted from CNEL, 

Capitola General Plan 2019, Figure SN-6).  During periods of very light traffic on roadways in the MU-V, dining 

conversation noise may be audible at nearby residences, but should not constitute a loud, irritating or boisterous 

noise. 

In addition, based upon a constant noise level of 54 dBA Leq - outdoor dining noise levels at the closest residences 

in the MU-V zone would result in a CNEL of 54 dBA, based on the proposed operating schedule limitation to the 

hours between 7 a.m. to 10 p.m. 

Consequently, the potential creation and operation of sidewalk or parking area dining decks associated with 

restaurants in the MU-V zone district would not be anticipated to result in substantial increases in noise levels at 

existing nearby residences. 

Conclusion Regarding Noise Impacts 

While the Capitola noise ordinance (Municipal Code Chapter 9.12) prohibits the generation of loud, irritating or boisterous 

noise within 200 feet of any residence or lodging facility; no noise level limit is identified in connection with such 

restrictions. Based on the analysis discussed above, the potential creation and operation of sidewalk or parking area 

dining decks associated with restaurants in the C-C and C-R and MU-N zone districts would not be anticipated to result 

9.A.4

Packet Pg. 123

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 S
tr

ee
t 

F
ro

n
ta

g
e 

D
in

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o
is

e 
M

em
o

  (
D

ra
ft

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 f

o
r 

O
u

td
o

o
r 

D
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 D

es
ig

n
 P

er
m

it
)



MEMORANDUM 

Noise Assessment of Proposed Municipal Code Section 17.170.19 - Outdoor Dining in Public Right of Way 

September 22, 2021 

Page 5 

 

 

 

DUDEK.COM 

in noticeable noise levels at existing nearby residences or lodging facilities due to limited noise generation from dining 

and given existing ambient noise levels in these areas. In the MU-V zone district, the potential creation and operation of 

sidewalk or parking area dining decks associated with restaurants would not be anticipated to result in substantial 

increases in noise levels at existing nearby residences or lodging facilities (i.e., dining noise levels experienced at 

residences or lodging  facilities would not be anticipated to exceed 3 dBA over ambient levels). Consequently noise 

impacts upon noise-sensitive land uses from adoption of the proposed ordinance are anticipated to be less than 

significant. 

 

9.A.4

Packet Pg. 124

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 S
tr

ee
t 

F
ro

n
ta

g
e 

D
in

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o
is

e 
M

em
o

  (
D

ra
ft

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 f

o
r 

O
u

td
o

o
r 

D
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 D

es
ig

n
 P

er
m

it
)



1 
 

17.96.170 Outdoor Dining in Public Right of Way 

A. Purpose. This section establishes standards and permit requirements for outdoor dining in the 

public right-of-way. 

B. Definitions. 

1. Outdoor Dining.  “Outdoor dining” means and includes both sidewalk dining and street 

dining decks. 

2. Sidewalk Dining. “Sidewalk dining” means the use of an outdoor sidewalk area within the 

public-right-of-way, by a private business that is an eating and drinking establishment, for 

eating and drinking activities.  

3. Street Dining Deck. A street dining deck means a platform or similar level surface within 

the public right-of-way and extending beyond the curb and into a roadway or on-street 

parking area for use by a private business that is an eating or drinking establishment.   

a. Custom Street Dining Deck. A custom street dining deck is a street dining deck 

designed by the applicant.  

b. Prototype Street Dining Deck.  A prototype street dining deck is a street dining deck 

utilizing a design that has been preauthorized by the Planning Commission.  

C. Where Allowed. 

1. Sidewalk Dining. 

a. Sidewalk dining is allowed in the MU-N, MU-V, C-C, and C-R zoning districts. 

b. In the MU-V zoning district, sidewalk dining is allowed only on Monterey Avenue and 

on the Capitola Wharf. 

2. Street Dining Decks. Street dining decks are allowed only in the MU-V zoning district.  

D. Maximum Number of On-Street Parking Spaces. A maximum of 25 total on-street parking 

spaces may be used for street dining decks.  Spaces shall be allocated by the City Manager in 

accordance with administrative policies issued pursuant to this section. 

E. Permits and Approvals. 

1. Required Permits. Table 17.96-2 shows permits required for sidewalk dining and street 

dining decks.  

  

9.A.4

Packet Pg. 125

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 S
tr

ee
t 

F
ro

n
ta

g
e 

D
in

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o
is

e 
M

em
o

  (
D

ra
ft

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 f

o
r 

O
u

td
o

o
r 

D
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 D

es
ig

n
 P

er
m

it
)



2 
 

Table 17.96-2: Permits Required for Outdoor Dining in Public Right-of-way 

Type of Outdoor Dining Permit Required [2] 

[3] 

Zoning Code Chapter 

Sidewalk Dining Administrative Permit 17.116 

Street Dining Decks   

Prototype Street Dining Deck [1] Administrative Permit  17.116 

Custom Street Dining Deck Design Permit 17.120 

[1] Prototype dining deck designs are identified in the adopted Village Outdoor Dining Program 

Administrative Policy No. I-36. 

[2] Outdoor dining in the public right-of-way also requires an encroachment permit pursuant to 

Municipal Code Chapter 12.56. Minor encroachment permits for applications for prototype street 

dining decks may be issued by the Public Works Director and major encroachment permits for 

custom street dining decks may be issued by the Planning Commission. 

[3] A street dining deck or sidewalk dining area located in the coastal zone may require a coastal 

development permit (CDP) as specified in Chapter 17.44 (Coastal Overlay Zone). 

 

2. Administrative Permit Standards.  All applications for an Administrative Permit are 

reviewed and acted on by the Community Development Director and must comply with the 

following standards: 

a. Any included street dining deck must be designed consistent with a prototype design 

approved by the Planning Commission. 

b. The sidewalk dining area or street dining deck must comply with all applicable 

requirements of this section, the Zoning Code, , and all other applicable laws, 

administrative policies, rules, and regulations. 

c. If located in the coastal zone, the sidewalk dining area or street dining deck is consistent 

with the Local Coastal Program and will not adversely impact coastal resources, coastal 

access, and coastal views. 

d. The street dining deck or sidewalk dining area must utilize high-quality, durable materials 

that are compatible with surrounding development and can withstand inclement 

weather. 

e. A prototype street dining decks must use a design authorized by a valid coastal 

development permit.   

3. Design Permit Findings. All applications for a Design Permit are viewed and acted on by 

the Planning Commission. Notwithstanding Municipal Code Section 17.120.080 (Findings 

for Approval), the Planning Commission shall not make the Design Permit findings in 

Section 17.120.080, and instead shall make the following findings: 

a. The street dining deck complies with all applicable requirements of this section, the 

Zoning Code, and all other applicable laws, administrative policies, rules, and 

regulations. 

9.A.4

Packet Pg. 126

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 S
tr

ee
t 

F
ro

n
ta

g
e 

D
in

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o
is

e 
M

em
o

  (
D

ra
ft

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 f

o
r 

O
u

td
o

o
r 

D
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 D

es
ig

n
 P

er
m

it
)



3 
 

b. If located in the coastal zone, the street dining deck is consistent with the Local Coastal 

Program and will not adversely impact coastal resources, coastal access, and coastal 

views. 

c. The design of the street dining deck supports a safe, inviting, and lively public realm 

consistent with the purpose of the MU-V zoning district as provided in Section 

17.20.040 (Purpose of the Mixed Use Zoning Districts).  

d. The street dining deck materials include high-quality, durable materials that are 

compatible with surrounding development and can withstand inclement weather. 

4. Good Standing. In the past twenty-four months, the applicant has not been issued a notice 

of abatement, violation, or code enforcement related to an ABC license, entertainment 

permit, or use permit.  Any courtesy code enforcement notices received by the applicant was 

corrected by the applicant within the date specified on the courtesy notice.   

5. Other Permits and Approvals. 

a. Sidewalk and street dining decks are subject to all other permits, licenses and/ or 

entitlements required by State or local law. 

b. A street dining deck or sidewalk dining area located in the coastal zone may require a 

coastal development permit (CDP) as specified in Chapter 17.44 (Coastal Overlay 

Zone). Approval of a CDP requires conformance with the CDP findings for approval 

as specified in Section 17.44.130 (Findings for approval). 

6. Use of Permit Fees in Coastal Zone. For sidewalk dining and street dining decks in the 

coastal zone, the City shall utilize no less that 50 percent of permit fees received for coastal 

access programs, maintenance, and improvements. 

F. Administrative Policies. 

1. The City Manager is authorized to issue administrative policies regarding the administration 

and leasing of the public right-of-way for sidewalk dining and street dining decks, including 

but not limited to the application and selection process for applicants, maintenance 

requirements, and other related policies.  

2. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of this chapter and the administrative 

policy, the more restrictive requirement shall control.  

G. Operating and Development Standards. 

1. Must Serve Eating and Drinking Establishment. Outdoor dining in the public right-of-

way is allowed only when incidental to and a part of an “eating and drinking establishment” 

as defined in Chapter 17.160 (Glossary). 

2. One Facility Only. An eating establishment may have either sidewalk dining or a street 

dining deck. An eating establishment may not have both sidewalk dining and a street dining 

deck. 

3. Limited to Eating Establishment Frontage. 

9.A.4

Packet Pg. 127

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 S
tr

ee
t 

F
ro

n
ta

g
e 

D
in

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o
is

e 
M

em
o

  (
D

ra
ft

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 f

o
r 

O
u

td
o

o
r 

D
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 D

es
ig

n
 P

er
m

it
)



4 
 

a. Sidewalk dining is allowed on the sidewalk directly adjacent to the eating establishment 

street frontage. 

b. Street dining decks in the public right-of-way are only allowed on parking spaces that 

are: 

(1) Wholly or partially located in the right-of-way; and 

(2) Directly adjacent to the eating establishment street frontage unless authorized by 

paragraph (b) below. 

c. The City may allow an outdoor dining area to extend beyond the eating and drinking 

establishment frontage if:  

(1) Due to the road and parking space layout, the outdoor eating area cannot be 

designed without extending the area beyond immediately adjacent parking spaces;  

(2) Extending the outdoor dining area will not have significant impact on adjoining 

businesses as determined by the permit review authority; and  

(3) Extending the outdoor dining area will not adversely impact coastal access. 

4. Sidewalk Width. Outdoor dining areas in the public right-of-way shall provide a minimum 

clear width within the sidewalk of at least: 

a. 5 feet in the MU-V zoning district; and 

b. 4 feet in all other zoning districts.  

5. Signs. All signs associated with an outdoor dining area in the public right-of-way must 

comply with Zoning Code Chapter 17.80 (Signs).  

6. Trash and Maintenance. An outdoor dining area in the public right-of-way shall be 

maintained in a clean and safe condition as determined by the City. 

7. Amplified Sound. Amplified sound, including amplified music, is not allowed in an outdoor 

dining area. 

8. Bicycle Parking for Street Dining Decks. 

a. A street dining deck that eliminates an on-street parking space must include a bicycle 

parking rack integrated in the street dining deck design or within the private property of 

the eating or drinking establishment. 

b. The bicycle parking rack must provide a minimum of two bicycle parking spaces   for 

each eliminated vehicle parking space.  

9. Hours of Operation. 

a. Outdoor dining in the public right-of-way may occur between 7 a.m. and 10 p.m. seven 

days a week.   

b. The City may allow extended hours for street dining decks for special events and 

holidays. 

H. Enforcement. 

1. General. 

9.A.4

Packet Pg. 128

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 S
tr

ee
t 

F
ro

n
ta

g
e 

D
in

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o
is

e 
M

em
o

  (
D

ra
ft

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 f

o
r 

O
u

td
o

o
r 

D
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 D

es
ig

n
 P

er
m

it
)



5 
 

a. The City shall have all enforcement remedies permitted by law, including but not limited 

to those in Municipal Code Title 4 (General Municipal Code Enforcement). 

b. Any outdoor dining facility may be subject to inspection by the City on an annual basis 

or as needed to ensure compliance with this section, conditions of approval, and 

administrative procedures.  

c. The Community Development Director is authorized to issue administrative citations 

pursuant to Municipal Code Chapter 4.14 (Administrative Citations), in amounts set 

forth by separate resolution of the City Council.  

2. Revocation of Permit.  After a permit holder is issued a fourth administrative citation, the 

Community Development Director or Public Works Director may revoke any 

Administrative Permit and the Planning Commission may revoke any Design Permit.  

Grounds for revocation shall be the permit-holder’s lack of compliance with the 

requirements in this section or any permit issued pursuant to this section.  The decision 

regarding revocation is appealable pursuant to the procedures in Chapter 2.52 (Appeals to 

City Council). 

 

17.96.175  Outdoor Dining on Private Property 

A. Conditional Use Permit. An eating establishment may provide outdoor dining on private 

property with a Conditional Use Permit and consent of private property owner that such use is 

permitted on the property. 

 

B. Coastal Development Permit. Outdoor dining on private property in the coastal zone may 
require a Coastal Development Permit pursuant to Chapter 17.44 (Coastal Overlay Zone) 
independent of and in addition to any other required permit or approval. 

 

Chapter 17.120 Design Permits 

17.120.030 When Required 

C. Types of Projects.  The types of projects that require a Design Permit, and the type of Design 

Permit for each project, are listed in Table 17.120-1. If a type of development project or activity 

is not specifically listed in Table 17.120-1, a Design Permit is not required. 

 

  

9.A.4

Packet Pg. 129

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 S
tr

ee
t 

F
ro

n
ta

g
e 

D
in

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o
is

e 
M

em
o

  (
D

ra
ft

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 f

o
r 

O
u

td
o

o
r 

D
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 D

es
ig

n
 P

er
m

it
)



6 
 

TABLE 17.120-1:  PROJECTS REQUIRING DESIGN PERMITS 

Type of Project Type of Permit 

Single-Family Residential Projects 

Ground floor additions to existing single-family homes where the addition is 

visible from a public street and does not exceed 15 ft. in height, except for 

exempt additions (Section 17.120.030.B) 

Minor Design Permit 

Accessory structures greater than 10 ft. in height and/or 120 sq. ft. to 300 sq. ft. Minor Design Permit 

Accessory structures greater than 300 sq. ft. Design Permit 

Upper floor decks and balconies on the side or rear of a home that are not 

adjacent to public open space 

Design Permit 

All rooftop decks Design Permit 

Upper floor additions to an existing single-family homes Design Permit 

New single-family homes Design Permit 

Multifamily Residential Projects 

Ground-floor additions less than 15% of total floor area of an existing 

multifamily structure 

Minor Design Permit 

Upper floor decks and balconies on the side or rear of a structure that are not 

adjacent to public open space 

Design Permit 

All rooftop decks Design Permit 

Accessory structures including garbage and recycling enclosures Minor Design Permit 

Ground-floor additions 15% of total floor area or more to an existing 

multifamily structure 

Design Permit 

Upper floor additions to an existing multifamily structure Design Permit 

New multifamily residential structures Design Permit 

Non-Residential Projects (Including Mixed-Use) 

Exterior modifications to an existing structure that do not increase the floor area 

of the structure 

Minor Design Permit 

Accessory structures 120 sq. ft. to 300 sq. ft.  including garbage and recycling 

enclosures 

Minor Design Permit 

Accessory structures greater than 300 sq. ft.  including garbage and recycling 

enclosures 

Design Permit 

Additions less than 15% of the floor area of an existing non-residential structure 

where the addition is not visible from the primary street frontage  

Minor Design Permit 

Additions 15% or more of the floor area of an existing non-residential structure 

where the addition is visible from the primary street frontage 

Design Permit 

Additions to an existing non-residential structure of 3,000 sq. ft. or more Design Permit 

New non-residential structures Design Permit 

Custom outdoor dining decks Design Permit 

 

D. Single-Family Exemptions. The following additions to a single-family dwelling are exempt 

from the Design Permit requirement: 

9.A.4

Packet Pg. 130

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 S
tr

ee
t 

F
ro

n
ta

g
e 

D
in

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o
is

e 
M

em
o

  (
D

ra
ft

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 f

o
r 

O
u

td
o

o
r 

D
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 D

es
ig

n
 P

er
m

it
)



7 
 

1. Ground-floor single-story additions up to 400 square feet at the rear of the home. 

2. Enclosure of an existing recessed entrance up to 25 square feet. 

3. Enclosure of an existing open porch up to 50 square feet. 

4. Installation of bay windows. 

5. A single accessory structures that does not exceed 120 square feet in floor area and 10 feet 

in height with no connection to water or sewer. 

6. Minor exterior modification or replacement of materials on an existing structure including 

siding, windows, doors, and roof. 

7. Other similar minor additions to a single-family dwelling as determined by the Community 

Development Director. 

8. Upper floor decks and balconies immediately adjacent to a street or public open space. 

E. Non-Residential Exemptions. 

1. Prototype outdoor dining decks that comply with Section 17.96.170 (Outdoor Dining in 

Public Right of Way) are exempt from the Design Permit requirement.  

 

 

9.A.4

Packet Pg. 131

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 S
tr

ee
t 

F
ro

n
ta

g
e 

D
in

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o
is

e 
M

em
o

  (
D

ra
ft

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 f

o
r 

O
u

td
o

o
r 

D
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 D

es
ig

n
 P

er
m

it
)



9.A.5

Packet Pg. 132

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 L

et
te

r 
fr

o
m

 E
n

g
lis

h
 A

le
s 

 (
D

ra
ft

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 f

o
r 

O
u

td
o

o
r 

D
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 D

es
ig

n
 P

er
m

it
)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
AGENDA REPORT

MEETING OF NOVEMBER 23, 2021

FROM: City Manager Department

SUBJECT: Mandatory Organics Waste Disposal Reduction Ordinance 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Introduce for first reading, by title only, waiving further reading of 
the text, an ordinance repealing Capitola Municipal Code Chapter 8.04: Garbage and enacting 
Chapter 8.04: Solid Waste and Edible Food Recovery.

BACKGROUND: In September of 2016, Governor Brown signed into law State Senate Bill 1383 
(“SB 1383”). SB 1383 establishes a methane emission reduction target of 75% (from 2014 
levels) by 2025. The law also seeks to rescue at least 20% of currently disposed edible food by 
2025 and redistribute this food to people in need. These reduction targets are designed to 
support the State’s effort to reduce emissions of short-lived climate pollutants in California and 
to support the recovery of edible food waste to reduce food insecurity.

In November 2020, the California Department of Resources, Recycling and Recovery 
(“CalRecycle”) finalized regulations to achieve the goals of SB 1383. The regulations require all 
local jurisdictions in the State to adopt a mandatory organic recycling ordinance, or other 
enforceable mechanism, to comply with SB 1383 by January 1, 2022. CalRecycle has provided 
model implementation tools, including a model ordinance, to assist jurisdictions in complying 
with SB 1383.

The regulations place requirements on multiple entities, including the City of Capitola, 
residential households, commercial businesses and business owners, commercial edible food 
generators, self-haulers, food recovery organizations, and food recovery services to help 
achieve Statewide organic waste disposal reduction goals.

DISCUSSION: Pursuant to SB 1383 and the regulations established by CalRecycle, the City of 
Capitola is required to implement the following practices and procedures to be considered 
compliant:

• Require the source-separation and collection of food waste from all organic waste 
generators, including residential, multi-family, commercial properties, and City facilities;

• Development of a program for monitoring compliance, including inspections and 
enforcement, identifying violations, establishing penalties for non-compliance, and 
tracking activities for annual reporting to CalRecycle;

9.B

Packet Pg. 133



Mandatory Organics Waste Disposal Reduction Ordinance 
November 23, 2021

• Development of an edible-food recovery program, including diversion of material from 
certain commercial generators (including public events), partnerships with edible food 
recovery services and organizations, and determining edible food recovery infrastructure 
capacity gaps;

• Conduct outreach and education to all residents, businesses, haulers, solid waste 
facilities, local food banks, and other food recovery organizations regarding relevant 
requirements under SB 1383;

• Procure and track purchases of recycled paper and recycled organic waste products 
including mulch, compost, renewable gas and/or electricity from biomass conversion; 
and

• Maintain accurate and timely records of SB 1383 compliance.

To meet the SB 1383 regulations, jurisdictions throughout the State are required to adopt an
ordinance or other similarly enforceable mechanism by January 1, 2022.

Repealing chapter 8.04: Garbage and enacting a Chapter 8.04: Solid Waste and Edible Food 
Recovery in Capitola Municipal Code will allow the City to meet this requirement. 

The ordinance will require that organic waste generators, haulers, and other entities subject to 
the requirements of SB 1383 regulations and subject to the jurisdiction's authority, comply with 
SB 1383 regulatory requirements.

FISCAL IMPACT: The Fiscal Year fiscal impacts of new ordinance should be limited to staff 
time.  As the City and its franchise hauler further develop the compliance programs, additional 
costs will be included in future budgets.

ATTACHMENTS:

1. Capitola Ordinance Chapter 8.04 (PDF)

Report Prepared By:  Larry Laurent
Assistant to the City Manager

Reviewed and Forwarded by:

9.B

Packet Pg. 134



ORDINANCE NO. ___ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA REPEALING 
CHAPTER 8.04 (GARBAGE) AND ENACTING CHAPTER 8.04 (SOLID WASTE AND 
EDIBLE FOOD RECOVERY) OF THE CAPITOLA MUNICIPAL CODE TO ADDRESS 

ORGANIC WASTE DISPOSAL REDUCTION 

WHEREAS, the California Integrated Waste Management Act of 1989, requires cities and 

counties to reduce, reuse, and recycle (including composting) solid waste generated in their jurisdictions 

to the maximum extent feasible before any incineration or landfill disposal of waste, in order to 

conserve water, energy, and other natural resources, and to protect the environment, and  

WHEREAS, Assembly Bill 341 of 2011 placed requirements on businesses and multi-family 

property owners that generate a specified threshold amounts of solid waste to arrange for recycling 

services and required jurisdictions to implement commercial recycling programs, and 

WHEREAS, Assembly Bill 1826 of 2014 required businesses and multi-family property owners 

that generate a specified threshold amount of solid waste, recycling, and organic waste per week to 

arrange for recycling services for that waste, required jurisdictions to implement recycling programs to 

divert organic waste from businesses subject to the law, and required jurisdictions to implement a 

commercial organics recycling program, and 

WHEREAS, SB 1383, the Short-lived Climate Pollutant Reduction Act of 2016, required 

CalRecycle to develop regulations to reduce organics in landfills as a source of methane.  CalRecycle’s 

regulations place requirements on multiple entities including local jurisdictions, residential households, 

commercial businesses, commercial edible food generators, haulers, and others in order to support 

achievement of organic waste disposal reduction targets, reduce greenhouse gas emissions, and reduce 

food insecurity by requiring commercial edible food generators to arrange to have edible food be 

recovered for human consumption, and 

WHEREAS, SB 1383, the Short-lived Climate Pollutant Reduction Act of 2016, requires 

jurisdictions to adopt an ordinance and other enforceable mechanisms to implement relevant provisions 

of CalRecycle’ s SB 1383 regulations, and  

WHEREAS, CalRecycle’s SB1383 regulations specifically mandate that the City adopt an 

ordinance for enforcement of provisions of section 492.6 of the Department of Water Resource’s Model 

Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance, Title 23 California Code of Regulations Chapter 2.7, related to 

composting, notwithstanding that the entirety of the Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance 

applies in Capitola pursuant to Government Code section 65595(d),   

NOW THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1.  Repeal and Replacement. Chapter 8.04 (Garbage) of the Capitola Municipal Code is hereby 

repealed and Chapter 8.04 (Solid Waste and Edible Food Recovery) is enacted, set forth in its entirety as 

follows: 

9.B.1

Packet Pg. 135

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 C

h
ap

te
r 

8.
04

  (
M

an
d

at
o

ry
 O

rg
an

ic
s 

W
as

te
 D

is
p

o
sa

l R
ed

u
ct

io
n

 O
rd

in
an

ce
)



Chapter 8.04 

SOLID WASTE AND EDIBLE FOOD RECOVERY 

 

8.04.010 Definitions. 

8.04.020  Accumulation of Solid Waste. 

8.04.030  Prohibited Disposal. 

8.04.040  Collection – Exclusive right. 

8.04.050  Collection – Interference prohibited. 

8.04.060  Right to Divert Recyclables and Organic Materials. 

8.04.070  Collection Service Requirements 

8.04.080  Commercial business requirements. 

8.04.090  Waivers for Commercial Businesses. 

8.04.100  Self-hauler requirements. 

8.04.110  Franchised haulers and facility operators. 

8.04.120 Commercial edible food generator requirements. 

8.04.130  Food Recovery Organization and Food Recovery Services requirements. 

8.04.140  Enforcement and Penalties. 

 

8.04.010 Definitions.   

For the purposes of this chapter, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings set forth 

herein:  

A. “Authorized collector” means such persons, firms or corporations collecting and delivering for 

disposal, recycling or processing solid waste (other than solid waste generated by a permitted 

building project) originating in the City and doing so under a contract or franchise agreement 

with the City. 

B. “Back-haul” means generating and transporting organic materials to a destination owned and 

operated by the generator using the generator’s own employees and equipment, as defined in 

14 CCR section 189881(a)(66)(A). 

C. “CCR” means the California Code of Regulations.  

D. “City Manager” means the City Manager of the City of City of Capitola, or their designee.  

E. “Commercial Business” or “Commercial” means a firm, partnership, proprietorship, joint-stock 

company, corporation, or association, whether for-profit or nonprofit, strip mall, industrial 

facility, or a multifamily dwelling consisting of five or more units, or as further defined in 14 CCR 

Section 18982(a)(6). A multi-family dwelling that consists of fewer than five (5) units is not a 

commercial business for purposes of implementing this chapter.   

9.B.1

Packet Pg. 136

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 C

h
ap

te
r 

8.
04

  (
M

an
d

at
o

ry
 O

rg
an

ic
s 

W
as

te
 D

is
p

o
sa

l R
ed

u
ct

io
n

 O
rd

in
an

ce
)



F. “Commercial Edible Food Generator” means a tier one or tier two commercial edible food 

generator as defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(73) and (a)(74). Food recovery organizations 

and food recovery services are not commercial edible food generators.  

G. “Community Composting” means any activity that composts green material, agricultural 

material, food material, and vegetative food material, alone or in combination, and the total 

amount of feedstock and compost on-site at any one time does not exceed 100 cubic yards and 

750 square feet, as specified in 14 CCR Section 17855(a)(4). 

H. “Compost” means the product resulting from the controlled biological decomposition of organic 

waste. 

I. "Construction and demolition debris" or "C&D" means used or discarded materials resulting 

from construction, renovation, remodeling, repair, demolition, excavation or construction clean-

up operations on any pavement or structure. 

J. “Disposal” means the final disposition of solid waste at a solid waste facility permitted for 

disposal. 

K. “Diversion” means activities reducing or eliminating the amount of solid waste from solid waste 

disposal, and which return these materials to use in the form of raw materials for new, reused, 

or reconstituted products, which meet the quality standards necessary for commercial use, or 

for other purposes of reuse. 

L. “Dwelling unit” means one (1) or more rooms with internal access between all rooms, which 

provide complete independent living facilities for at least one (1) family, including provisions for 

living, sleeping, eating, cooking, bathing, and sanitary facilities. 

“Edible food” means food intended for human consumption, as further defined in 14 CCR 

section 18982(a)(18). For the purposes of this chapter, edible food is not solid waste if it is 

recovered and not discarded. Nothing in this chapter requires or authorizes the recovery of 

edible food that does not meet the food safety requirements of the California Retail Food Code. 

M. “Excluded Waste” means biohazardous or biomedical waste, hazardous waste, medical waste, 

regulated radioactive waste, waste that is volatile, corrosive, or infectious, waste treatment or 

processing sludge, contaminated soil and dirt, contaminated concrete, contaminated asphalt, 

automobiles, automobile parts, boats, boat parts, boat trailers, internal combustion engines, 

lead-acid batteries, any matter or materials which are not acceptable for disposal at a solid 

waste landfill as defined in California Integrated Waste Management Act as may be amended, 

and those wastes under the regulatory control of the Nuclear Regulatory Commission.  

N. “Food recovery organization” means an entity that engages in the collection or receipt of edible 

food from commercial edible food generators and distributes that edible food as part of food 

recovery either directly or through other entities as further defined in 14 CCR section 

18982(a)(25), including, but not limited to: 

1. A food bank as defined in Section 113783 of the Health and Safety Code; 

2. A nonprofit charitable organization as defined in Section 113841 of the Health and 

Safety code; and, 

3. A nonprofit charitable temporary food facility as defined in Section 113842 of the 

Health and Safety Code. 

O. “Food recovery service” means a person or entity that collects and transports edible food from a 

commercial edible food generator to a food recovery organization or other entities for food 

9.B.1

Packet Pg. 137

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 C

h
ap

te
r 

8.
04

  (
M

an
d

at
o

ry
 O

rg
an

ic
s 

W
as

te
 D

is
p

o
sa

l R
ed

u
ct

io
n

 O
rd

in
an

ce
)



recovery, as further defined in 14 CCR section 18982(a)(26). A food recovery service is not a 

commercial edible food generator for the purposes of this chapter.  

P. “Food scraps” means food scraps and trimmings and other putrescible waste that result from 

food production, preparation, cooking, storage, consumption or handling. Food scraps includes 

but is not limited to meat, fish and dairy waste, fruit and vegetable waste and grain waste. Food 

scraps does not include excluded waste. 

Q. “Garbage” means all solid waste attributed to normal activities of a dwelling unit or commercial 

business. Garbage does not include recyclable materials, organic materials, debris from 

construction and demolition, e-waste, universal waste, hazardous waste, household hazardous 

waste or excluded waste.  

R. “Generators,” for the purpose of this chapter, means a person or entity, including commercial 

generators and residential generators, that is responsible for the initial creation of solid waste or 

organic materials at any premises, and includes “organic waste generator” as defined in 14 CCR 

Section 18982(a)(48). 

S. “Organic materials” or "organic waste" means solid waste containing material originated from 

living organisms and their metabolic waste products, including but not limited to food scraps, 

green material, landscape and pruning waste, organic textiles and carpets, lumber, wood, paper 

products, printing and writing paper, manure, biosolids, digestate, and sludges, as further 

defined in 14 CCR section 18982(a)(46).  

T. “Prohibited container contaminants” means (1) discarded materials placed in the designated 

Recyclables container that are not identified as acceptable source separated recyclables for the 

authorized collector’s designated recyclables collection container; (2) discarded materials placed 

in the designated organic materials collection container that are not identified as acceptable 

source separated organic materials for the authorized collector’s designated organic materials 

collection container; and (3) discarded materials placed in the garbage container that are 

acceptable source separated recyclables and/or source separated organic materials to be placed 

in authorized collector’s designated organic materials collection container and/or designated 

recyclables collection container, and (4) excluded waste placed in any container. 

U. "Recyclable materials" and “Recyclables” means any material designated to be separated from 

the waste stream for purposes of recycling by the authorized collector in accordance with 

applicable law.  

V. "Recycling" means the process of collecting, sorting, cleansing, treating and reconstituting 

materials that would otherwise become garbage and returning them for use or reuse in the 

form of raw materials for new, used or reconstituted products which meet the quality standard 

necessary to be used in the marketplace. Recycling does not include transformation as defined 

in Public Resources Code § 40201.  

W. “Residential” means, for the purposes of this chapter, any premises consisting of between one 

(1) and four (4) dwelling units, and onsite domestic uses accessory to these dwelling units. A 

multi-family dwelling that consists of fewer than (5) dwelling units is a residential premises, for 

the purposes of this chapter. 

X.  “Self-haul” means the act of hauling solid waste, organic waste or recovered materials that a 

person has themselves generated to another person for purposes of recovery or disposal. A 

“self-hauler” is any person who self-hauls waste that they have generated to another person for 

disposal or recovery, and also includes a person who back-hauls waste.  

9.B.1

Packet Pg. 138

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 C

h
ap

te
r 

8.
04

  (
M

an
d

at
o

ry
 O

rg
an

ic
s 

W
as

te
 D

is
p

o
sa

l R
ed

u
ct

io
n

 O
rd

in
an

ce
)



Y. "Solid waste"  has the same meaning as defined in Public Resources Code Section 40191, which 

defines solid waste as all putrescible and nonputrescible solid and semisolid wastes, including 

garbage, recyclable materials, organic materials, construction and demolition wastes, bulky 

waste, discarded home and industrial appliances, manure, vegetable or animal solid or semisolid 

wastes, and other discarded solid and semisolid wastes with the exception that solid waste does 

not include any of the following wastes: (1) hazardous waste, as defined in the Public Resources 

Code Section 40141, (2) radioactive waste regulated pursuant to the State Radiation Control Law 

and (3) Medical waste regulated pursuant to the State Medical Waste Management Act (Part 14 

(commencing with Section 117600) of Division 104 of the Health and Safety Code).  

Z. “Source separate” means the process of removing recyclable materials and organic materials 

from solid waste at the place of generation, prior to collection or self-hauling, as further defined 

in 14 CCR section 17402.5(b)(4).  

AA. “Tier one commercial edible food generator” means a commercial edible food generator that is 

one of the following as defined in 14 CCR section 18982(a): 

1. Supermarkets with gross annual sales of $2,000,000 or more 

2. Grocery store with a total facility size equal to or greater than 10,000 square feet.  
3. Food service provider, which means an entity primarily engaged in providing food 

services to institutional, governmental, commercial, or industrial locations of others 
based on contractual arrangements with these types of organizations. 

4. Wholesale food vendor, which means a business or establishment engaged in the 
merchant wholesale distribution of food, where food (including fruits and 
vegetables) is received, shipped, stored, prepared for distribution to a retailer, 
warehouse, distributor, or other destination. 

5. Food distributor, which means a company that distributes food to entities including, 
but not limited to, supermarkets and grocery stores. 

BB.  “Tier two commercial edible food generator” means a commercial edible food generator that is 

one of the following as defined in 14 CCR section 18982(a): 

1. Restaurant with 250 or more seats, or a total facility size equal to or greater than 5,000 
square feet. 

2. Hotel with an on-site food facility and 200 or more rooms. 
3. Health facility with an on-site food facility and 100 or more beds. 
4. Large venue, which means a permanent venue facility that annually seats or serves an 

average of more than 2,000 individuals within the grounds of the facility per day of 
operation of the venue facility. For purposes of this ordinance, a venue facility includes, 
but is not limited to, a public, nonprofit, or privately owned or operated stadium, 
amphitheater, arena, hall, amusement park, conference or civic center, zoo, aquarium, 
airport, racetrack, horse track, performing arts center, fairground, museum, theater, or 
other public attraction facility. For purposes of this ordinance and implementation of 14 
CCR, Division 7, Chapter 12, a site under common ownership or control that includes 
more than one large venue that is contiguous with other large venues in the site, is a 
single large venue.  

5. Large event, which means an event, including, but not limited to, a sporting event or a 
flea market, that charges an admission price, or is operated by a local agency, and 
serves an average of more than 2,000 individuals per day of operation of the event, at a 
location that includes, but is not limited to, a public, nonprofit, or privately owned park, 

9.B.1

Packet Pg. 139

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 C

h
ap

te
r 

8.
04

  (
M

an
d

at
o

ry
 O

rg
an

ic
s 

W
as

te
 D

is
p

o
sa

l R
ed

u
ct

io
n

 O
rd

in
an

ce
)



parking lot, golf course, street system, or other open space when being used for an 
event. 

 

8.04.020  Accumulation of Solid Waste. 

A. It is unlawful for any person to deposit, keep or accumulate, or permit, cause or suffer, any solid 

waste to be deposited, kept or accumulated upon any lot or parcel of land, or public or private place, 

street, lane, alley or drive, unless the same is kept, deposited or allowed to accumulate as provided for 

in this chapter.  

B. It is unlawful for the owner, occupant or person in charge of any premises to suffer, permit or allow 

any solid waste to remain in, on, or under such premises for a period of more than seven days, except as 

expressly provided for in this chapter. 

C. It is unlawful for any person owning or controlling any dwelling, flat, boardinghouse, lodginghouse, 

restaurant, hotel, apartment or eating house, store, shop, office or office buildings to keep, accumulate, 

or permit to be kept or accumulated, any solid waste on or upon any lot or parcel of land, or upon any 

public or private place, street, lane, alley, or drive, unless the same is kept in watertight containers or 

receptacles constructed and maintained in a manner as provided in this chapter. Such containers shall 

either be provided by the authorized collector or commercially manufactured for such purpose.  

D. It shall be the duty of every person in possession, charge or control of any premises upon which solid 

waste is produced to provide one or more containers of sufficient capacity to hold the accumulation of 

solid waste between the times for the collection of garbage and rubbish or self-hauling of such solid 

waste for disposal.  

8.04.030  Prohibited Disposal. 

A. It is unlawful for any person to place, deposit, keep or bury any solid waste on, in, or under any 

premises, except in containers as provided in this chapter.  

B. It is unlawful for any person to take any solid waste generated from a residence or commercial 

establishment and deposit such solid waste in any public refuse container, or in any privately owned 

container for collection of solid waste without the express consent of the person who owns the 

container or is paying for collection service pertaining to such container. A public refuse can is any 

container authorized or maintained by the city for the use of the general public and located upon any 

street, sidewalk, park or right-of-way within the city.  

C. No person may dispose of waste matter in any dumpster without the express permission of the 

person or entity responsible for paying the charges for disposal of the contents of the dumpster. For 

purposes of this section: “waste matter,” is defined in Penal Code Section 374(b); “dumpster” means 

any container, primarily made of metal, with a capacity of one cubic yard or greater and designed or 

used as a receptacle for the disposal of waste.  

D. It is unlawful to burn any solid waste on any sidewalk, street, alley, public way or public property.  

E.  No person shall kindle or maintain any bonfire or garbage fire and no person in possession, charge or 

control of any premises shall authorize or permit any such fire to be kindled or maintained on said 

9.B.1

Packet Pg. 140

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 C

h
ap

te
r 

8.
04

  (
M

an
d

at
o

ry
 O

rg
an

ic
s 

W
as

te
 D

is
p

o
sa

l R
ed

u
ct

io
n

 O
rd

in
an

ce
)



premises unless such fire is contained in a waste burner approved by the state and county air pollution 

control board.  

8.04.040  Collection – Exclusive right. 

A. Except as set forth elsewhere in this chapter, the city, in order to more effectually promote and 

protect the public health and safety and reduce the danger and hazards of fire and conflagrations, 

reserves unto itself the right to collect, transport, haul and dispose of or cause to be collected, 

transported, hauled and disposed of, all solid waste produced or found within the corporate limits of the 

city. The city may, upon terms and conditions deemed to be in the public interest, authorize the award 

of a contract for collection and disposal of solid waste within the city.  At all times where such contract is 

in force, it shall be unlawful for any person, firm or corporation, other than the authorized collector, to 

collect, transport, haul or dispose of any solid waste within or from the city except as expressly set forth 

elsewhere in this chapter. 

B. No person other than the authorized collector shall place or service drop boxes, dumpsters, or debris 

boxes, or containers for collection and disposal of solid waste, anywhere within the jurisdictional limits 

of the city. Drop boxes, dumpsters and debris boxes may only be placed or serviced in the city by the 

city’s authorized collector.  

C. The provisions of this section shall not apply to any person conveying solid waste collected outside 

the City nor to prohibit a person from exercising rights to self-haul solid waste to solid waste or other 

appropriate disposal facilities, and nor the right to divert recyclable material or organic materials so long 

as the diversion otherwise complies with this chapter.  

8.04.050  Collection – Interference prohibited. 

It is unlawful for any person, firm, or corporation, in any manner, to interfere with the collection, 

removal, or disposal of refuse or commercial rubbish by the authorized collector or city employees.  

8.04.060  Right to Divert Recyclables and Organic Materials. 

A. Nothing in this chapter limits the right of any person to donate, sell, or otherwise recover their 

recyclable materials so long as the removal otherwise complies with this chapter.  

B. Organic materials may be fed to animals on the premises where such organic materials is produced, 

provided that the premises are always kept in a sanitary condition to the satisfaction of the City 

Manager; and provided further that the keeping and feeding of such animals shall at all times conform 

to the applicable regulations of those entities governing the same now in force or which thereafter may 

be enacted or promulgated.  

C. Organic materials may be used in on-site composting or community composting, pursuant to 14 CCR 

Section 18984.9(c), provided that such operation conforms to the applicable regulations of those 

entities governing the same now in force or which thereafter may be enacted or promulgated.   

8.04.070  Collection Service Requirements 

A.  Except for premises where the owners or occupants regularly self-haul all waste generated on the 

premises in accordance with section 8.04.100, each owner and tenant of any premises, including all 

9.B.1

Packet Pg. 141

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 C

h
ap

te
r 

8.
04

  (
M

an
d

at
o

ry
 O

rg
an

ic
s 

W
as

te
 D

is
p

o
sa

l R
ed

u
ct

io
n

 O
rd

in
an

ce
)



residential premises and commercial businesses, shall ensure that such premises is subscribed to solid 

waste collection service with the authorized collector as set forth herein.   

B. Each person occupying any premises in the city shall arrange for a size, quantity and collection 

frequency of collection containers to adequately store all solid waste generated in connection with the 

premises between the times designated for collection service. Generators shall adjust service levels for 

their collection services as requested by the City in order to meet the requirements to dispose of all 

solid waste generated on the premises at least weekly. 

C. Each occupant of each premises shall source separate the solid waste generated and shall place 

source separated organic materials, including food scraps, in the organic materials collection container; 

and shall place source separated recyclable materials, as established by the authorized collector, in the 

recyclable material collection container; and shall place garbage in the garbage collection container.  

D. No person shall place any prohibited container contaminant into any collection container serviced by 

the authorized collector. 

E. The authorized collector shall give written notice to the City Manager of the address of any occupied 

premises within the City which is not subscribing to the solid waste collection service provided by the 

authorized collector.  

8.04.080  Commercial business requirements. 

A. Each owner, operator, or manager of a commercial business shall ensure the proper separation of 

solid waste generated on such premises, as required by the authorized collector, by placing each type of 

material in designated collection containers, and ensure that employees, contractors, volunteers, 

customers, visitors, and other persons on-site follow source separation requirements related to solid 

waste as required by the authorized collector. Each owner, operator, or manager of a commercial 

business, except for multifamily dwellings, shall prohibit employees from placing materials in a container 

not designated for those materials, and shall periodically inspect containers for organic waste and 

inform employees of requirements to ensure such containers are only used for organic waste.  

B. Each owner, operator, or manager of a commercial business shall supply an adequate number, size, 

and location of collection containers with sufficient labels or colors designating the appropriate material 

for deposit in accordance with source separation requirements of the authorized collector for the 

employees, contractors, tenants, and customers of the commercial business. 

C. Each owner, operator, or manager of a commercial business shall annually provide information to 

employees, contractors, tenants, and customers about organic materials recovery requirements and 

about proper sorting of solid waste.  

D. Each owner, operator, or manager of a commercial business shall provide educational information 

within fourteen (14) days of occupation of the premises to any new tenants that describes requirements 

to keep source separated organic materials and source separated recyclable materials separate from 

garbage and the location of collection containers and the rules governing their use at each property.  

E. Each owner, operator, or manager of a commercial business shall cooperate with the authorized 

collector’s monitoring program for inspection of the contents of containers for prohibited container 

contaminants. 

9.B.1

Packet Pg. 142

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 C

h
ap

te
r 

8.
04

  (
M

an
d

at
o

ry
 O

rg
an

ic
s 

W
as

te
 D

is
p

o
sa

l R
ed

u
ct

io
n

 O
rd

in
an

ce
)



F. Each owner, operator, or manager of a commercial business, except for multifamily dwellings, shall 

provide containers meeting the requirements of 14 CCR section 18984.9 for the collection of source 

separated organic materials and source separated recyclable materials in all indoor and outdoor areas 

where garbage disposal containers are provided for customers, for materials generated onsite. Such 

containers do not need to be provided in restrooms. If a commercial generator does not generate any of 

the materials that would be collected in one type of collection container, then it is not required to 

provide that type of container in all areas where disposal collection containers are provided for 

customers.  

G. If a commercial generator self-hauls, the commercial generator shall meet the self-haul requirements 

in section 8.04.100.  

 

8.04.090  Waivers for Commercial Businesses. 

A. The City Manager may grant waivers to commercial business for physical space limitations and/or de 

minimis volumes. Commercial businesses seeking a waiver shall submit their request in a form specified 

by the City Manager. After reviewing the waiver request, and after an on-site review, if applicable, the 

City Manager may either approve or deny the following waiver requests. Anyone granted a waiver shall 

provide written verification of eligibility for a waiver at least every five years, and shall notify the City if 

circumstances change such that they are no longer eligible for such waiver, in which case waiver will be 

rescinded. 

B. De Minimis Waivers: The City Manager may waive obligations of a commercial business to comply 

with the collection service and source separation requirements of section 8.04.080 if the commercial 

business meets the following requirements: 

1. Submits an application specifying the type of waiver requested and provide documentation as 

described below.  

2. Provides documentation that either: 

i. The commercial business receives two or more cubic yards of weekly solid waste 

collection service and disposed organic materials subject to collection comprises less 

than 20 gallons per week of the business’ total weekly solid waste collection service 

volume; or  

ii. The commercial business receives less than two cubic yards of weekly solid waste 

collection service and disposed organic materials subject to collection comprises less 

than 10 gallons per week of the business’ total weekly solid waste collection service 

volume. 

3. For the purposes of subsections (i) and (ii) above, total weekly solid waste collection service 

shall be the sum of weekly garbage collection container volume, recyclable material collection 

container volume and organic materials collection container volume, measured in cubic yards. 

C. Physical Space Waivers: The City may waive a property owner’s obligations to comply with the 

collection service and source separation requirements of section 8.04.080 if presented evidence from its 

9.B.1

Packet Pg. 143

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 C

h
ap

te
r 

8.
04

  (
M

an
d

at
o

ry
 O

rg
an

ic
s 

W
as

te
 D

is
p

o
sa

l R
ed

u
ct

io
n

 O
rd

in
an

ce
)



own staff, authorized collector, licensed architect, or licensed engineer demonstrating that the premises 

lacks adequate space for the collection containers required for compliance with collection service 

requirements. A property owner may request a physical space waiver through the following process:  

1. Submit an application form specifying the type(s) of collection services for which they are 

requesting a waiver from mandatory collection service. 

2. Provide documentation that the premises lacks adequate space for the recyclable materials 

collection containers and/or organic materials collection containers including documentation 

from its authorized collector, licensed architect, or licensed engineer.  

8.04.100  Self-hauler requirements.  

A.  Any generator of solid waste may personally haul the same in a vehicle owned by, or in the lawful 

possession of, the generator of such solid waste, to a lawful disposal facility outside of the City limits, 

subject to the following requirements:   

1. Self-haulers, including back-haulers, must source separate and transport organic 
materials to a solid waste facility, operation, activity, or property that processes or 
recovers source separated organic materials.   

2. Self-haulers, including back-haulers, must source separate and transport recyclable 
materials to a solid waste facility, operation, activity, or property that processes or 
recovers those materials.   

3. Self-haulers may avoid the obligation to source separate all organic materials and 
recyclables only if they haul organic waste to a high diversion organic waste processing 
facility as specified in 14 CCR Section 18984.3. 

4. Self-haulers that are commercial businesses shall keep a record of the amount of 
organic materials delivered to each solid waste facility, operation, activity, or property 
that processes or recovers organic materials; this record shall be subject to inspection 
by the City. The records shall include the following information: 

i. Delivery receipts and weight tickets from the entity accepting the waste. If the 
material is transported to an entity that does not have scales on-site or employs 
scales incapable of weighing the self-hauler’s vehicle in a manner that allows it 
to determine the weight of materials received, the self-hauler is not required to 
record the weight of material but shall keep a record of the entities that 
received the organic materials. 

ii. The amount of material in cubic yards or tons transported by the generator to 
each entity.   

B. Self-haulers must complete and retain on-site a self-hauling form certifying that all self-hauling 

activities will be completed in accordance with this chapter or any other applicable law or regulation. A 

copy of such form shall be completed and remitted annually to the City Manager. 

C. This section is permissive and does not relieve any owner or occupants of property of the 

requirements of compliance with regular and routine disposal of all solid waste generated on the 

premises at least once per week as set forth in section 8.04.020. Nothing in this chapter shall prohibit 

any generator from regularly disposing of garbage, recyclable material, or organic materials at an 

appropriate disposal or recovery facility, by self-hauling in a manner conforming to this section.   

8.04.110  Franchised haulers and facility operators.   

9.B.1

Packet Pg. 144

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 C

h
ap

te
r 

8.
04

  (
M

an
d

at
o

ry
 O

rg
an

ic
s 

W
as

te
 D

is
p

o
sa

l R
ed

u
ct

io
n

 O
rd

in
an

ce
)



A. Any authorized collector providing residential, commercial, or industrial organic materials collection 

services to generators within the City’s boundaries shall: 

1. Provide written notice to the City annually on or before April 1 identify the facilities to which 

they will transport solid waste including facilities for source separated recyclable materials and 

source separated organic materials.  

2. Transport source separated recyclable materials and source separated organic materials to a 

facility, operation, activity, or property that recovers organic materials as defined in 14 CCR, 

Division 7, Chapter 12, Article 2.  

3. Obtain approval from the city to haul organic materials, unless it is transporting source 

separated organic materials to a community composting site or lawfully transporting 

construction and demolition debris in a manner that complies with 14 CCR Section 18989.1. 

4. Comply with other requirements contained within its franchise agreement. 

B. Owners of facilities, operations, and activities that recover organic waste, including, but not limited 

to, compost facilities, in-vessel digestion facilities, and publicly-owned treatment works shall, upon the 

city’s request, provide information within 60 days regarding available and potential new or expanded 

capacity at their facilities, operations, and activities, including information about throughput and 

permitted capacity necessary for planning purposes.  

C.  Any person owning, managing, or otherwise responsible for a parcel upon which there is a 

community composting operation, shall within 60 days of a request by the city, provide information to 

the city as may be deemed necessary by the city to support organic waste capacity planning, including, 

but not limited to, an estimate of the amount of organic waste anticipated to be handled at the 

community composting operation.  

8.04.120 Commercial edible food generator requirements. 

A. Tier one commercial edible food generators must comply with the requirements of this section 
January 1, 2022, and tier two commercial edible food generators must comply commencing 
January 1, 2024.  

B. Large venue or large event operators not providing food services, but allowing for food to be 
provided by others, shall require food facilities operating at the large venue or large event to 
comply with the requirements of this section, commencing January 1, 2024. 

C. Commercial edible food generators shall comply with the following requirements:  

1. Arrange to recover the maximum amount of edible food that would otherwise be 
disposed. 

2. Contract with or enter into a written agreement with food recovery organizations or 
food recovery services for: (a) the collection of edible food for food recovery; or (b) 
acceptance of the edible food that the commercial edible food generators self-hauls to 
the food recovery organization for food recovery.  

3. Shall not intentionally spoil edible food that is capable of being recovered by a food 
recovery organization or a food recovery service. 

9.B.1

Packet Pg. 145

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 C

h
ap

te
r 

8.
04

  (
M

an
d

at
o

ry
 O

rg
an

ic
s 

W
as

te
 D

is
p

o
sa

l R
ed

u
ct

io
n

 O
rd

in
an

ce
)



4. Allow the City’s enforcement officer to access the premises and review records required 
to be kept under 14 CCR Section 18991.4.  

5. Keep records that include the following information as specified in 14 CCR Section 
18991.4: 

a. A list of each food recovery service or organization that collects or receives its 
edible food pursuant to a contract or written agreement established under 14 
CCR Section 18991.3(b). 

b. A copy of all contracts or written agreements established under 14 CCR Section 
18991.3(b). 

c. A record of the following information for each of those food recovery services or 
food recovery organizations: 

i. The name, address and contact information of the food recovery service 
or food recovery organization. 

ii. The types of food that will be collected by or self-hauled to the food 
recovery service or food recovery organization. 

iii. The established frequency that food will be collected or self-hauled. 

iv. The quantity of food, measured in pounds recovered per month, 
collected or self-hauled to a food recovery service or food recovery 
organization for food recovery.   

D. Nothing in this Chapter shall be construed to limit or conflict with the protections provided by 
the California Good Samaritan Food Donation Act of 2017, the Federal Good Samaritan Act, or 
share table and school food donation guidance pursuant to Senate Bill 557 of 2017 (approved by 
the Governor of the State of California on September 25, 2017, which added Article 13 
[commencing with Section 49580] to Chapter 9 of Part 27 of Division 4 of Title 2 of the 
Education Code, and to amend Section 114079 of the Health and Safety Code, relating to food 
safety, as amended, supplemented, superseded and replaced from time to time). 

8.04.130  Food Recovery Organization and Food Recovery Services requirements. 

A. Food recovery services collecting or receiving edible food directly from commercial edible food 
generators shall maintain the following records, as required by 14 CCR Section 18991.5(a)(1): 

1. The name, address, and contact information for each commercial edible food generator 
from which the service collects edible food. 

2. The quantity in pounds of edible food collected from each commercial edible food 
generator per month. 

3. The quantity in pounds of edible food transported to each food recovery organization 
per month. 

4. The name, address, and contact information for each food recovery organization that 
the food recovery service transports edible food to for food recovery. 

B. Food recovery organizations collecting or receiving edible food directly from commercial edible 
food generators shall maintain the following records as required by 14 CCR Section 
18991.5(a)(2): 

9.B.1

Packet Pg. 146

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 C

h
ap

te
r 

8.
04

  (
M

an
d

at
o

ry
 O

rg
an

ic
s 

W
as

te
 D

is
p

o
sa

l R
ed

u
ct

io
n

 O
rd

in
an

ce
)



1. The name, address, and contact information for each commercial edible food generator 
from which the organization receives edible food. 

2. The quantity in pounds of edible food received from each commercial edible food 
generator per month. 

3. The name, address, and contact information for each food recovery service that the 
organization receives edible food from for food recovery. 

C. Food recovery organizations and food recovery services that have their primary address 
physically located in the City and contract with one or more commercial edible food generators 
pursuant to 14 CCR Section 18991.3(b) shall annually report to the city the total pounds of 
edible food recovered in the previous calendar year from tier one and tier two commercial 
edible food generators no later than April 1. 

In order to support edible food recovery capacity planning assessments or other studies, food 

recovery services and food recovery organizations operating in the city shall provide information 

and consultation to the city upon request, regarding existing or proposed food recovery capacity 

that could be accessed by the city and its commercial edible food generators. A food recovery 

service or food recovery organization contacted by the city shall respond to such request for 

information within 60 days unless a shorter timeframe is otherwise specified by the city. 

8.04.140  Enforcement and Penalties. 

A. Any enforcement officer as defined in section 4.02.021 shall have the duty and authority to enforce 

the provisions of this chapter.  

B. No person shall deny or obstruct the making of any inspection or collection or removal.  

C. Any person violating the provisions of this chapter shall be deemed to be guilty of an infraction.  Any 

violation of this chapter shall be public nuisance and may be punished or enforced in accordance with 

the provisions of chapter 4.16 and chapter 4.18 of this code. Three or more subsequent violations of this 

chapter by the same person or persons within a 12-month period may be charged and prosecuted as a 

misdemeanor. Any violation shall be subject to administrative citation and imposition of civil penalties 

under chapter 4.14 in the following amounts: 

1. A fine not exceeding one hundred dollars for a first violation; 

2. A fine not exceeding two hundred dollars for a second violation of the same provision of 

this code within any twelve consecutive month period; 

3. A fine not exceeding five hundred dollars for each additional violation of the same 
provision of this code within any twelve consecutive-month period.  

Section 2.  Environmental Review. The City Council finds the adoption of this ordinance is exempt under 
Section 15061(b)(3) of the CEQA Guidelines because it can be seen with certainty that there is no 
possibility that the adoption of this ordinance may have a significant effect on the environment. In the 
alternative, the City Council determines that the basic purpose of this ordinance is to strength 
requirements for the handling and disposal of solid waste generated within the City, and that the 
requirements in this ordinance to divert organic materials away from disposal into landfills that is likely 
to reduce the generation of short-term climate pollutants, and therefore the adoption of this ordinance 
is an action for the protection of the environment and natural resources, and is categorically exempt 

9.B.1

Packet Pg. 147

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 C

h
ap

te
r 

8.
04

  (
M

an
d

at
o

ry
 O

rg
an

ic
s 

W
as

te
 D

is
p

o
sa

l R
ed

u
ct

io
n

 O
rd

in
an

ce
)



pursuant to CEQA Guidelines section 15307 (actions by regulatory agencies for the protection of natural 
resources) and 15308 (actions by regulatory agencies for the protection of environment).  

Section 5.   Severability.  The City Council hereby declares that every section, paragraph, sentence, 
clause, and phrase of this ordinance is severable.  If any section, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase 
of this ordinance is for any reason found to be invalid or unconstitutional, such invalidity, or 
unconstitutionality shall not affect the validity or constitutionality of the remaining sections, paragraphs, 
sentences, clauses, or phrases. 

Section 6.  Effective Date.  This ordinance shall be in full force and effective 30 days after its 
adoption.   

Section 7.   Publication.  The City Clerk is directed to cause this ordinance or a summary thereof to 
be published in the manner required by law. 

This Ordinance was introduced at a regular meeting of the Capitola City Council on the 23rd day of 

November 2021, and was adopted at a regular meeting of the Capitola City Council on the ___ day of 

December 2021, by the following vote: 

AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

 

APPROVED: 

____________________________ 

ATTEST: 

______________________ 

Chloe Woodmansee, City Clerk 

  

9.B.1

Packet Pg. 148

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 C

h
ap

te
r 

8.
04

  (
M

an
d

at
o

ry
 O

rg
an

ic
s 

W
as

te
 D

is
p

o
sa

l R
ed

u
ct

io
n

 O
rd

in
an

ce
)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
AGENDA REPORT

MEETING OF NOVEMBER 23, 2021

FROM: Community Development

SUBJECT: New State of California Housing Legislation and Community Development 
Department Housing Workplan

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Accept staff presentation on recent housing legislation and the 
Community Development Department’s workplan. 

BACKGROUND: This fall, new State legislation to expand housing production passed. The new 
legislation is broad ranging with impacts to housing element updates, the subdivision map act, 
land use development, density bonus law, and more. Overall, the goal of the new legislation is 
to increase housing production with new opportunities related to permit streamlining, increased 
development potential, and long range planning.  

DISCUSSION: During the November 23, 2021, City Council meeting, the City’s legal team will 
provide an overview of the new state legislation related to housing. A summary of Senate Bills 
8, 9, and 10 and a summary of the 29 additional new housing legislation bills are included as 
attachments 1 and 2, respectively.  

Following the legislative update, the Community Development Director will present a workplan 
relative to the new laws for 2022 and 2023, including both action items and timelines.   

FISCAL IMPACT: No fiscal impact.

ATTACHMENTS:

1. Capitola SB 8 9 10 Legislative Summary
2. Capitola - 2021 Housing Legislation Summary

Report Prepared By:  Katie Herlihy
Community Development Director

Reviewed and Forwarded by:

9.C

Packet Pg. 149



 

 

 

1 California Street  -  Suite 3050 
San Francisco, California  94111-5432 
voice 415.655.8100 - fax 415.655.8099 
www.bwslaw.com 

Direct No.:  415.655.8113 

szutler@bwslaw.com 

Los Angeles – Inland Empire – Marin County –  Oakland – Orange County – Palm Desert – San Diego – San Francisco – Si l icon Valley – Ventura County  

 

M E M O R A N D U M 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Samantha W. Zutler, City Attorney 

cc: Jamie Goldstein, City Manager 
Katie Herilhy, Community Development Director 

DATE: September 22, 2021 

RE: Legislative Update (SB 8, 9, 10) 

 
 
Governor Newsom’s approval last week of SB 8, 9, and 10 greenlights continued efforts 
to streamline the housing development process and provide for additional housing, 
including affordable housing, in California.  
 

 
Senate Bill 8 

 
Bottom Line: SB 8 extends the sunset of, broadens the types of projects covered by, and 
clarifies portions of the Housing Crisis Act of 2019 (SB 330), making it easier for more 
housing projects to be approved more quickly in California.   
 
Analysis 
SB 8 extends the sunset of SB 330 from January 1, 2025 to January 1, 2030, in an effort 
to encourage the construction of more housing throughout California. Most significantly, 
the bill redefines “housing development project” to include single dwelling units and 
ministerial approvals, making these types of projects eligible for the hearing limitations, 
Permit Streamlining Act requirements, preliminary application process, and other 
protections adopted under SB 330 in 2019. 
 
The bill also gives developers of affordable housing projects more time to begin 
construction while still being able to rely on the ordinances, policies and standards that 
were in effect upon submission of the affordable housing project’s preliminary application. 
Previously, all housing development projects had a 2.5 year “statutory freeze” period from 
the time of final project approval to the start of construction. Now, until January 1, 2034, 
developers of affordable housing projects will have an additional year to start construction, 
for a total of 3.5 years from the date of final project approval, provided the preliminary 
application is submitted prior to January 1, 2030. All other housing development projects 
will still have the 2.5 year period in which to begin construction.  
 

9.C.1

Packet Pg. 150

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 S
B

 8
 9

 1
0 

L
eg

is
la

ti
ve

 S
u

m
m

ar
y 

 (
N

ew
 S

ta
te

 o
f 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 L
eg

is
la

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

H
o

u
si

n
g



 

Honorable Mayor and City Council 
Re: Legislative Update (SB 8, 9, 10) 
Page 2 

The bill also makes clarifying changes to the hearing requirements for housing 
development projects under the Permit Streamlining Act, and expands requirements for 
reductions in land use intensity that result in reduced opportunities for housing.   
 

SB 330 prohibited downzoning of residential areas unless other areas were concurrently 
upzoned to ensure no net loss of residential development capacity.  SB 8 redefines 
“concurrently” to mean no longer than within 180 days of the downzoning.  

 
SB 8 adds provisions to Government Code Section 66300 that prohibit demolition of 
multiple units that would be replaced with just a single residential unit. SB 8 also modifies 
tenant relocation assistance and right of first return provisions to be available only to lower 
income tenants, and SB 330’s requirement to replace protected units with affordable 
housing or rent controlled units would no longer apply to rent controlled units that are 
occupied by persons or families above lower income.  
 
Finally, SB 8 excludes development projects that consist of a single residential unit that is 
replacing a single protected unit that is being demolished, as well as units in a housing 
development where 100% of the units, aside from the manager’s unit(s), are reserved for 
lower income households, from right of first return requirements. 
 
Implications  
SB 8 primarily provides clarifying edits that may already consistent with the City’s 
interpretation and application of SB 330, although the City should make sure that its 
policies, particularly around unit replacement and tenant protections, are consistent with 
the latest revisions.  Since the bill primarily extends SB 330, we recommend that cities 
review their current approval timelines and procedures for affordable housing projects and 
ensure they are consistent with SB 330.  We also recommend that the City review and 
update its Permit Streamlining Act procedures to ensure that they include the expanded 
definition of housing development projects. 
 
 

Senate Bill 9 
 
Bottom Line:  SB 9, decried as the “end of single family zoning,” requires ministerial 
approval of 2 units per parcel in residential zones, and allows owners to subdivide existing 
single-family residential lots, resulting in the potential to build up to 4 units on existing 
single unit lots.  There are some exceptions to these requirements, but they are minor. 

 

Analysis 

SB 9 creates a framework similar to recent ADU legislation, in that it requires ministerial 
approval of applications for 2 to 4 units (with a qualifying lot split) for projects that meet 

9.C.1

Packet Pg. 151

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 S
B

 8
 9

 1
0 

L
eg

is
la

ti
ve

 S
u

m
m

ar
y 

 (
N

ew
 S

ta
te

 o
f 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 L
eg

is
la

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

H
o

u
si

n
g



 

Honorable Mayor and City Council 
Re: Legislative Update (SB 8, 9, 10) 
Page 3 

minimum criteria defined by the state or local standards that further facilitate housing 
approvals. 

 

Specifically, the City must approve an application to develop up to two units on nearly all 
lots in zones that are zoned for single-family housing (including via partial or full teardown 
of an existing unit), so long as: 1) the parcel is within an unincorporated urbanized area or 
in a city with an urbanized area1; 2) the parcel is not located on or within farmland, 
wetlands, very high fire hazard severity zones, hazardous waste sites, earthquake fault 
zones, special flood hazard areas, regulatory floodways, lands identified for conservation, 
habitats for protected species, government or historic properties, or where the owner 
withdrew accommodations for rent or lease in the last 15 years (prohibited sites); 3) the 
development does not require the demolition of affordable housing, rent controlled 
housing, or housing occupied by a tenant for the last 3 years; and 4) the development will 
not require the demolition of more than 25% of existing walls, unless allowed by ordinance 
or a tenant has not occupied the unit in the last 3 years. 

 

Local governments may impose local development standards, such as requiring setbacks 
of up to 4 feet from side and rear lot lines, but they cannot preclude developments of 2 
units per lot or require setbacks of an existing structure or a structure constructed in the 
same location and to the same dimensions as an existing structure. Only 1 parking space 
per unit may be required, unless the unit is within a half mile of public transit or within a 
block of a car share vehicle, in which case, no parking may be required. 

 
In addition, SB 9 requires ministerial approval of an application to split a lot in order to 
create not more than 2 new parcels.  The 2 new parcels must be of approximately equal 
size, and 1 parcel cannot be smaller than 40 percent of the lot area of the original parcel 
being subdivided; neither lot may be smaller than 1,200 square feet (subject to the local 
jurisdiction’s ability to adopt a smaller minimum lot size by ordinance), subject to similar 
provisions as noted above.  Also similar to the above, the agency may adopt objective 
standards applicable to SB 9 projects, but the standards cannot preclude the construction 
of 2 units on either parcel, result in a unit smaller than 800 square feet, or require setbacks 
of more than 4 feet from rear and side lot lines. 
 
An applicant may develop up to 4 units on a lot that has been split into two parcels.  An 
applicant must agree to occupy one of the housing units as their principal residence for at 
least 3 years from the date of approval of the lot split. 

                                            
1 As least 50,000 or more people in a particular area or cluster of census tracts as defined 
by the US Census Bureau. An Urban Cluster is comprised of between 2,500 and 50,000 
people. Each Census, the Bureau creates a list of Urbanized Areas, as well as Urban 
Clusters, which together constitute the two types of Urban Areas (>2,500 people). 
 

9.C.1

Packet Pg. 152

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 S
B

 8
 9

 1
0 

L
eg

is
la

ti
ve

 S
u

m
m

ar
y 

 (
N

ew
 S

ta
te

 o
f 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 L
eg

is
la

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

H
o

u
si

n
g



 

Honorable Mayor and City Council 
Re: Legislative Update (SB 8, 9, 10) 
Page 4 

 
Approvals of up to 2 units and lot splits are ministerial, meaning they are not subject to 
CEQA review.  Projects that would otherwise require a coastal development permit still 
do, but the City cannot require a public hearing for the permit.    
 
SB 9 does not require a local jurisdiction to amend its zoning ordinance to be consistent 
with the legislation, although the bill authorizes the local jurisdiction to adopt an ordinance 
to implement the law, and exempts the adoption of such an ordinance from the CEQA 
process. 
 
Whether the local jurisdiction amends its zoning code or not, SB 9 prohibits the denial of 
a project that conforms to the specified requirements in the bill and those allowed to be 
adopted by the local jurisdiction.    
 
Implications  

SB 9 allows modest-scaled multifamily development in areas that are exclusively zoned 
for single unit development, with only one unit more than is already allowed under ADU 
laws.  The lot split provisions would create a new opportunity for ownership development, 
while ADU laws and other streamlining bills focus on rental projects.  

 

Single unit zoning has an exclusionary history and has contributed to both California’s 
housing shortage and the inability of racial and ethnic minorities to secure housing in high 
opportunity areas.  SB 9 could help promote development at “missing middle” densities, 
and automatic upzoning could help comply with new Housing Element requirements 
applicable during the Sixth Cycle. 

 

 
Senate Bill 10 

 
Bottom Line:  SB 10 allows local jurisdictions to adopt an ordinance upzoning urbanized 
areas close to transit, allowing up to 10 units per parcel without CEQA review.  SB 10 
allows local governmental bodies to override, by a supermajority, zoning restrictions 
established by local initiative. 
 
Analysis 

Until January 1, 2029, SB 10 allows, but does not require, local jurisdictions to adopt an 
ordinance authorizing housing development projects of up to 10 residential units per parcel 
in transit-rich areas or urban infill sites, subject to limited exceptions. A “transit-rich area” 
is a parcel on a fixed-route bus line that meets service interval requirements, or within a 
half-mile of a major transit stop.  An “urban infill site” is a site that is partially or wholly 
located within an urbanized area, adjoins at least 75% of its perimeter with parcels 
developed with urban uses (including parcels separated by a street or highway), and is 

9.C.1

Packet Pg. 153

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 S
B

 8
 9

 1
0 

L
eg

is
la

ti
ve

 S
u

m
m

ar
y 

 (
N

ew
 S

ta
te

 o
f 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 L
eg

is
la

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

H
o

u
si

n
g



 

Honorable Mayor and City Council 
Re: Legislative Update (SB 8, 9, 10) 
Page 5 

zoned for residential or mixed-residential use or has a general plan designation allowing 
such use with at least two-thirds of the project’s square footage designated for residential 
use.  

 
Ordinances adopted pursuant to SB10 are exempt from CEQA.  However, subsequent 
projects that propose more than 10 units on a parcel upzoned under SB 10 are prohibited 
from ministerial or by right approval and are ineligible for any CEQA exemptions. 
 

If the zoning ordinance supersedes any zoning restriction established by local initiative, 
the ordinance requires a two-thirds vote of the members of the legislative body. SB 10 
prohibits rezoning certain open-space and park land designated by local initiative. 

 
SB 10 cannot be used to implement downzoning and, once parcels have been upzoned 
under SB 10, the local government is prohibited from later reducing the density of those 
parcels.  
 
Implications  

SB 10 is most useful in jurisdictions where there are voter-approved restrictions on zoning 
that the City Council would not otherwise be able to modify directly. 

 

The ability to adopt an upzoning ordinance that is exempt from CEQA has some value, 
especially to accelerate upzoning necessary to comply with RHNA obligations for 
moderate and above moderate housing.  However, this value is reduced by the fact that 
most subsequent projects would be subject to CEQA.  To streamline development, the 
City may be better served to adopt an upzoning ordinance outside of SB 10 and comply 
with CEQA, which would allow future zoning-compliant projects to qualify for CEQA 
exemptions as applicable 

9.C.1

Packet Pg. 154

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 S
B

 8
 9

 1
0 

L
eg

is
la

ti
ve

 S
u

m
m

ar
y 

 (
N

ew
 S

ta
te

 o
f 

C
al

if
o

rn
ia

 H
o

u
si

n
g

 L
eg

is
la

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

H
o

u
si

n
g



RIV #4854-2994-0480 v3  

2021 Housing Legislation Summary  
(action items noted in green) 

 

Bill Title Quick Summary Action Required? 

AB 68 California Statewide Housing 
Plan: annual reports. 

HCD must develop and publish on its website 
an annual report on land use oversight actions 
related to housing taken against local agencies. 

No. 

AB 215 Planning and Zoning Law: 
housing element: violations. 

Requires the local jurisdiction to make the first 
draft revision of a housing element available for 
public comment for at least 30 days and take at 
least 10 additional business days to incorporate 
comments. The subsequent draft must then be 
posted on the local jurisdiction’s website and to 
email a link to those who have requested 
notice. Expands the attorney general's authority 
to independently seek action and grants HCD 
the ability to hire or appoint other counsel if the 
attorney general does not pursue action against 
a local jurisdiction that has violated certain 
housing laws. 

Yes. You should review 
current noticing and 
posting procedures for first 
draft housing element 
revisions and adjust as 
necessary to meet these 
requirements.  

AB 345 Accessory dwelling units: 
separate conveyance. 

A local jurisdiction is no longer required to 
adopt an ordinance before allowing the 
conveyance of an ADU separately from a 
primary residence. A local jurisdiction must 
allow an ADU to be sold or conveyed 
separately from the primary residence to a 
qualified buyer (low- and moderate-income) 
and if certain conditions are met, including that 
the primary residence or ADU was built by a 
qualified nonprofit corporation and that the 
property is held pursuant to a recorded tenancy 
in common agreement. Beginning 1/1/22, the 

Yes. The City no longer 
needs to adopt an 
ordinance for the 
conveyance of an ADU 
separately from a primary 
residence, and must now 
allow for the conveyance 
by right if the provided 
conditions are met. 

9.C.2

Packet Pg. 155

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 -
 2

02
1 

H
o

u
si

n
g

 L
eg

is
la

ti
o

n
 S

u
m

m
ar

y 
 (

N
ew

 S
ta

te
 o

f 
C

al
if

o
rn

ia
 H

o
u

si
n

g
 L

eg
is

la
ti

o
n



RIV #4854-2994-0480 v3  

tenancy in common agreement must include a 
delineation of areas of the property that are for 
exclusive use of a cotenant, delineation of each 
cotenant's responsibility for taxes, insurance, 
utilities and repair, and procedures for dispute 
resolution. 

AB 447 Debt Limit Allocation 
Committee: income taxes: 
low-income housing tax 
credits. 

Establishes the provision of additional tax 
credits and debt limits for low income housing. 

No. 

AB 491 Housing: affordable and 
market rate units. 

Any residential structure with five or more 
residential dwelling units that include both 
affordable housing units and market-rate 
housing units must provide the same access to 
common entrances, areas and amenities for 
both types of units. The structure “shall not 
isolate the affordable housing units within that 
structure to a specific floor or an area on a 
specific floor.” 

Yes. Ensure, as part of the 
building review process, 
that structures provide 
equal access for both 
affordable housing and 
market-rate units. 

AB 571 Planning and zoning: density 
bonuses: affordable housing. 

Establishes that affordable housing impact 
fees, including inclusionary zoning fees and in-
lieu fees cannot be imposed on a housing 
development's affordable units. 

No. The City does not 
appear to currently charge 
inclusionary zoning or 
affordable housing impact 
fees. If the City were to 
begin charging these fees, 
then they could not be 
imposed on affordable 
units. 

9.C.2

Packet Pg. 156

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 -
 2

02
1 

H
o

u
si

n
g

 L
eg

is
la

ti
o

n
 S

u
m

m
ar

y 
 (

N
ew

 S
ta

te
 o

f 
C

al
if

o
rn

ia
 H

o
u

si
n

g
 L

eg
is

la
ti

o
n



RIV #4854-2994-0480 v3  

AB 602 Development fees: impact 
fee nexus study. 

Updates nexus study requirements. A local 
jurisdiction must identify an existing level of 
service for each public facility and information 
supporting any fee increase. Mitigation fees on 
a housing development must be proportional to 
the square footage of the development, unless 
another methodology can be justified with 
findings. Nexus studies must be adopted at a 
public hearing with at least 30 days' notice. 
Agencies must update nexus fee studies at 
least every eight years from the period 
beginning on Jan. 1, 2022. Agencies must also 
post the current impact fee schedule and 
update at least twice a year.  

Yes. The City will need to 
review and update as 
necessary the current 
housing development 
mitigation fees, and update 
its procedure for nexus 
study adoption accordingly. 

AB 634 Density Bonus Law: 
affordability restrictions. 

A local jurisdiction may require an affordability 
period of longer than 55 years for any units that 
qualified for a density bonus. 

No. 

AB 721 Covenants and restrictions: 
affordable housing. 

Makes any recorded CC&Rs that restrict the 
number, size or location of residences that may 
be built on a property, or that restrict the 
number of persons or families who may reside 
on a property, unenforceable against the owner 
of a 100% BMR housing development that is 
affordable to lower-income households.  

Yes. Monitor CC&R 
applications to ensure 
compliance. 

AB 787 Planning and zoning: 
housing element: converted 
affordable housing units. 

Allows the City to take RHNA credit on its 
Housing Element Annual Progress Report 
when deed restrictions are added to existing 
multifamily buildings to create new affordability 
covenants.  

No. Just updates 
calculation of RHNA 
numbers, incentivizes 
housing preservation and 
rehabilitation. 

9.C.2

Packet Pg. 157

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 -
 2

02
1 

H
o

u
si

n
g

 L
eg

is
la

ti
o

n
 S

u
m

m
ar

y 
 (

N
ew

 S
ta

te
 o

f 
C

al
if

o
rn

ia
 H

o
u

si
n

g
 L

eg
is

la
ti

o
n



RIV #4854-2994-0480 v3  

AB 838 Housing Law: enforcement 
response to complaints. 

Requires a local jurisdiction that receives a 
resident's complaint of a substandard building 
or a lead hazard violation to inspect the 
building, document the lead hazard violations 
and identify substandard conditions, as 
applicable. Requires the local jurisdiction to 
advise of each violation and action necessary 
to remedy the violation, and schedule re-
inspection to confirm correction. Requires the 
provision of free, certified copies of an 
inspection report and citations issued, if any, to 
the complaining resident. The local jurisdiction 
cannot collect a fee for this service unless the 
inspection reveals lead hazard violations or 
substandard conditions. (Goes into effect July 
1, 2022). 

Yes. Review and update as 
necessary current 
procedures for responding 
to resident complaints 
about substandard 
conditions. 

AB 948 Bureau of Real Estate 
Appraisers: disclosures: 
demographic information: 
reporting: continuing 
education. 

Implements additional requirements for real 
estate appraisers regarding disclosures as to 
demographic information and reporting. 

No. 

AB 1029 Housing elements: pro-
housing local policies. 

Permits HCD to add the preservation of 
affordable housing units to a list of pro-housing, 
local policies that allow cities and counties to 
qualify for extra points or preference when 
scoring program applications for certain state 
programs. 

No. 

AB 1043 Housing programs: rental 
housing developments: 
affordable rent. 

Adds a new subset of lower income households 
as "acutely low income" households, who earn 
15% of AMI and whose rents can be no greater 
than 30% of the 15% AMI level. 

No. 

9.C.2

Packet Pg. 158

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 -
 2

02
1 

H
o

u
si

n
g

 L
eg

is
la

ti
o

n
 S

u
m

m
ar

y 
 (

N
ew

 S
ta

te
 o

f 
C

al
if

o
rn

ia
 H

o
u

si
n

g
 L

eg
is

la
ti

o
n



RIV #4854-2994-0480 v3  

AB 1095 Affordable rental and owner-
occupied housing: equity in 
state and local programs. 

Revises laws governing the Affordable Housing 
and Sustainable Communities Program (AHSC) 
and the Strategic Growth Council (SGC) to 
specify that both programs aim to promote 
affordable rental units and owner-occupied 
units.  

No. 

AB 1297 California Infrastructure and 
Economic Development 
Bank: public and economic 
development facilities: 
housing. 

Amends the requirements for housing financed 
pursuant to the California Infrastructure and 
Economic Development Bank. 

No. 

AB 1304 Affirmatively further fair 
housing: housing element: 
inventory of land. 

Adds a new subset of "lower income 
households": "Acutely Low Income" 
households, who earn 15 percent of AMI and 
whose rents can be no greater than 30 percent 
of the 15 percent AMI level.  

No. 

AB 1398 Planning and zoning: 
housing element: rezoning of 
sites: pro-housing local 
policies. 

Accelerates the rezoning requirement to allow 
"by right" development of 20% BMR projects 
from 3 years to 1 year if a city fails to adopt a 
substantially compliant Housing Element within 
120 days of the statutory deadline, as 
determined by HCD. 

Yes. Ensure that you adopt 
an approved Housing 
Element within 120 days of 
the statutory deadline, or 
be prepared to identify 
rezoning areas. 

AB 1466 Real property: discriminatory 
restrictions. 

Identifies and removes historic documents that 
include unlawfully discriminatory covenants 
from public records.   

No. 

AB 1584 Housing Omnibus. Any CC&R that prohibits or restricts the 
construction or use of an ADU on a lot zoned 
for single-family use is unenforceable. 

No. 

SB 263 Real estate applicants and 
licensees: education 
requirements: fair housing 
and implicit bias training. 

Requires additional education for real estate 
professionals in the areas of fair housing and 
implicit bias. 

No. 

9.C.2

Packet Pg. 159

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 -
 2

02
1 

H
o

u
si

n
g

 L
eg

is
la

ti
o

n
 S

u
m

m
ar

y 
 (

N
ew

 S
ta

te
 o

f 
C

al
if

o
rn

ia
 H

o
u

si
n

g
 L

eg
is

la
ti

o
n



RIV #4854-2994-0480 v3  

SB 290 Density Bonus Law: 
qualifications for incentives 
or concessions: student 
housing for lower income 
students: moderate-income 
persons and families: local 
government constraints. 

Expands Density Bonus Law to provide 
additional benefits to projects that include 
student housing and would allow all ownership 
projects, not just common interest 
developments, to use Density Bonus Law.  

Yes. These are mainly 
clarifying edits that the City 
is already implementing. 
However, you should 
ensure that you allow 
moderate income projects 
near transit to qualify for 
reduced parking ratios of 
0.5 spaces per bedroom. 

SB 381 Surplus residential property: 
priorities, procedures, price, 
and fund: City of South 
Pasadena. 

Identifies procedures for the disposition of 
surplus property in South Pasadena. 

No. 

SB 478 Planning and Zoning Law: 
Minimum FAR/Lot Coverage 
Standards and Prohibition on 
CC&R Restrictions of FAR 
for Missing Middle 
Multifamily Housing. 

Prohibits agencies from imposing a FAR of less 
than 1.0 for a housing development project 
consisting of three to seven units and a FAR of 
less than 1.25 for housing development project 
consisting of eight to 10 units. 

Yes. Review current FAR 
standards for housing and 
adjust if necessary. 

SB 591 Senior citizens: 
intergenerational housing 
developments. 

Creates a policy that encourages 
intergenerational housing for senior citizens, 
caregivers, and transition age youth, and 
permits developers in receipt of local or state 
funds or tax credits designated for affordable 
rental housing to restrict occupancy to these 
same groups.  

No. 

SB 728 Density Bonus Law: 
purchase of density bonus 
units by nonprofit housing 
organizations. 

Expands Density Bonus Law to allow for the 
purchase of the density bonus unit by a 
qualified nonprofit organization receiving a 
property tax welfare exemption 

No. 

9.C.2

Packet Pg. 160

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 -
 2

02
1 

H
o

u
si

n
g

 L
eg

is
la

ti
o

n
 S

u
m

m
ar

y 
 (

N
ew

 S
ta

te
 o

f 
C

al
if

o
rn

ia
 H

o
u

si
n

g
 L

eg
is

la
ti

o
n



RIV #4854-2994-0480 v3  

SB 791 California Surplus Land Unit. Establishes within HCD the California Surplus 
Land Unit to provide technical assistance to 
local agencies and developers to "facilitate the 
development and construction of residential 
housing on local surplus land." 

No. 

AB 1174 Planning and zoning: 
Housing: development 
application modifications, 
approvals, and subsequent 
permits. 

The three-year time period during which an SB 
35 permit remains valid is paused when a 
project is sued and while modifications are 
considered. Subsequent permit applications 
must only meet the objective standards that 
were in place when the original development 
application was submitted. 

No. Already in effect since 
9/17/2021. 

 

9.C.2

Packet Pg. 161

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 -
 2

02
1 

H
o

u
si

n
g

 L
eg

is
la

ti
o

n
 S

u
m

m
ar

y 
 (

N
ew

 S
ta

te
 o

f 
C

al
if

o
rn

ia
 H

o
u

si
n

g
 L

eg
is

la
ti

o
n


	Agenda Packet
	CLOSED SESSION
	REGULAR MEETING OF THE CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
	1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
	A. Roll Call

	2. PRESENTATIONS
	A. CJC Report
	Printout: CJC Report
	a. CJC_FINAL_111821


	3. REPORT ON CLOSED SESSION
	4. ADDITIONAL MATERIALS
	5. ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS TO AGENDA
	6. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS
	7. STAFF / CITY COUNCIL COMMENTS
	8. CONSENT ITEMS
	A. Approve Council Minutes
	Printout: Approve Council Minutes
	1. 11-10-21 draft
	2. 11-18-21 special draft

	B. Approval of City Check Registers
	Printout: Approval of City Check Registers
	1. 10-15-21 Check Register
	2. 10-22-21 Check Register
	3. 10-29-21 Check Register
	4. 11-5-21 Check Register
	5. 11-12-21 Check Register

	C. Settlement Agreement
	Printout: Settlement Agreement

	D. Film Ordinance Adoption
	Printout: Film Ordinance Adoption

	E. Employee Agreements
	Printout: Employee Agreements
	1. ACE and City Side Letter Cashout 11-2021

	F. COVID-19 Emergency- Update 36
	Printout: COVID-19 Emergency- Update 36


	9. GENERAL GOVERNMENT / PUBLIC HEARINGS
	A. Draft Ordinance for Outdoor Dining and Design Permit
	Printout: Draft Ordinance for Outdoor Dining and Design Permit
	1. DRAFT ORDINANCE 1 Planning Commission Recommendation
	2. DRAFT ORDINANCE 2
	3. Outdoor Dining in Capitola Village Policy
	4. Capitola Street Frontage Dining Ordinance Noise Memo
	5. Letter from English Ales

	B. Mandatory Organics Waste Disposal Reduction Ordinance
	Printout: Mandatory Organics Waste Disposal Reduction Ordinance
	1. Capitola Ordinance Chapter 8.04

	C. New State of California Housing Legislation and Community Development Housing Workplan
	Printout: New State of California Housing Legislation and Community Development Housing Workplan
	1. Capitola SB 8 9 10 Legislative Summary
	2. Capitola - 2021 Housing Legislation Summary


	10. ADJOURNMENT

	Appendix
	2.A · CJC Report
	2.A.a · CJC_FINAL_111821

	8.A · Approve Council Minutes
	8.A.1 · 11-10-21 draft
	8.A.2 · 11-18-21 special draft

	8.B · Approval of City Check Registers
	8.B.1 · 10-15-21 Check Register
	8.B.2 · 10-22-21 Check Register
	8.B.3 · 10-29-21 Check Register
	8.B.4 · 11-5-21 Check Register
	8.B.5 · 11-12-21 Check Register

	8.C · Settlement Agreement
	8.D · Film Ordinance Adoption
	8.E · Employee Agreements
	8.E.1 · ACE and City Side Letter Cashout 11-2021

	8.F · COVID-19 Emergency- Update 36
	9.A · Draft Ordinance for Outdoor Dining and Design Permit
	9.A.1 · DRAFT ORDINANCE 1 Planning Commission Recommendation
	9.A.2 · DRAFT ORDINANCE 2
	9.A.3 · Outdoor Dining in Capitola Village Policy
	9.A.4 · Capitola Street Frontage Dining Ordinance Noise Memo
	9.A.5 · Letter from English Ales

	9.B · Mandatory Organics Waste Disposal Reduction Ordinance
	9.B.1 · Capitola Ordinance Chapter 8.04

	9.C · New State of California Housing Legislation and Community Development Housing Workplan
	9.C.1 · Capitola SB 8 9 10 Legislative Summary
	9.C.2 · Capitola - 2021 Housing Legislation Summary



